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Wednesday, July 15, 2020
--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, good morning, everybody.  I think we will get started.  It looks like everybody is here.  Thank you for starting early.

I am just going to take a few minutes with some introductory comments.  I think our court reporter is ready as well, so let's get started.
Preliminary Matters:


Good morning, everyone.  My name is James Sidlofsky.  I am counsel with the Ontario Energy Board in this matter.  We're here today for the virtual technical conference on Hydro Ottawa Limited's custom incentive rate-setting application under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, seeking approval for changes to the rates that Hydro Ottawa charges for electricity distribution, to be effective January 1st, 2021, and for each following year through to December 31st, 2025.

This technical conference is ordered by the Board through Procedural Order No. 3, dated June 22nd, 2020.  It is scheduled for today, tomorrow and, if necessary, Friday of this week, but I will say more about that.

As most of you will know, technical conferences don't take place in front of the panel of board members who are hearing the case, but they're transcribed, and the transcript forms part of the record in this proceeding.

This session is also being broadcast and will be on air throughout the conference except for breaks and those times, if any, where material that is the subject of Hydro Ottawa's confidentiality request and the Clearspring Energy Advisors and Pacific Economics Group material to which the OEB has already granted confidential status with Procedural Orders Nos. 1 and 4 is being discussed.

Material in respect of which Hydro Ottawa has requested confidential treatment and which is currently the subject of submissions on confidentiality will be maintained in confidence for the time being.  Intervenor representatives seeking access to confidential material are required to execute the OEB's form of confidentiality undertaking, in accordance with the Board's Practice Direction on confidential filings, and due to the online nature of this technical conference I am hoping that those of you who wanted access to that material have already delivered your confidentiality undertakings.

I would ask any intervenor representatives that intend to ask questions about the material in respect of which Hydro Ottawa has requested confidential treatment to group those questions in order to minimize the time that we have to close the proceeding.

If we have to go in camera, attendance would be restricted to those that have signed the confidentiality undertaking.

For the time being, a redacted version of the transcript will be placed on the public record, but the OEB's disposition of Hydro Ottawa's confidentiality request at a later date may affect the form of transcript that will be placed on the record.

The other procedural matter I would like to remind parties of is that this is a technical conference.  It is not intended to be cross-examination on the evidence, but rather clarification of the evidence that is in the interrogatory responses provided by Hydro Ottawa, Clearspring, and PEG.

As the OEB stated in Procedural Order No. 3, the scope of the technical conference will be limited to clarification of any matters arising from the interrogatories to Hydro Ottawa, as well as the interrogatories to PEG.

You will also see from Ms. Ing's e-mail a message to the parties Tuesday afternoon summarizing the parties' time estimates, that we now have roughly four days of questioning for a technical conference that is currently scheduled for three days.

Day 4 would be Tuesday, July 21st.  I would ask you to make your best efforts to keep to your estimated times and consider whether it will be possible to shorten those times where other parties may have covered areas in which you had similar questions.

Finally, before we go into appearances, just a few reminders about technical matters, given that this is a virtual setting.

First, I would ask intervenors who are not asking questions to mute their audio and turn off their cameras when witnesses are being questioned by someone else.  Second, while there is a chat function available on the Zoom platform, nothing in the chat platform will be recorded or appear on the transcript, so that you can send messages to each other or to the group, but they will not be transcribed.

Third -- and I believe everyone may have done this already -- we ask that everyone ensure that the name that they have associated with their picture right now is their full name so that the court reporter can accurately record what is said.

Finally, for this virtual session, we ask that you repeat your name and whom you represent.  That will assist the court reporter in transcribing the matter.  This is particularly important if you are stepping in to ask a follow-up question.

We're planning for two 10-minute breaks in each of the morning and afternoon, and a 45-minute lunch break will be scheduled at approximately 12:25 p.m.  I will ask the people questioning the witness panels to consider appropriate times for breaks during their questioning, but at this point today's morning breaks are planned for -- are planned for 10:20 and 11:15 a.m., and the afternoon breaks are planned for 2:15 and 3:50.  We hope to continue until 4:30 today.  Lunch will be around 12:25.

Parties have provided to OEB Staff estimates of the time they think they need to complete their questions, and Ms. Ing has circulated the latest schedule late yesterday afternoon.  And we intend to follow that schedule with regard to the order of questioning.

On that note, I will introduce the members of OEB Staff who are here with me this morning, and I will then move on to appearances.

With me are Jane Scott, manager of major rate applications, and project advisors Shuo Zhang, Maggie Zhu, and Keith Ritchie.  Ms. Zhang, Ms. Zhu, and Mr. Ritchie will be asking questions of Hydro Ottawa's first witness panel.  Also with me today from OEB Staff are Lillian Ing, the hearing advisor on this file, and Michael Disonglo from our IT group, who will be assisting should we have any technical issues that arise today.

We will introduce other Board Staff members and consultants as they attend from other Hydro Ottawa panels.

If I could have other appearances in the order set out in the technical-conference schedule, that would be great.  Thank you.  I think we will start with Pollution Probe.
Appearances:


MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, Mike Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  CCC?

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan on behalf of CCC.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Julie.  Energy Probe?

MR. LADANYI:  Tom Ladanyi on behalf of Energy Probe.

DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Roger.  Schools?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein on behalf of School Energy Coalition.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Michael, could you -- sorry, Mark, could you repeat that, please?  You were just pretty faint there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  Yeah, that was a little faint.  I know you are not up for a while, Mark, so if you could check on that, that would be helpful.  BOMA?

MR. ENGEL:  Albert Engel on behalf of BOMA.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Albert.  VECC?

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner on behalf of VECC, and I believe my colleague, Bill Harper, is on the line with us.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  DRC?

MS. DeMARCO:  It is Lisa DeMarco on behalf of the Distributed Resource Coalition.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Environmental Defence?

MR. ELSON:  Kent Elson on behalf of Environmental Defence.  Good morning, everyone.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Is there anyone I missed in terms of intervenor representatives?

Not hearing any names, I will apologize to my own colleagues.  I missed Andrew Frank, who will also be questioning witness panel 1.  Sorry about that, Andrew.

And if there are no preliminary matters -- Mr. Cass, are you aware of any?

MR. CASS:  No, I am not, Jamie.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And --


MR. GARNER:  Jamie, Mark Garner for VECC.  I just have one, and I am not sure when I should raise it, but maybe I will just raise it right now.  Just one quick thing, maybe for Lillian also.

Bill Harper has been talking with Ottawa, and we have been able to, as I understand it, put a number of our questions in writing form and provide those to Ottawa, who I believe have undertaken to do their best efforts to answer those offline.  And in doing so, just, we believe we can cut down our estimate for panel 3 in half.  I think we had 100 minutes.  I think we will probably be no more than 45 or 40 minutes.  Maybe not even that.  So I would just like to pass that on as we start.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's great.  Thank you, Mark.

So with no other preliminary matters, Mr. Cass, perhaps you could introduce your first witness panel, and then after that we will be moving on to questions from OEB Staff, and that will be Ms. Zhang who will be starting with questions.

Thanks, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Jamie.  Yes, I think everyone is aware of the witnesses who are on the first panel.  For the record, though, I will start by identifying them.  The first panel of witnesses is comprised of Angela Collier, manager finance; Greg Van Dusen, manager, regulatory affairs; Mike Grue, treasurer; Neal Tejwani, manager, corporate financing; and April Barrie, manager rates and revenue.

We're all in a room together here, appropriately distanced, except for April.  I think you heard -- all heard from the practice session that April is remote from the rest of us.  And we are ready to go.  Thank you.
HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED – PANEL 1

Gregory Van Dusen
Angela Collier
Mike Grue
Neal Tejwani
April Barrie

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Fred.  And, Ms. Zhu, I think you are starting -- sorry, Ms. Zhu, you are starting.
Examination by Ms. Zhang:


MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Shuo Zhang, and I am the case manager.  I have two topic areas I would like to discuss with you this morning.  They are OM&A, including compensation, and the renewal program.

I will start with OEB 140.  Natasha, can you please pull it up?  It is OEB 140, page 2 of 3.  Thank you.

You can stay there.  So in responses to part B of this IR, it was mentioned that there were two rounds of reductions to the initial OM&A level after the review of the executive team management team.

So regarding the first round of reduction in the total of 21.6 million, can you explain what specific budget assumptions were refined after the review?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  My apologies.  It's Greg Van Dusen, director of regulatory affairs at Hydro Ottawa.

Just before we proceed with the direct answer to your question, Ms. Zhang, Hydro Ottawa undertakes a very thorough business planning process.  That process started in January of 2019.  The process involves a top-down and bottom-up evaluation of the needs of the company.

It undergoes several rounds of review through the senior management teams at Hydro Ottawa.

In the reviews, in terms of coming up with the final levels that are eventually proposed in this rate application, considerations of customer impacts, consideration of resourcing, consideration of the necessary work that needs to be undertaken to ensure the stability and reliability of the system are all the types of considerations that are taken in account during the entire process.

At this point, in terms of the specific reductions that were talked about in the first round, I will ask my colleague Ms. Collier to respond.

MS. COLLIER:  Angela Collier, director of finance.  So with respect to OEB 140, one of the largest reductions that happened from the first round of budgeting to the final had actually to do with the SLA reclassification, which Ms. Barrie can speak to following an OEB guideline, where we reclassified costs from OM&A to other revenue to net against that other revenue.

So that was in the ballpark of 3.5 to 4 million per year.  So that is the biggest component of the 21.6 million.

After that, there is a number of puts and takes as the budget is refined in any given year.  Some pluses, some minuses as we go through and do detailed reviews at the director and executive level.

MS. ZHANG:  So does that assumption or adjustment have anything to do with the inflation factor?

MS. COLLIER:  There were, I believe, some reductions of some inflationarY-factors in that amount, yes.

MS. ZHANG:  Would you say that is a big driver, or that's a secondary one after the reclassification factor you mentioned?

MS. COLLIER:  Well, after the reclassification, you know, the delta is much smaller.

I don't know the exact -- the exact amount of the inflationary redaction that we made.  So I would say it is one of the drivers.  I don't know if it is the second-largest.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay, that is enough, that is helpful.  Thank you.

So regarding the second round of reductions in your total of 13.1 million, it was noted that reduction was undertaken by meeting the total OM&A levels with an escalator of 2.51 percent, which is a proposed custom price escalation factor.

So this CPEF factor applies to 2022 to 2025 total OM&A Levels, not including 2021.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.  The custom price escalation factor applies to our forecast level of 2021 OM&A, and adjusts the levels of OM&A going forward, 2022 through 2025.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.  So does this mean that there was no change to 2021 OM&A in the second round of reductions?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The second round of reduction just refers to the application of the custom factor to our forecast 2021 level.

However, in the first round of OM&A examination, first ground of OM&A reductions, there were reductions to the 2020 level -- 21 level versus what had been submitted originally from the business units.

MS. ZHANG:  Understood.  I was specifically asking the second round regarding 2021. So can I take that as no?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That is correct.  We did not make any adjustments in the second round to the 2021 levels of OM&A.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.  So my next question is a general one.  Subject to check my number, I note that the 2019 actual OM&A was about 4.4 million lower than the original forecast.

So can you confirm that Hydro Ottawa does not propose any updates to the 2021 OM&A in light of the actual 2019 spending?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  At this point, we don't intend to update our 2021 as a result of the 2019 actual results.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.  Can you explain a bit more why?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  This is Angela Collier, director of finance.  The 2019 actual results were significantly lower than forecast for a number of reasons.

One, we had the lowest overtime probably in the last four years.  We were very lucky on emergency response work and storm work in 2019.

We also had a high vacancy rate from retirement turnovers, which led to that.  We also had other elements.  We had a WSIB surcharge rebate.  We had a surcharge charge in 2018, and then a rebate in 2019.

Our vegetation management program also was quite low, due to delays in contract renewal.  Property tax; our new building was a partial year.  So there is a number -- a number of elements that led to 2019 being low.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you, that is helpful.  Now, can you, Natasha, can you please pull up OEB 47?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, Mark Rubenstein, School Energy Coalition.  Just to follow up with respect to your response.

I believe it was said that the largest -- so, first quickly, the $201.6 million first round reduction and the $13.1 million, that is over the five years, correct?

MS. COLLIER:  Angela Collier, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understood, you said the biggest difference was a 3.5 to $4 million reclassification of certain amounts that were in OM&A through essentially a -- moved into the other revenue, correct?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that similarly over thefive5 years, or is that on a single-year basis?

MS. COLLIER:  The 3.5 to the four million number is a single year basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So would I be correct, then, you would multiply that by five roughly to get a sense of what the difference is over the -- so you have an apples-to-apples comparison with the 21.6?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  Yes, that's what you would do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And so -- but that is not -- it's a reduction in OM&A.  But in offsetting I would say -- well, increase in other -- well --


MS. COLLIER:  Decrease --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- similar decrease in the revenue.  But the money is still being collected, it is just in a different pool.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  It is a reclassification.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what actual reduction, in terms of -- putting aside a classification issue, because ultimately customers are paying, it doesn't matter which bucket -- what was the total from the initial OM&A presentation to the final amounts in the number?  How much was actually reduced in terms of Hydro Ottawa through rates will receive less?

MS. COLLIER:  So just, I would take you back to, in the first round of putting together the OM&A budget -- and this goes back to the budgetary memorandum that was issued by our chief financial officer -- many of the reductions were already built in, and a lot of those -- I believe the OEB Staff was going there with OEB 47 -- many of those reductions, if I look at things like e-billing and the online billing announcements or reduction in our dark fibre lease or reduction in our call centre contract or reductions in our new vegetation management -- those were alreadY-factored into the first round that was presented to our executive management team.

So this second layer is just kind of a further refinement, a further review.  So there were actually some pluses and minuses, you know, that went on in that exchange.  But the majority of the reductions were already in the first round.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  So can we go to OEB 47.  Sorry.  47.  It should be in part 1 of 2.  Thank you.  Yes.  Can you go to table A, on the next page?  Thanks.

So in this IR you were asked to provide a table that summarizes actual and forecast productivity savings.

Can you explain how the productivity savings were calculated?

MS. COLLIER:  It depends on which line item we're referring to.

MS. ZHANG:  You can take the first online billing enhancement as an example.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.  So online billing, what we do is we take the number of customers that have signed up for online billing.  We calculate how much it costs to produce an online bill versus the amount it costs to produce a paper bill, which includes bill printing costs, postage costs, and those are multiplied together to come up with an annual figure.

MS. ZHANG:  So do these savings represent the difference between budgeted amount and the actual spending?

MS. COLLIER:  Not necessarily, because we -- for example, in our 2021 budget we have assumed a certain level of e-billing penetration.  So the amount that we budget for billing production assumes that ratio of paper to e-billing base.  So it is already -- so that number is already reduced in the 2021 budget.  So these are avoided costs over all of those years.

I would have to go back and look -- like, I can't remember exactly the e-billing penetration number that we had in 2016.  That might be a question for one of our members of panel 2.  But we've certainly, you know, increased that penetration over the course of that five-year plan.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  Essentially, I am asking --


MS. GIRVAN:  It's Julie.  I'm sorry, could I just ask a follow-up on that?

MS. ZHANG:  Sure.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, just, so you've got 2.1 million in annual savings for e-billing for 2020.  What do you
have -- what was your assumption for e-billing for 2021?  And if you could provide that number, including how you derive that number, that would be helpful.

MS. COLLIER:  Sure.  I think if I could direct that maybe to panel 2.  We have our director of customer service on panel 2.

I can tell you that we're currently at a 50 percent e-billing penetration, which is probably the largest in Ontario.

So we've gained a lot of headway with the last five years of our plan.  Penetration, though, now is much -- it is much harder to penetrate further.  So we are forecasting to be hopefully at approximately 63 percent by 2025, but the exact percentage and calculation for 2021, I will direct that to panel 2.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  I still have questions regarding the historical savings.  I would like to make sure I understand this table correctly.

So if -- on an annual basis if we're looking at the first line, so for example, it shows that for this initiative for 2016 year is 1.4 million savings.  And it still shows 1.4 million for 2017.

So does that mean there is an additional 1.4 million persisting in 2017?  Or on an annual basis it is 1.4 million for each year?  I am asking rather how they are incremental savings.

MS. COLLIER:  They're not.  They're an annual amount each year.  We produce bills monthly.  So each year these are avoided costs from having to produce paper bills.

The fact that 1.4 is the same number in '17 as 2016 does not also necessarily mean that our e-billing penetration remained flat, because 2017 would have had higher postage rate costs.  So there was likely some growth in the e-billing penetration between those years.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  I understand there could be different reasons for the savings, but is there any way I can tell what's a potential incremental savings can be carried forward to the next five-year period?

MS. COLLIER:  So similar to the question earlier, in the 2021 budget we've taken a reduction of just over 2.1 million in that year and, as I said, we're hoping -- we're currently at a 50 percent e-billing penetration.  We're hoping to be at around 63 percent by 2025.

So that 2.1 million is an annual amount of savings from not having to pay for postage or bill printing costs or envelope costs, and it will grow slightly over that '21 to 2025 period.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  When you say online billing enhancement as an example, and you stated just now it is an annual amount, can you confirm this applies to all the rest of the initiatives?  What is summarized in this table are not incremental savings?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  I am looking at the list now.  And I believe they're all the annual amounts.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.  So other than data centre intelligent migration, which I believe is a capital initiative, can you confirm how other initiatives summarized in Table A are estimated OM&A savings?

MS. COLLIER:  Sorry, I am not sure I understand your question.

MS. ZHANG:  Actually, I got that from responses from the previous page, I believe.  Natasha, can we go to the previous page?  Yes, here, responses to part (a).  It was mentioned that amounts are estimated OM&A savings with the exception of the data centre intelligent migration, which was a capital savings.

So I am asking you to confirm are the rest initiatives summarized in the table are OM&A savings?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  I can confirm that the statement on page 1 is correct.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay, thank you.  So my last question to this IR.  So is there any way the OEB can tell whether or not the proposed 2021 OM&A has reflected this ongoing savings?

MS. COLLIER:  Just give me a second?

MS. ZHANG:  Yes.

MS. COLLIER:  So I believe the best way to tell is through Exhibit 414, which is the cost driver exhibit and the explanation of the variances in those exhibits.

I think it will be quite evident throughout a number of those discussions where we're dealing with the e-billing or the vegetation management program, that we have factored that in to our 2021 budget.

MS. ZHANG:  Sorry, when you say the variance, you mean the variance between actual and the forecast amount for the 2016-2020 period?

MS. COLLIER:  No.  So Exhibit 414 shows many years, right.  2016 to 2021 test year.

MS. ZHANG:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. COLLIER:  But in the discussion and variances that's attached throughout that exhibit and all of the different sections, you will see many of these same productivity initiatives mentioned throughout.

MS. ZHANG:  You mean the OM&A cost drivers?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MS. ZHANG:  My understanding is the cost driver will tell me what is a key driver of the OM&A increase from 2016 actual to the 2021 level, how I can tell from the cost driver that you have reflected these ongoing savings to the next 5-year period?

MS. COLLIER:  So if I go back to Exhibit 414, it is as you described.  It talks about the cost drivers.  But throughout those discussions, you know -- right now I am on page 19 of 54, it talks about a reduction of call volume and a reduction of our call centre contract as a result of renegotiation.

So those are all embedded throughout that exhibit.  Many of these items that are listed on this OEB 47 are embedded throughout that discussion and reflected in the 2021 budget numbers.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  I will move on to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, it is Mark Rubenstein, School Energy Coalition.  Can I ask Hydro One, because I was going to ask a similar -- I had similar concerns.

Could I ask you to provide a revised version much table A in OEB Staff 47 that includes an additional column that shows 2021?

MS. COLLIER:  It is Hydro Ottawa, but --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.

MS. COLLIER:  We can undertake to do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would add just one other additional part then.  Insofar as it is for capital, you have capital productivity that is -- I know there is that one item.  Ideally, the chart would show 2021-2025 and for the capital related items, you would have 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025.

MS. COLLIER:  I would have to direct the productivity initiatives related to the capital items to panel 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can I just ask you to provide the undertaking and ultimately you will have, internally how you determine -- I mean if there is nothing to put in the table after consultation with them, then that's fine.

But ideally, there is essentially -- you have historic productivity, essentially, historic and rate year productivity in this table.

Ultimately, parties want to see the forecast amounts and for capital, that obviously goes past 2022-2025 based on the rate-setting framework is...


MR. CASS:  I was just going to check.  I want to be sure, because Angela was talking about directing that to panel 2.  I wanted to be sure we're comfortable giving an undertaking on something that she has directed to the other panel.

MS. COLLIER:  Thanks, Mr. Cass.  I don't know that I am comfortable.  So I would like to direct that undertaking to panel 2, if we could.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, which part?

MS. COLLIER:  The capital-related productivity table.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  We will make sure that panel 2 is aware of it and as soon as they're ready to give their evidence, they can address it with you, Mark.  We will bring it to their attention, the second part of what you asked for.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thanks.

MS. COLLIER:  So do we receive an undertaking number?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, you haven't yet.  I am just popping back in here.  That will be undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED VERSION OF TABLE A IN OEB.STAFF.47 SHOWING 2021 AMOUNTS, AND TO INCLUDE CAPITAL-RELATED ITEMS FOR 2022-2025


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to be clear, insofar as there are additional OM&A productivity items that only appear in 2021, those should also be included in the table.  It is not just a continuation of these amounts.

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.  And one that will appear then in that table will be the 1-million-dollar reduction in our dark fibre costs, which is not currently in OEB 47, because that's in our future period, for sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

MS. ZHANG:  So can we go to Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 5, attachment A, page 7, please?  I have a couple of questions regarding the forecast benefits.

Can we go to line 22, yes, right here.

So it was stated that:
"For 2020 onwards, Hydro Ottawa has forecasted increases in benefit costs by using the 2019 benefit costs as a base, and applying assumptions regarding anticipated rate increases by benefit."

Then it was stated that the assumptions were based on Mercer report and the current collective agreement.

Can you specify the assumptions used to forecast the benefits?

MS. COLLIER:  This is Angela Collier, director of finance again.  Are there particular assumptions that you are interested in?

MS. ZHANG:  I assume it will be like an inflation factor or escalator factor you used.

MS. COLLIER:  So we use a variety of things.  So for increases in OMERS rates, we use information from -- directly from OMERS and that is talked about on page 6 of this evidence.

For things like CPP we use CRA's announcement. For items like EI, which actually remains flat according to the government forecast for items like health, dental, LTD.  That is what we're using the Mercer report for.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  So subject to check my number, I note that the actual total benefits in 2019 were about 1.2 million lower than the original forecast.

So if 2019 was used as the base line, back to my question earlier, why did the lower actual spending in 2019 have no impact to the 2021 forecast?

MS. COLLIER:  So with respect to compensation and then the resulting compensation-related benefits for 2019, one of the key drivers for 2019 being lower on the compensation side is reduced overtime, but also higher vacancy rates.  So we were much slower filling retirement turnovers and vacancy rates in 2019, and we're not forecasting that to continue into 2021.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay, thank you.  So regarding the forecast FTEs, can you confirm that the 2021 budget includes 1.7 FTEs for CDM?

MS. COLLIER:  I can confirm that.

MS. ZHANG:  Can you confirm previously these positions were founded by the provincial conservation framework for now our rate-funded position?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  This is Greg Van Dusen, director of regulatory affairs.  Yes, I can confirm that.

MS. ZHANG:  So these are existing CDM staff, not new ones.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. ZHANG:  Can you remind me the budget included in revenue requirement for this position?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  One second, please.

MS. ZHANG:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't seem to be able to put that to my hand on that quickly.  I can undertake to get that number for you.

MS. COLLIER:  Well, maybe -- sorry, it's Angela Collier here.  Maybe I can step in.  Natasha, I believe it is in Exhibit 4-1-6, section 6.  So maybe you could pull that up.  Is this what you were looking for?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It doesn't have the number, but, yes.

MS. ZHANG:  I am asking about the number, yes.  The budgeted number, including the revenue requirement.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.  I don't have the revenue requirement.  I probably only have the OM&A number, so, okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  So as you can see, as Ms. Collier correctly took you to, section 6 in Exhibit 4-1-6, it talks about, it is proposing an employee complement of four full-time equivalents, along with resourcing envelope to enable marketing and associated activities, so there is a cost associated with that and a revenue-requirement impact, and we would be able to provide that in an undertaking, yes.

MS. ZHANG:  Yes.  Can you specify how much OM&A included in the total revenue requirement?  Like, a total revenue-requirement budgeting number and part of that is OM&A.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.  Understood.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.

MS. COLLIER:  Just one clarification I would like to add.  The full four-time equivalents versus your question about the 1.7 full-time equivalent in 2021 is because of timing of conclusion of the program, and so in 2021 it is only a five-month -- five-month -- five of the 12 months for these four individuals, which equates to the 1.7.

MS. ZHANG:  Understood.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE A BUDGETED NUMBER FOR CDM FTES INCLUDED IN THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT, SPECIFYING HOW MUCH OM&A IS INCLUDED IN THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT.

MS. ZHANG:  Sorry, my next question might require an undertaking.  Can you provide a historical and forecast compensation related to overtime?

MS. COLLIER:  I believe we have already responded to that in an undertaking.  Just let me find it.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  I believe it was interrogatory EP.RF.101.  We have provided the overtime cost in the 2K format for 2016 to 2021.

MS. ZHANG:  So if it is in 2K format, I assume it has no breakdowns for management/non-management, union and non-union?

MS. COLLIER:  It has those four breakdowns.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay, great.  That is exactly what I'm looking for.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay, so I will direct you there.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.

MS. COLLIER:  Did you want Natasha to pull it up on the screen?

MS. ZHANG:  I think that's fine.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

MS. ZHANG:  Yes.  Now, can we go to OEB 49, attachment A, page 2 of 23.  I have a couple of questions regarding the executive compensation benchmarking study.

So I wonder what were the compensation results from the first benchmarking study conducted in 2011, maybe by way of an undertaking can provide the 2011 report?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes, I do not know the results of
that -- of that study.  So I think, subject to the confidentiality that we had here, we can undertake to provide that if it's relevant.  Many of those same executives -- a number of those same executives -- that is almost 10 years old -- would be retired now.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  SUBJECT TO CONFIDENTIALITY, TO FILE THE 2011 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION BENCHMARKING STUDY.

MS. ZHANG:  So I assume when I have the report I can tell what Hydro Ottawa's revenue position among the comparative groups back in 2011?

MS. COLLIER:  I cannot speak to that study at all.  I don't know if it was done in the same manner or not.

MS. ZHANG:  That's fine.  Okay.

Now, I will move on to questions regarding the facilities renewable program now.  I would like to take you to OEB 115.  Table A.  Page 4, Table A, please.

So Table A provided a comparison of the actual cost for the new facilities with original costs proposed in 2015 application.

Can you clarify whether the original budget includes any cost estimate for furniture, development fees, and professional fees?

MS. COLLIER:  I can confirm that the original cost estimate included professional fees and furniture.  However, development costs did come later.  So that that was one of the reasons for the overrun.

MS. ZHANG:  Then can you specify the cost estimate for furniture and professional fees included in the original budget?

MS. COLLIER:  The original budget in the 2015-04 -- 004 application was a high-level parametric estimate.  So I don't have a breakdown for furniture.

MS. ZHANG:  But you know it was included?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MS. ZHANG:  Is that contingency, probably?

MS. COLLIER:  I believe it was part of a cost per square foot.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay, okay.  Do you know what the actual spending of furniture, development fees, and professional fees?

MS. COLLIER:  I don't off the top of my head, but, yes.

MS. ZHANG:  Can you maybe undertake that?

MS. COLLIER:  We could undertake to provide that for the actuals, yes.

MS. ZHANG:  So you have that breakdown by item?

MS. COLLIER:  For actuals, yes.

MS. ZHANG:  Yes, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  JT1.4.


UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO PROVIDE ACTUAL SPENDING FOR FURNITURE, DEVELOPMENT FEES, PROFESSIONAL FEES


MS. COLLIER:  Just to clarify, furniture, development fees, and professional fees.  Correct?

MS. ZHANG:  That's right.  Thank you.  So was the original cost estimate of 92 million based on a high-level class D cost estimate?

MS. COLLIER:  It was not a class D estimate in the sense of Canadian Institute of Quantity Surveyors' definition of class D estimate, like our class C and class B.  It was more of a parametric type estimate on here's how much it would cost to build these buildings of this size from our external project manager.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  Now, can we go to part (c) of this IR, and maybe look at table C.  Yes, right here.  Sorry.  Not this one.  Keep going.  Oh, I'm sorry.  It is OEB 117, part (c).

So in this table, I asked for a breakdown of size based on class B, and based on class D, class C and class B estimates.

Class B and C were provided, but not class D.  I guess the reason was what you just described; the class D was not essentially a class D is a high-level estimate with no breakdowns, is that right?

MS. COLLIER:  Exactly.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  So does that mean that the class D estimate was developed without identifying preliminary   spatial needs?

MS. COLLIER:  I think the program at that time was -- was high level, so certainly had not yet gone to the work groups to identify all of the spatial needs.  It had some of that information, but it was more high level.

MS. ZHANG:  So does that mean you have an envelope base needs in square feet at that time?

MS. COLLIER:  Sorry, I think someone else cut in.  Can you just repeat your question?

MS. ZHANG:  Yes.  So I assume you developed that estimate based on the high-level envelope total square feet needs at that time?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MS. ZHANG:  So does that mean -- like were there any conceptual drawings at all at that time?

MS. COLLIER:  Just a second.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Roger, can you go on mute, please?

MS. COLLIER:  I believe there were some high-level sketches done at that time.

MS. ZHANG:  Is that part of the evidence?

MS. COLLIER:  I think it may have been filed as part of an interrogatory to the last proceeding.

MS. ZHANG:  Can you confirm that?  If not right now, you can confirm after the break.  That works, too.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.  So I know that the budget for new facilities were capped at $96.5 million in late 2015, early 2016.  Can you confirm that?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  Our executive and board committee confirmed that cap in February of 2016.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.  Can you confirm the decision was made after the OEB's approval of a $66 million prorational funding?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes, because I believe the 66 million decision was in December of 2015.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.  So given that the OEB's decision was the funding of 66 million, did Hydro Ottawa try to change the design of the building in order to bring the budget as close to the approved amount as possible?

MS. COLLIER:  So the $66 million was approved provisional funding that allowed Hydro Ottawa to proceed with our RFP.

Hydro Ottawa was not attempting to reduce the building to fit within a $66 million envelope.  That would not have been possible.

However, through a peer review that we had done and through receiving the class C estimate -- which was the first detailed estimate received -- this cost escalations were beyond the point where it was acceptable to our executive and our board.  And that was the reason for containing it to the $96.5 million.

MS. ZHANG:  Why?  Was a class C estimate was higher?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MS. ZHANG:  Why?

MS. COLLIER:  Why was it higher than the high level parametric estimate of class...


MS. ZHANG:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. COLLIER:  That's, I think, the nature of -- the nature of estimating projects of this size, is you move from a conceptual design to a class D to a class C to a class B to a class A.  Obviously, estimates get tighter.

We did change -- as noted in the evidence -- our project manager throughout that.  So we had some concerns with some of those preliminary estimates that we had received, and therefore engaged a peer review and did switch.

So essentially our high-level estimate at the beginning was too low.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  Can we go to OEB 66, part (d), responses to part (d)?

So in this one it was noted that the renovation cost spent on the Bank Street facility was about three million in 2018 and 2 million in 2019.

So are these renovation costs part of 2021 opening rate base?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, they are.

MS. ZHANG:  So the actual capital spending on Hydro Ottawa's facilities renewal program is actual spending on new facilities, which is 99.5 million plus the renovation cost spent on the Bank street facility of about five million, which is a total of 105.  Is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  I would not characterize it that way.  These were two separate projects, in Hydro Ottawa's opinion.  The decision to retain Bank Street occurred in that early 2016 period, when we had looked -- looked at ways to reduce the cost of the project after the class C estimate was prepared.

Therefore, the decision to retain Bank Street occurred at that time, largely because the cost to construct a new fleet repair garage was substantial, and our existing fleet repair garage at Bank was actually not at end of life.

The decision to renovate Bank Street came almost two years later.  So I would not -- I would not group them in the same project.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, can I interrupt, Ms. -- Shuo?  It is Mark Garner from VECC.

MS. ZHANG:  Go ahead.

MR. GARNER:  I just have some similar questions.  Sorry, I am just a little confused, though.  When you did your original estimate for your buildings, the new campuses, Bank Street was at that time going to be slated to close.  Was that not part of the plan at the time that you came to the Board the first time?  You were going to terminate the Bank Street location as part of the new building?

MS. COLLIER:  That was the plan at the time we filed our application in 2015, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And the Albion -- is it Albion?  I'm sorry if I've got that wrong.  Albion is the other location?

MS. COLLIER:  It was Bank Street, Albion, and Merivel.

MR. GARNER:  And Merivel.  Were Albion and Merivel also at that time slated to be closed as part of that overall plan?  Or just Albion or part of Albion?  I know Albion -- one of them has some property with a transformer on it, doesn't it, and then it has a building?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  So both Albion and Merivel were slated to be sold as part of that plan.  Albion does have three parts to it.  So we obviously had to retain the substation part as part of our critical hydro infrastructure, but part A and C were also -- were sold.

MR. GARNER:  And they were -- as part of that original plan, that was part of the plan, right?  So am I correct to say that it is -- the Bank Street facility was the only -- was the single facility that was originally planned to be closed, but subsequent to your decision on how to build the new campuses, it was subsequently decided to keep it open?  Is that a correct characterization?

MS. COLLIER:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  Sorry, Shuo.

MS. ZHANG:  No problem.

So I just wanted to confirm a few items.  In response -- I don't think we necessarily need to go there.  In response to OEB 116, part (a), the net book value of the Bank Street facility as of December 31st, 2019 was 9.4 million, which will remain in rate base for about 20 years.  Is that the plan?

MS. COLLIER:  That is.

MS. ZHANG:  And per responses to SEC 30, part D, there will be an estimated annual OM&A spending on the Bank Street facility at about 600K.  Is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MS. ZHANG:  Okay.  My last question regarding this is regarding OEB 116, part (b).  When asking about the remaining service life of the Bank Street facility, it was stated that the weighted average remaining service life is 20 years.

Can you explain the meaning of the term "weighted average remaining service life"?

MS. COLLIER:  So as with any building, a roof lasts a different length of time than the shell of the building, versus the furniture in the building, versus, you know, other components.

So there is many components to a building.  They all have slightly different lives, but we weight them together to respond to this interrogatory.

MS. ZHANG:  Thank you.  That is all of my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  We are going to -- we have still got time before the morning break.  We are going to move on to Maggie Zhu from Board Staff.
Examination by Ms. Zhu:

MS. ZHU:  Thank you, Jamie.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Maggie Zhu, OEB Staff.  I have two questions related to DVA.  I will start with Interrogatory No. 178, pension and OPEB, actuarial gain and loss sub-account.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Excuse me, is this OEB 178?

MS. ZHU:  It is OEB 178, yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If I could just make a small request.  If you could just let us pull up the interrogatory.

MS. ZHU:  Sure.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  My associate, Ms. Tedesco, is even faster than me, and I am old and need time to get to the response.

MS. ZHU:  Of course.  Take your time.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Very good.

MS. ZHU:  Okay.  So in the current application Hydro Ottawa is seeking disposition of a credit balance of 4.4 million in this account.  And in the response to this interrogatory we saw a principal adjustment.  And I think in the updated evidence Hydro Ottawa stated that it has made a principal adjustment in this account to return the funds to customers, as they were unintentionally included as a charge related to 2016 application.

So my question is, could Hydro Ottawa confirm if the proposed disposition in the current application is to reverse the error that was made related to 2016 application for the debit balance of the 4.4 million?  So this amount was not approved, but was unintentionally included as part of the disposition for group 2 accounts and also included in the group 2 rate riders on the 2016 application.

MS. BARRIE:  Hi, it is April Barrie, manager of rates and revenue.

MS. ZHU:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. BARRIE:  Just to recharacterize that a little bit.  Hydro Ottawa believes the adjustment was approved as part of the 2016 rate application.  However, it had been initially intended that that amount would not be disposed to customers as part of the '16 application.  As the application did develop we did ask to dispose of that adjustment.  However, as that amount is not -- as we proceeded along and see that that amount is not netting to zero to customers over time, we believe that the best course of action would be to return that amount as originally proposed in its 2016 application.

MS. ZHU:  So I just want to clarify then.  In the updated evidence, it stated that the principal adjustment to this account is to return the funds to customers, as they were unintentionally included as a charge from 2016 application.  So what -- how -- what did that sentence mean as referred to, the amount that was approved on 2016 application?

MS. BARRIE:  Just to clarify again, that amount is in the DVA schedule.

MS. ZHU:  Yes.

MS. BARRIE:  So if you could go to the 2016 approved DVA schedule, that adjustment is part of it.  I just meant to say that it is not that it wasn't part of what the OEB approved as the total amount to dispose of.  It is not that Hydro Ottawa added that on top of what the approval was.  It is just it wasn't intended to be part of the application to be disposed of.  But throughout the proceeding of the application, that amount was not reversed as an adjustment.

MS. ZHU:  Okay.  Okay, I see.  So when I was looking at 2016 application, did Hydro Ottawa apply for the disposition in the application and then later -- I didn't see the amount that was applied for disposition.

Are you saying that later on, through the application, the amount was updated as an amount to the disposition?

MS. BARRIE:  So as part of the DVA schedule that was submitted as the 2016 application, there wasn't a specific line item that we could put the OPEB amount into.  Like, as the current DVA schedule, there is multiple 1508 line items.

MS. ZHU:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. BARRIE:  And back in 2016 we did not have that ability to have multiple lines.  So as a result the adjustment was embedded in the overall amounts, and if you look at the originally submitted DVA schedule you would see an adjustment to take that amount out as in the -- later on, in the update application I believe is when it started that adjustment to remove the amount was no longer in there.

MS. ZHU:  Sorry.  I was not clear with the last part, because I was confused as this part of the statement, when Hydro Ottawa stated that it was unintentionally included as a charge.

That is why, in this application, Hydro Ottawa is seeking disposition of the same amount, but in a credit balance in the opposite side.

MS. BARRIE:  So that is correct.  How Hydro Ottawa was achieving originally not disposing that balance to customers was through an adjustment in the 2016 DVA schedule.

In the final DVA schedule, that was approved; that adjustment to remove that balance was not included.  So as a result, we did dispose that amount to customers.

MS. ZHU:  As a debit balance?

MS. BARRIE:  As a debit balance.

MS. ZHU:  Okay.

MS. BARRIE:  And as part of the 21 amount to be dispose4d, we are proposing to give that balance back to customers.

MS. ZHU:  So what's the rationale for giving back to customers the same amount that was approved in the previous application?

MS. BARRIE:  Hydro Ottawa has noted over the last couple of years that that balance is not becoming a zero balance, as we had suggested over time.

It will.  However, we don't feel that at this point in time, that customers should be paying that balance and we will continue to see it fluctuate over time.

MS. ZHU:  I remember seeing an attachment to this question, and I remember seeing -- maybe we should bring it up to the screen.  I think it is an attachment related to this question and a title of that -- I saw a document called summary of account of pension and OPEB.

Okay, thank you, so we have this one on the screen now.  So as we can see, the column E, that was the disposition in 2016.  And you said that this account was approved in 2016.

MS. BARRIE:  That is correct.

MS. ZHU:  Okay.  So as the balance keeps accumulating, at the end of 2018, the balance was a credit balance of 272,000.  And the transaction balance in 2019 was 1.5 million.

So my question is:  In the current application, why Hydro Ottawa is not seeking disposition of the 2018 balance, which was a credit balance of 272, and the 2019 loss of the 1.5?

MS. BARRIE:  So Hydro Ottawa at this point in time is proposing that the sub account of 1508 be looked at more as a tracking account at this point in time, and not to fully dispose it to customers.  And as a result, is suggesting to return back the amount that was previously disposed.

MS. ZHU:  Okay.  So the current -- the account balance is $5.6 million, which is basically the actual gain/loss accumulated balance from 2010-2019.

MS. BARRIE:  That is correct.

MS. ZHU:  Okay.  Thank you.  We can move on to the next question.  So the next question is interrogatory 183.  subsection (k).

So this question is related to the calculation of the 2019 accelerated CCC impact for new facilities over $66 million.  And the calculation used $72 million as the addition for tax purposes, and 40 percent of that cost qualifies for accelerated CCA.

So my question on that one is:  Would this calculation, which was based on $72 million, include the accelerated CCA impact for Y-factors which is up to $66 million?

MR. GRUE:  Hi, it is Mike Grue.  If you could repeat the last part?  You want to reconcile this with the
Y-factor?

MS. ZHU:  Sure, yes.  Hydro Ottawa submitted a few attachments to calculate the accelerated CCA impact.  There were two for new facilities over 66 million.

MR. GRUE:  Yes.

MS. ZHU:  For 2019-2020.  There is another two for Y-factors, right, for the accelerated CCA impact.

In attachment -- I believe it is attachment G in Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 4, the calculation used $72 million as the basis for additions for tax purposes. And it was estimated that 40 percent of that qualifies for accelerated CCA.

MR. GRUE:  Correct.  And so the 99.5 that that's predicated on includes the 66 million, which is the Y-factor.

MS. ZHU:  Right, right.  So my question is, would the calculation for the accelerated CCA impact use using the 72 million includes the accelerated CCA impact for the 66 million, which was showing on another attachment?

MR. GRUE:  Yes.  I think this is just showing the total; it's a reconciliation.

MS. ZHU:  So now my next question is:  If this one included the CCA impact for new facilities up to $66 million and both amounts were included in the disposition amounts, then the accelerated CCA impact for the facilities up to $66 million would be double counted.

MS. BARRIE:  April Barrie, manager of rates and revenue.  So the Y-factor calculations are exclusive of the accelerated depreciation calculation, and only included in the PILs regulatory asset.

MS. ZHU:  So the $66 million, the basis for that one was that the addition for tax purposes was 43 million.  And so 43 million is the tax addition corresponding to the $66 million.

And in a separate calculation, the 72 million was used as a basis for calculating the new facility over 66 million.  So because both accounts, both calculations seems included the first 43 million, so it looks like -- and both amounts were included as a disposition amount -- so it looks like the accelerated CCA impact for the first 66 million was counted twice in the disposition amounts.

MS. BARRIE:  Subject to check, it was Hydro Ottawa's intention at least to exclude accelerated depreciation from either the Y-factor or the amount above the $66 million.

MS. ZHU:  Hmm-hmm.  So would you -- could you undertake the calculation -- or review the calculation for the 2019 accelerated CCA impact for new facility above $66 million?

MR. GRUE:  Yes.

MS. BARRIE:  Yes.

MS. ZHU:  And maybe...


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry to interrupt.  That will be JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO REVIEW THE CALCULATION FOR THE 2019 ACCELERATED CCA IMPACT FOR NEW FACILITY ABOVE $66 MILLION


MS. ZHU:  Yes.  And also update the relevant schedules, including the DVA schedule.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We will do so to the extent they need to be updated.

MS. ZHU:  Thank you.  Jamie, that is all of my questions on the DVA sections.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  I've got 10:23 right now.  We scheduled the morning break for 10:20.  Why don't we take  ten minutes now, and we will be back at -- let's say 10:35.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:23 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:35 a.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, welcome back, everybody.  It is 10:35.

We're going to continue with -- sorry, Mr. Van Dusen, I should check.  Is your panel ready to go again?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we are, sir.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So we will go ahead with Keith Ritchie for Board Staff.
Examination by Mr. Ritchie:

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Yes.  Keith Ritchie, OEB Staff.  And I have a number of questions related to the cost of capital.  And I guess I want to really discuss how your proposal on the cost of capital aligns with the cost of capital report and the handbook for utility rate applications.

Now, OEB Staff provided copies of those on Monday, and I guess I would ask that those be given exhibit numbers.

MR. TEJWANI:  It is Neal Tejwani, manager, corporate financing for Hydro Ottawa.  Yes, we received those submissions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Ritchie, you've got, sorry, how many items?

MR. RITCHIE:  At this point in time -- there were four items, but at this point I guess it is the Cost of Capital Report and the Handbook for Utility Rate Applications that I guess, first, I would want to give exhibit numbers to.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will do KT1.1 for the cost of capital report.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  COST OF CAPITAL REPORT.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  KT1.2 for the handbook for utility rate applications.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  HANDBOOK FOR UTILITY RATE APPLICATIONS.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Keith Ritchie here.  Thank you.  First I would like to take you to -- it's the numbered page 13 of the cost of capital report.  And I think it is actually about page -- it would be page 17 of the PDF version.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  I have it in front of me.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, I guess I'm having a -- I actually can't see the Zoom screen on my laptop right now.  Okay.  I will try and continue.  And it is really -- I am going to the last paragraph on that one where basically the Board talks about the final product of this process, of course as a Board policy.  It's not a hearing process.  And it does not, indeed cannot, set rates:

"The Board's refreshed cost of capital policies will be considered through rate hearings for the individual utilities, at which time -- at which it is possible that a specific evidence may be proffered and tested before the Board.  Board panels assigned to these cases will look at the report for guidance in how the cost of capital should be determined.  Board panels considering individual rate applications, however, are not bound by the Board's policy and, where justified by specific circumstances, may choose not to apply the policy or part of the policy."

So you will accept that the cost of capital report -- like other policy documents including the rate handbook -- is not definitive in itself, and a panel can take into account the evidence in a particular case in deciding to apply or to allow a variance from the policy?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  We accept the Board's policies as written.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, if I go to, again, numbered page 61 of the cost of capital report.  And it is under -- sorry.  Okay.  And it is under section 5.1 on the transition to the recommended cost of capital.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, I see it.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And it starts off:

"The Board's minimum filing requirement for natural gas distribution cost of service..."

Et cetera.  I want to focus on the last sentence of that paragraph, which goes:

"However, the Board wishes to point out the increased emphasis that it is placing on applicants to support their existing and forecasted debt, and the treatment of these in accordance with the guidelines, or to support any proposed different treatment."

It is the final sentence here that I am focussing on.  And keeping this in mind, I now want to turn to the rate handbook.  And what I am -- I want to turn to -- and this is going to be an interesting one.  At the back of the report, it's a page III, and it is under rate-setting policies.  So it is way down.

And I guess what we have here, where basically -- again, I want to focus on the last sentence under the section where it says:
"A utility (or any other party to a proceeding) may propose alternative approaches, but must provide sufficient evidence and analysis to support a determination that the alternative is appropriate in light of the utility's circumstances."

And I guess my question on this is that whether you believe -- excuse me -- whether the Rate Handbook altered the OEB's cost of capital policy from what is documented in the cost of capital report issued in 2009.

MR. TEJWANI:  I believe that both pieces of guidance are relevant to determining an appropriate cost of capital.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, I would like to turn back to some of the details in the cost of capital report.  And on this I want to focus on the appendices at the back of the report and specifically the Appendices B, C, and D, which would be right at the back of the cost of capital report.

And Appendix B basically provides the documentation, the methodology, including the formula and the data being used, to update the ROE and the data used from Stats Can, Bank of Canada, consensus forecast, and from Bloomberg.  And Appendix C provides similar information for updating the deemed long-term debt rate.  And Appendix D documents the methodology and data for updating the deemed short-term debt rate.  Do you accept that?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, I will deal with these components in a reverse order, and I am just trying to really look at your proposal.

So starting with the deemed short-term debt rate, in Hydro Ottawa's application you propose to use the deemed short-term debt rate of 2.75, which is what the Board issued for 2020 on October 30th -- October 31, 2019, and Hydro Ottawa proposed that this would be fixed for all years of the plan.

MR. TEJWANI:  That is correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, in using the 2020 as you proposed, would you consider that a deviation from the methodology as documented in appendix D of the cost of capital report?

MR. TEJWANI:  No.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Can you explain why not?

MR. TEJWANI:  Hydro Ottawa attempted to forecast a short term rate in line with the guidance for filing a custom incentive rate application.

As the published rate in respect to 2021 was not available, and the rate in respect of the year 2020 was reflective of our actual costs and aligned with a stable short term rate outlook as per economic forecasts, Hydro Ottawa applied using the rate of 2.75 for short term cost of capital for the duration of its rate term.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, in response to an interrogatory, OEB 148, part (a) --


MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  -- you state that you would update the deemed short-term debt rate as part of the 2021 draft rate order, if so directed by the OEB.

MR. TEJWANI:  That is correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  And that rate would then be held constant for all of the years of the plan?

MR. TEJWANI:  That is subject to being directed by the OEB.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  So in that situation, the methodology would in fact be fully consistent with appendix D of the cost of capital report.

MR. TEJWANI:  If you say so, yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  I will now turn to your long term debt rate.  And for this, you will confirm that you are relying on the weighted average cost of existing or embedded long term debt, plus also factoring in forecasted rates for future long term debt expected in various years of the planned term?

MR. TEJWANI:  That's correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  And relying on this embedded debt cost and allowing for a reasonable forecast for expected future debt is consistent with the OEB's cost of capital report, and in fact is the preferred approach as documented by the OEB in that report?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, that's consistent with Hydro Ottawa's past custom IR submissions.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, the cost of capital report doesn't specify a specific means for forecasting the cost of future long term debt?

MR. TEJWANI:  Correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  But what you have done is you have used the OEB's mathematical formula in appendix C, but with different data for -- you know, basically similar data, but for different time periods.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  We have drawn the long term bond forecast from the consensus forecast publication, which is also used by the OEB.

MR. RITCHIE:  And as I understand, and I think you were just stating, you used a similar approach in your first custom IR plan for 2016-2020?

MR. TEJWANI:  That's correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  So then while we might or might not agree on the data used and whether the forecasts are reasonable and Hydro Ottawa's approach to calculating its weighted average long-term debt rate is compliant with the OEB's cost of capital policy?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  You would, okay.  So we're making progress.  Now I want to consider the return on equity, and here's where I see differences from the OEB's policy.

In this case, you are forecasting the ROE for each year individually and are requesting the OEB approve the ROE for each year of the plan, and then Hydro Ottawa would use that approved ROE to calculate the capital-related revenue requirement based on the updated rate base and depreciation and taxes and CCA, and other tax adjustments.

You confirm that in the response to Staff 2,part (a).  Do you agree with that summarization?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  Is that IR OEB 150?

MR. RITCHIE:  No, no.  It is actually OEB Staff 2, part (a).

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  The response I have says Hydro Ottawa confirms the values in table 5 are correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Anyways, yes.  In effect, you are wanting to use these cost of capital along with your forecasted capital additions, updated rate base, and I guess tax rates and appreciation to update the capital related revenue requirement in each year, correct?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  We would like to use the submitted ROE forecast and the method as you have suggested.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, in order to forecast the ROE and using the methodology in appendix B of the cost of capital report, you need certain actual historical data and certain forecasted data.  For the historical data, you have used estimates based on the historical average spread of Canadian Utility A-rated 30-year bonds over 30-year Government of Canada bonds, and a historical average of the 30-year Government of Canada bonds over the 10-year Government of Canada bond yields.  Correct?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  And for the forecast information, you used long term forecast from consensus forecasts.  So this would mean -- and consistent with the formula used by the OEB -- that all of the information for the future period is really in the -- is in the long-term forecast.

MR. TEJWANI:  That's correct, along with the historical spreads, yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  Yes.  Now, I was looking at the responses that you provided to OEB 149, OEB 150, and also SEC 68.

And the first thing is that I want to confirm that when you are talking about the long term forecasts from consensus forecasts, you are just talking about the short summary tables that they provide on about three pages in the April and October monthly publications.  It's not with reference to a supplemental call it product from a consensus economics, which is called long term historical forecast data which provides long term forecasts in Excel formats.  It may have additional data.  I am just not certain, and I have never seen it.  You aren't using that, as I understand your responses, you are just relying on the summary tables in April and monthly publications of consensus forecasts.  Is that correct?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And for those forecasts, we only have point estimates and for a limited number of P macroeconomic statistics in the publications.  That is correct?

MR. TEJWANI:  Limited information is given about the methodology of the forecast.  However, the overall consensus forecast is assembled by taking a collection or a sample of inputs from various financial institutions and economic forecasters.

MR. RITCHIE:  For the long range forecast, they're not covering all of the same statistics as they provide in the three and 12-month forecasts, even in the same publication.

MR. TEJWANI:  Can you refer me to where it says that in the consensus forecast?

MR. RITCHIE:  Well, okay.  I guess in terms of the -- if you -- I guess maybe we should go to maybe it is OEB 150?  Where is it?  I guess SEC 68.  There was an IR where you did provide, I think, the consensus forecast publication.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  I believe it is OEB 151.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.

MR. TEJWANI:  Attachment A.

MR. RITCHIE:  Oh, okay, that's why.  You provided it as a separate attachment.  That's why it wasn't showing in my -- on the PDF.  Sorry.  You also provided the same thing in 149.  Okay.

If I go, I guess, down to Canada, and this is on page 16 of the PDF version.

MR. TEJWANI:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. RITCHIE:  There is a number of macroeconomic statistics that are provided for Canada, and then it continues on to page -- the following page, where there is some additional statistics.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  And then if I now go down to page 28 of that same PDF, and if you scroll down to, I guess, the fourth box, which is labelled "Canada", page 28 of 32 of the PDF.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, I see it.

MR. RITCHIE:  And so there is only a smaller subset of the indicators for which they actually are providing the long-range forecasts.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  Among them the 10-year treasury bond yield.

MR. RITCHIE:  Yes.  Which is the P1 here.  So again, it is only for a limited number of indicators, and we only have point estimates.  We actually don't know who, in fact, of the surveyed firms are responding, how many are responding, what the range is of their data.  This is different than for the three- and the 12-month-ahead forecasts.

MR. TEJWANI:  That is correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And then in OEB 149, part (a), we asked, really seeking -- I was seeking some information about the confidence intervals or standard deviations of the consensus forecast estimates.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  And really, you know, you stated that, you know, there really wasn't information that they provided, and then you provided an attachment to the IR response that was a page from Consensus Economic's website.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, that in particular didn't really help me in terms of a response.  I don't disagree with their methodology or its advantages, but it really didn't help me to understand about the possible magnitude or spread of any forecasting errors.

So I have now prepared two spreadsheet tables that I would ask to be marked as exhibits.  The first one looks at the three- and 12-month-ahead forecast and goes back as far as 2006.  And then there is a second one that looked at the variance and the actual value -- the variance between the forecast and the actual value for 10-month Government of Canada bond yields based on the long-term.

So the first file is labelled "consensus forecast variance analysis.xlsx", and I guess that should be marked as an exhibit.  Probably KT1.3, I would believe.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  That will be KT1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  SPREADSHEET TABLE LABELLED "CONSENSUS FORECAST VARIANCE ANALYSIS.XLSX".

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And the variance spreadsheet will be KT1 --


MR. RITCHIE:  Sorry, the long-range consensus forecast would be marked as KT1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.4:  SPREADSHEET TABLE LABELLED "LONG-RANGE CONSENSUS FORECAST.XLSX".

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, okay.  So the variance -- sorry, the variance spreadsheet would be KT1.3?

MR. RITCHIE:  Consensus forecast variance analysis.xlsx is KT1.3 and long-range consensus forecast.xlsx, it would be KT1.4.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And I guess for Hydro Ottawa you've had time to examine those spreadsheets?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, I have.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And I guess on the KT1.3, what I did -- we have the data, and I think from your responses, I think you have access to consensus forecast information as well.  So I put in the three-and 12-month-ahead forecasts into the spreadsheet, and then I also put in the actual Bank of Canada -- Government of Canada -- and I actually had 10- and 30-year, just because I have this analysis.  So I actually have the -- both the forecast and the data.

And then what I tried to do was to say, let's see what, in fact, is the forecasting error of the data when you actually compare it against the actual value either three months ahead or 12 months ahead, depending on them.

And I guess for the first ones, like with the red arrows, I tried to show how I sort of mapped the actual data and the three-month-ahead forecast in the columns O to Q.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RITCHIE:  And then calculated the difference.  And then similarly on, I guess on columns S to U I did a similar analysis for the 12-month-ahead forecast.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And then if I move down towards the bottom, under all of the coloured stuff, I actually sort of then get to sort of like the mean and the standard deviation of the three-month-ahead and the 12-month-ahead forecasts.  So the mean is about 0.225, standard deviation 0.422, based on the data.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, I see that.  And approximately .77 is the mean variance for the 12-month-ahead forecast.

MR. RITCHIE:  Correct.  And then what I also did even just below that is I plotted two histograms, really just sort of trying to see what is the approximate distribution of these forecast errors for three months and 12 months ahead and, you know, I guess basically the conclusion is that, yeah, they're slightly positive.  But, you know, I can't really say that the true value isn't zero and certainly for the three months ahead, it looks approximately normally distributed.  I guess for the twelve months ahead, it's, you know, a bit a bit farther from zero, but still not statistically significant, but certainly also a much wider spread.

MR. TEJWANI:  Okay.  So if I understand correctly, these two inputs are used in the OEB's cost of capital parameters calculation, both for long term debt and the deemed ROE?

MR. RITCHIE:  Yes.  And again, and of course we average the two because we are trying to get an estimate for the following year.  And again, like from the September data, three months ahead really would be January 1.  Twelve months ahead would be, again, the end of September and this is about as complete a range as we have, you know, or as complete coverage of the forward test year as we can.

So, you know, and I guess my other thing is that a lot of the time period covered here -- 2006 to 2020 -- has mostly been a period of more economic growth than sort of a down turn, you know, other than 2008, 2009, and now beginning in March of this year.

And so the fact that there maybe are some -- we have also had low interest rates, low inflation for a lot.  So the fact that maybe there's a slight positive forecast error -- you know, I'm not going to say that the forecasters are really doing things wrong, you know.  They're doing reasonable efforts.

MR. TEJWANI:  Okay.  And if I understand correctly, if we take the average of the two mean variances, we get approximately 50 basis points.

MR. RITCHIE:  Yes.

MR. TEJWANI:  And there is no adjustment in the OEB's cost of capital parameters for this observed positive variance?

MR. RITCHIE:  Well, again, this is on the mean.

Now, the other thing, too, and why you also want to look at the spread, the standard deviation, is that 50 basis points possibly different than zero?  Probably.  You know, I don't think I can say that from a statistical perspective.

MR. TEJWANI:  Okay.

MR. RITCHIE:  This is the best data that we have.  Okay.  So then I want to turn now to KT1.4.  And I did -- okay?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, I have it in front of me.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And on this one, I was actually inspired, I guess, by what SEC asked you to do in SEC 68, in terms of really going back and doing hypothetical analysis of if you had used your proposed cost of capital methodology for the first term.

And also, once I understood that you were just using these April and October forecasts, what I did is I went back actually to 2013 and I've inputted from the April and the October the two, three, four, five, and six to 10-year ahead forecasts for each of these publications.  And that's in the top table.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, I see it.

MR. RITCHIE:  And I think I've got it right.  So subject to check, you know, you will accept the data?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, the data appears plausible.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And then below that, I actually again put in the actual 10-year Government of Canada bond yields from StatsCan, Bank of Canada.  I did the -- I had the annual and end of year, but I actually did the difference from the actual -- from the annual.

Again, I did a similar kind of analysis where I wanted to calculate the forecast error between the forecast and the actual value from each of the publications, and that is in the third table there.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, I see it.

MR. RITCHIE:  I actually used colour coding, so that I could actually distinguish between how many years ahead the forecast was.  And of course we can't go beyond 2019.

So then the final table was just to get the average or mean percentage deviation on the how far ahead, depending on how far ahead the forecast is.  I didn't calculate the standard deviation, because there's not that many data points for like two or three-year, and I actually can't calculate it for the 6-year ahead forecast.

MR. TEJWANI:  Mr. Ritchie, is there a reason why the sample size doesn't go back to 2006 in a similar fashion as KT1.3?

MR. RITCHIE:  Again, I would have -- I was actually having -- I would have liked to have done it.  I just, again, once I got the IRs and I was busy with other things, you know, we have our own experts who had evidence and IRRs to prepare and I, you know, just have to support him logistically.

I would have liked to have done that.  I possibly could do that.  But I at least went back in terms of at least before your current custom IR period.

MR. TEJWANI:  Okay.

MR. RITCHIE:  I guess the point here is to really see, in fact two years ahead, the average forecast error is 1.51 percentage points, three years 1.89 percentage points.  And all the way up to the 6-year 3.7 percentage points.

You would accept those, subject to check?

MR. TEJWANI:  I accept the calculations, but I still need further detail on the context.

MR. RITCHIE:  Well, I guess the -- now, these forecast errors again are in terms of percentage points, and again we've also got this whole concept here that really the historical Government of Canada bond yields, the actuals have actually been relatively low.  I think from the table we have, 2.261 is the highest in the last 5 years and the Government of Canada bond yields hasn't been that -- you know, it hasn't been -- I don't think above 4-point -- it certainly hasn't been at 5 percent for a fairly long period of time.

MR. GARNER:  This is Mark Garner.  Do you mind if I interrupt you for a minute?  I just want to ask a different question while Staff and you are here, if you don't mind.  This conversation is going on a lot about this forecast.

As I understand these forecasts, they were done from October 14th, 2019.  That is where you are doing it from, is that correct?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  So here's the fundamental question, I think I am asking myself.  The global economy has just dropped 5 percent.  The federal deficit has gone from 30 billion to $330 billion.  There is amazingly people didn't even -- couldn't see the amount of monetary opening that would happen when interest rates were already low.

What gives you any idea -- any of you, quite frankly -- that any forecast that was done prior to the end of 2019 has any relevance to anything?  I mean, that is just my question.  I mean, who cares?  I mean, the way things are going, I can't see any forecast that was done prior to 2019 having any relevance.  That is my bigger question.  How can one rely upon something like that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Mr. Garner, this is Greg Van Dusen, director of regulatory affairs.  Hydro Ottawa has seen the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its 2020 operations.  We have seen reduced revenue and increased bad debt, and there has definitely been an impact to some extent on our operations as well in 2020, although not as significant.

However, our anticipation is that that -- that there will be a recovery of some sorts and that the period 2021 to 2025 still remains valid in terms of a forecast, and we still maintain that our forecast for 2021 to '25 remains valid, and that there will be recovery in both the economy, as well as in the long-term outlook for rates as well, interest rates, in the long-term.

That is our view right now.  We are certainly seeing in our results, most recent results, some modest improvement in our financial information with respect to revenue and accounts receivable.  So our position is that the '21 to '25 period should resemble very closely to what we have forecast.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, but what I am asking -- I am only sticking to this issue that Mr. Ritchie is raising about the consensus forecast, because he is asking a lot of questions around, you know, its accuracy and that, and they're interesting.  But I am actually really asking a very specific question.  Given the, you know, amazing things that are happening in the economies around the globe right now, it seems to me that most of these forecasts are moot at this point.  In fact, newer forecasts coming out is post the, you know, the analysis of what's happened to the economy, will be better indicators.

So what I am really challenging is any forecast that was done without the -- with the absence of understanding the global -- the global impact that has happened have now become irrelevant.

Can you demonstrate something that would say, no, no, forecasts done in October of 2019 look kind of like this, in the same way forecasts are looking in, you know, June of 2020?

Because I would have thought, no, they probably don't look anything like they looked before.  So you are relying on something that it seems to me is -- all I am asking is, is there a new forecast done, you know, that demonstrates this is still the consensus of people?  Of economists or whoever does them?

MR. TEJWANI:  The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a great deal of volatility in the financial markets.  I believe in one of our IRRs Hydro Ottawa has recalculated the ROE and the long-term debt rates based on the April 2020 consensus forecast.  Having said that, our application is for the period 2021 through 2025, and it is possible that we will see a mean reversion in bond yields, subject to an economic recovery, which remains largely unknown at this point in time.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, Keith.

MR. RITCHIE:  And again, and I think, you know, I think what Mark was referring to was the response actually that Hydro Ottawa gave in VECC 94, where Hydro Ottawa said that it expected that its forecast would be -- would still hold.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, thank you.  Just thought I'd jump in right now, since you are going through this, but anyways, I didn't mean to interrupt you, if you want to go ahead.

MR. RITCHIE:  And I believe it is OEB 151 where Hydro Ottawa updated the ROE forecast with the April data.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, it is Mark Rubenstein, SEC.  If I can just jump in and ask a question.  So just to clarify, even though you've updated the ROE and long-term debt rates based on the April consensus forecasts in Staff 151, the application and your proposal remains based on the November 2019 forecast.  Correct?

MR. TEJWANI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And so really I am coming to the end here, because I guess the concern and -- is whether we deal with COVID 19 or not, you are asking in this one, you know, even based on sort of the data that we have seen that there is forecasting error, and in fact it seems to be larger in magnitude the farther out you are going.  You will accept that?

MR. TEJWANI:  I would say the sample size in the analysis provided in KT1.4 is narrow.  So it's not statistically significant.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.

MR. TEJWANI:  So I would say that there is a positive bias, but I can't comment on the magnitude.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Well, would you be able to -- you have the spreadsheet.  Would you be able to extend that analysis, say, back to 2006 or to a number of years prior to that?  Would you undertake to do that?

MR. TEJWANI:  I will have to verify if we have availability of the consensus forecasts, long-term forecast reports.  Based on an initial review, we don't have them back to 2006.  Our oldest records date back to 2010, and I would have to check if we have the long-term forecasts.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And I guess the alternative on that would be if, like, if you don't have it back to 2006, and I know that we do, would -- I guess we could provide you with, I guess, whatever data we have or some arrangement be to extend the analysis in KT1.4 back as far as we can?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  We can undertake to do that.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will make that Undertaking JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO EXTEND THE ANALYSIS OF THE SPREADSHEET in KT1.4 BACK TO 2006 OR AS FAR AS POSSIBLE.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And I guess the issue really here is that you are proposing to -- that the ROEs be forecasted and fixed and that, you know, basically the Board use these.  And I guess the concern really is that, given the forecast errors, how does this really balance the risks and benefits between shareholders and ratepayers?

MR. TEJWANI:  Well, as part of the custom IR filing requirements, we have forecasted our ROE requirement out to 2025, which provides a degree of rate certainty for the ratepayers and balances the fair return standard, which is discussed in the 2009 cost of capital report.

MR. RITCHIE:  Well, I guess the issue is whether it does, given the idea of forecasting errors.  Anyways, those are my questions on the cost of capital.  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Can I just follow up before we leave these, because -- so it's in one place in the transcript, and I have these questions anyway.

So when is the next consensus forecast that would be available?  You had one in April, right?

MR. TEJWANI:  That's correct.  The next one will become available in October 2020.

MR. GARNER:  So the one in April, I mean, you may not know this directly, but I would assume that the April forecast comes out when in April?  The beginning of April?

MR. TEJWANI:  Approximately in the middle of the month.

MR. GARNER:  Middle of the month.  And it probably takes about a couple of weeks to prepare a forecast, I would imagine.  So that forecast is based on beginning of April information of 2020.  Does that seem reasonable to you, do you think?

MR. TEJWANI:  The survey date on the April consensus forecast was April 6th, 2020.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So it is sometime in March the data is for, right?  The end of March is when you began?

MR. RITCHIE:  It is Keith here.  No.  The date that they put, the survey date, that is actually the date that they surveyed all of the forecasters and then Consensus Economics publishes it about one or two days after that.

MR. GARNER:  So wouldn't -- are you concerned at all in the forecasting, as Mr. Ritchie has been making a point of, is subject to error and that.

Are you not concerned that the amount of error in a forecast -- no matter who is the body of consensus -- will increase the more there is uncertainty in the economy and the more economies there are uncertainty in.  Doesn't that seem reasonable to you, that the forecasts become more error prone?

MR. TEJWANI:  I think that is the nature of economic forecasting.

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  It is bad at the best of times, and this is not the best of times is the way I would probably put it.

But then that doesn't cause you a concern about risking your -- if you basically lock yourself into a forecast?  Why are you not concerned about that risk?

MR. TEJWANI:  Our forecasted long term debt rates, to a large degree, are based on embedded debt.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.

MR. TEJWANI:  The issuances that we have planned for 2020 and 2023 comprise a portion, albeit not a significant portion, of our total debt load.

MR. GARNER:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. TEJWANI:  To be consistent, we have followed a similar approach as our custom IR application submitted in 2015.  We believe that the forecast we have submitted is reasonable.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, I may have some other questions on long term later.  I am not up, so I will leave it at that.  Thank you for letting me follow up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, SEC.  Just to follow up to the discussion you had.

So just to be clear, if you were asked to update your response to OEB 151 with the most recent consensus forecast, do I take it that there is actually no more recent consensus forecast than the April one?

MR. TEJWANI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So I will not ask you...


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I take it that is all of the follow up questions.  We have one more staff member, Andrew Frank, who is going to be asking questions.  I understand that Andrew is going to be about five to ten minutes, but what I think we will do is we will take the second morning break now.  I apologize.  We're extended a little bit longer on the Staff questions.  I am going to attribute some of that to follow up questions, but we should be done at about ten minutes after the break and then we will be moving on to Pollution Probe.

So let's take our break.  It is just coming up on 11:30.  We will be back here at 11:40.  Thanks.
--- Recess taken at 11:30 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:41 a.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Hi, everybody.  We're back, or at least I'm back.  It is just after 11:40, so hopefully we can start off again with Andrew Frank and the Hydro Ottawa panel.
Examination by Mr. Frank:

MR. FRANK:  So this is Andrew Frank from OEB Staff.  I am just going to ask about the custom price escalation factor and specific service charges.

So as OEB Staff understands Hydro Ottawa's proposal, Hydro Ottawa is proposing --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Andrew.  I'm just going to have you hold on until the panel gets back on the screen.

MR. FRANK:  Oh, okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Greg, your folks are ready to go?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. FRANK:  Thank you.  So as OEB Staff understands Hydro Ottawa's proposal, Hydro Ottawa is proposing that the specific service charges be updated annually by the OM&A escalation, the CPEF, which Hydro Ottawa has forecasted at an average value of 2.51 percent per year for 2022 to 2025.  Is that correct?

MS. BARRIE:  Just to clarify, Hydro Ottawa for certain specific service charges has only included the 2.51 as a placeholder.  So there are a couple of them that have been requested, such as the pole attachments, to continue to use the generic, and would be updated using the OEB escalation factor.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  So I guess this question is focussed around where the CPEF is proposed to remain.  So I guess going -- carrying on.  I will refer back to Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 10, and I think page 13 of that schedule.  I believe it is the [audio dropout] of the PDF for the updated Exhibit 1.

COURT REPORTER:  Sorry, you were garbled there, Mr. Frank.  If you could repeat.

MR. FRANK:  Sorry, so I am going to refer back to the updated Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 10, on page 13 of the schedule, and that is page 146 of the PDF.  There we are.

So we have the explanation for a derivation of the components of the proposed CPEF, essentially three components:  inflation, productivity, composed of a base X factor and a stretch factor and a growth factor.

It is the growth factor as it is being proposed to be applied here that I want to understand.  If we go back to Hydro Ottawa's proposed custom IR methodology, the reason for having the growth factor is because the CPEF would be applied to OM&A expenses in aggregate each year, and so you factor in growth to account for the incremental expenses to serve as an increased -- sorry.  The incremental expenses to serve an increased number of customers.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  This is Greg Van Dusen, director of regulatory affairs.  Yes, it is correct.  I just would like to point out that I am happy to proceed and answer questions on the growth factor.  It really was a topic for panel 3, and we're happy to address it there, but I can answer these questions.  So please continue.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  Your growth factor isn't solely to account for growth, is the 0.4 percent you have proposed is approximately a 1.35 percent growth factor, adjusted by a 0.35 factor to account for economies of scale.  And that's what you have documented further on in this schedule.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  But the OM&A expenses adjusted by the CPEF don't just directly translate into rate adjustments, and that's because the OM&A expenses, really the OM&A revenue requirement, is added to the new capital-related revenue requirement.  And then through cost allocation and rate design and the load forecast for each year it gets converted into rates, that would recover the revenue information for the forecasted demand.  You agree with that, right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  And then using the approved load forecast, we have the increased demand, ignoring the economies of scale, in the denominator in order to determine the rates.  Do you agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  So put another way, rates are a unitized recovery of costs, the latter of which is expressed as the annual revenue requirement.  Do you accept that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. FRANK:  Now, specific service charges are expressed on a unitized basis per incident that the service is needed by a customer.  Correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That is correct.

MR. FRANK:  So in OEB -- in Staff OEB 164, part (c), Hydro Ottawa stated that:

"Hydro Ottawa is proposing to inflate per-incident and per-customer charges on the basis of an escalation factor which includes growth in customer count.  Given that these charges are based on OM&A costs incurred in servicing customers, an increase in the cost of OM&A drives a proportionate increase in the cost of services provided."

That is true on an aggregate basis, but why would that be true on a unitized basis per incident?  Or put another way, by adjusting the full CPEF, isn't your approach saying that it costs more, even more than inflation less productivity, to serve a customer for, say, an account set up as the number of customers increases?  Why would this be -- why would it cost more to serve a customer as the number of customers increases?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Ms. Barrie, is this something you could join in on?

MS. BARRIE:  We didn't disaggregate the pieces of the escalation factor and work towards a simplified approach of increasing the specific service charges at the same rate of OM&A.

MR. FRANK:  So it's essentially a simplification, if I understand that correctly?

MS. BARRIE:  To increase the service charges based on the same amount as the escalator proposed on the OM&A.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  Would Hydro Ottawa agree that the -- that it's not necessary to increase the charges on a factor which includes a -- sorry, on the basis of a growth factor?

MS. BARRIE:  Hydro Ottawa has looked at it more in the view of, if increased OM&A occurs, then the OM&A that makes up the cost, the embedded costs in the specific service charges, would also increase.

So we've looked at it as a connected relationship between the OM&A and the costs of the service charges, regardless of what is driving those individual factors of the cost.

MR. FRANK:  I see, thank you.  So that is my question.  I have nothing further to ask.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  We are going to move on to Pollution Probe now.
Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  Hello?  Can you hear me?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  There is an echo, but we can hear you.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I had switched over to phone because my internet's been sporadic, so I am going to try the phone.  I just tried the audio on the computer, but it is likely to go down in a minute.  So let me try the phone and see if you can hear me.

Yeah, it looks like the phone connection's been muted at your end.  Okay.  Can you hear me now?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Try that again.

MR. BROPHY:  It's Mike Brophy.  Can you hear me now?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  And there's no echo.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, perfect.  As I was saying, the internet connectivity has been an issue, so I am using the phone.  But it looks like somebody just unmuted the phone line now, so great.

So I apologize that I have had some internet problems and I will probably be in and out of the video.  I may not always be able to see what you are putting on the screen, but I will adjust and hopefully we can survive that way.

So good morning.  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  I have a series of questions, and the first few are in relation to Pollution Probe IR 1.

I don't know if, for all of the questions that I have, if you are going to need to pull up all of the references, but, you know, if you do then I can certainly wait while you do that.  It might be helpful to have Pollution Probe 1A up just for the first one.

So the first -- you've got it there, the table.  Table A is populated with comparator utilities, but most of the fields were left blank.  I understand that you did that just because some of those comparator utilities are not under custom IR.  We're still interested in whether they're under custom or not to have those fields populated.  Is that something you can undertake to do?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Mr. Brophy, it's Greg Van Dusen director of regulatory affairs.  I will start and then Ms. Barrie may need to add.

I'm not too sure that we can fill in the other fields, sir.  We filled in what we could, to the extent that the other utilities have not yet applied for an application or for a rate increase for that period, I am not too sure what we would be able to put in in those fields.  We just don't know that information at this point in time, sir.

MR. BROPHY:  So you are saying there is no information available for 2021 for London Hydro, Alectra or Veridian?  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Not at the time we put the interrogatory responses together; we did not have that information.

MR. BROPHY:  Would you be able to go and validate, if you have any information available at this point and populate the fields, if there is information available?

MS. GIRVAN:  Mike, it is Julie Girvan here from Consumers Council of Canada.  Things like Alectra hasn't applied for 2021 rates yet.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Well, I guess the premise is that these were listed as the comparator utilities and the question was in relation to the time period that Hydro Ottawa is applying for.

I know in the response, you decided to put some historical numbers in.  But what I am trying to get at is, you know, when you are looking at comparable utilities over similar time frame going forward, did you have any data that allowed you to benchmark against those?

Maybe the answer is no, you have no ability to benchmark against any comparable utilities, but that's what I am trying to understand.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So in response, I can say that we provided the best information that we could in table A; that was the best information.

And then once again we chose these utilities because we were able to easily access their information and we knew that, in some cases, Hydro One and Toronto Hydro, they did have some information associated with their custom application that would be information that could be compared.

So I would offer, sir, that this is the best we can do.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So would it be fair to say then that the ability to do a comparison to other similar utilities in Ontario, that the data is very limited?  Is that fair to say?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's limited, sir, in a forecast sense for the specific period 2021-2025.

Historically, there is a fair bit of information on most utilities up until, I'd say, the last publication of the OEB yearbook or the OEB scorecard.  So you would be able to get a fair bit of historical information there.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, yeah, I will take it that it is fairly limited based on the conditions that you mentioned.  Okay.  Thank you, that's it for that table.

The next question is, you know, Hydro Ottawa had indicated that it filed evidence as a result of capital and O&M decreases based on rationalization that was already done, and the initial consolidated plan was 50 million higher than what was filed.

Was there any direction provided internally on target amounts for your O&M or capital to -- on the amounts to be reduced already?  I didn't see anything in the memos that you had pointed to.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's Greg Van Dusen, director of regulatory affairs again.

So just to be clear, in the planning process there was an initial submission of OM&A and capital levels from the business units.  The rationalization process that we undertook, both on the OM&A and capital side, took a look at the submitted levels and then using financial aspects, customer aspects, asset needs aspects, financial constraints, resource constraint aspects, we rationalized the levels of both the OM&A and capital work program down to the levels that eventually became the rate application.

The $50 million you are referring to specifically is an amount which we rationalized down from the submitted level.  So the submitted levels from the business plan representing what they would describe and could be described in more detail when Ms. Heuff is on the stand talking about the distribution system plan, was an asset-needs level.

The asset needs level was reduced by approximately $50 million in each year, 2021-2025, to come down to the level of approximately $100 million a year.

You will see in the note that was sent from the CFO with respect to the business planning process that there was a detail of the capital expenditures by major grouping, adding up to an approximately $95 million envelope that was provided to the business units.

With respect to the OM&A process, I believe Ms. Collier this morning talked a little bit about the process there, while there was initial submissions that built in many productivity initiatives and many productivity savings and then the further rationalization, which was predominantly the SLA reclassification to end up at the OM&A levels.

And then in addition, Hydro Ottawa went further and incorporated a $13 million stretch target in our OM&A associated with applying our CPEF factor to the 2021 forecast levels of OM&A.

MR. BROPHY:  For the capital reduction, that would have been through that rationalization process projects that you decided that, you know, weren't needed or could be deferred.  Is that fair to say?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  There were a host of reasons why -- or a host of actions that were taken to reduce it.  Some could be deferred.  Some could be cut out.  Some could be reduced in nature.  But it was all done through a detailed assessment through our asset management group to come up with the reductions.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great, thank you.

The next question was around Pollution Probe 1B.  So you had the table that we just talked about in 1A.  You'd indicated that you didn't have data to populate a similar table at all for O&M.  I am assuming then that is still the case, that you don't have any O&M information over a similar time period for comparable utilities.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.

Okay.  So still on Pollution Probe 1B.  There was a question around, you know, if the Board approval was for amounts lower than what was requested by Hydro Ottawa, was there any exercises done to assess that?

Hydro Ottawa had indicated that, you know, you haven't -- you are not able to really speculate.

So my read from that answer -- and I just want to make sure I've got it correct -- is that, is it true that Hydro Ottawa has not done any scenario analysis for any capital or O&M amounts less than what has been requested in the application to the Board?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct, we have not done that scenario analysis.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So if, say, the PEG recommendations were accepted and funding was lower, you haven't done any of that assessment?  That would only be after a decision; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it would be.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.

Okay, I will skip the next one --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, it is Mark Rubenstein.  Sorry, if I can just jump in.  Can I just clarify?  Do I take it that by that response, you mean, you have done no -- how should I put it -- formal analysis on what the impacts are going to be?

I assume that you have done some informal analysis, for example when you got the PEG evidence?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  To be honest, we've done very little of that.  It's been a very busy period, as you can well imagine.  So we have not even done informal analysis.  So obviously as the process goes forward and as we go through the settlement process, obviously -- and there are settlement offers and counteroffers, we obviously will do scenario analysis at that point in time.  But, no, we have not done a scenario analysis of what if this happens and this happens.

And just a small point of clarification.  In the answer to part (b) of this interrogatory response, I believe the question is, what if you don't get anything approved?  If we didn't get anything approved, we just -- you know, the first part is almost a speculation as well, in that we assumed 2020 rates would remain in place in 2021.

I wasn't quite sure what it meant about not getting an approval.  I mean, obviously if the OEB approves something for 2021 and that's the final decision, obviously that's what rates will be based on.

So I guess we didn't want to speculate too much on the response in this one.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, just for clarity, I think the intent of the question was, you know, not that they just kick the application out and didn't approve anything, but if they did approve capital and O&M, but at an amount lower than requested by Hydro Ottawa, but I am assuming the answer you have given is in relation to that question as well.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Obviously when we get an approval, a decision from the OEB that is final, we will obviously set rates in accordance with that decision.  We will adhere to whatever the OEB ultimately decides.

So 2021 rates will be what they will be as a result of an OEB approval.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Michael, I wonder if I can just jump in for a second.  It is Lisa DeMarco with DRC.

And Greg, just in relation to that, I note that there have been some regulatory changes as recent as last week or a week and a half ago in relation to the global adjustment regulation, specifically Reg. 429.04.

I am wondering if this has been updated internally for the impacts of those rather significant changes, effectively counselling the industrial conservation initiative and, if not, I wonder if you can update the assessment in relation to that significant change.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am going to ask Ms. Barrie to talk about -- are you talking about the OEB's 2021 cost of service presentation?  Or changes that were introduced a few weeks ago?

MS. DeMARCO:  I am talking about changes to the regulation themselves filed on June 30th at 2:00 p.m., the day before it applies to the peak demand period on July 1st, very specifically, the anticipated increases in load that will no longer be subject to curtailment or incentives for demand --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to being corrected by my able partner, April Barrie, I am going to say, no, we have not done that assessment yet.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am wondering if you could, if we could ask you to undertake to do that.  It seems like a very material change that could affect all distributors, and I know that time is of the essence, but it would be very beneficial, I think, to Board Staff and others to see those impacts.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  All right.  So one thing I just want to be clear on before I say yes or no to this undertaking is, our position is our '21 to '25 application holds as is, and the changes in regulation and how they apply going forward are primarily to impact 2020.

I do know there is some impacts that flow into 21, but at this point in time are you asking for 2020 impact?

MS. DeMARCO:  My understanding that the impact -- are that the impacts will affect not only the demand this season but in particular the demand in 2021 and subsequently going forward in 2022.  So the stated impacts are definitely 2021 -- sorry, 2020 and 2021.  But the likely impacts flow immediately through the entirety of your rate period.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  All right.

MS. BARRIE:  Just to clarify, April Barrie, manager of rates and revenue.  Are you specifically looking for what impact you are anticipating on the working capital allowance?

MS. DeMARCO:  I think it goes into a number of factors throughout your rate application.  It goes into the load forecast.  It goes into working capital.  And it goes into any number of sub-items that may play through to your revenue requirement very specifically.

MS. BARRIE:  So at this time Hydro Ottawa is not proposing to include any impacts related to that and any change to the load forecast that would trickle down into those aspects.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just so I am clear on that point.  You have looked at the changes to Regulation 429.04 and you are stating that there are no impacts whatsoever?

MS. BARRIE:  I am saying we have not -- at this time we are not proposing to include any impacts related to the change in regulation.

As you have mentioned, it is very fresh and new, and in terms of looking at any future impacts it's going to be very customer-specific, and at this point in time it's difficult to assess what those impacts are going to be.

Some customers, for example, may be very marginally impacted, where others could be more.  They may or may not be within Hydro Ottawa's service territory.

MS. DeMARCO:  So I guess what I am asking is, understanding that it is fresh, but that it's also extremely relevant to this rate application, will you undertake in a reasonable time period that you feel is doable to assess and update accordingly?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly there are several things at play here.  There were changes that the OEB has suggested in terms of working capital, and there is the regulation that you stated as well.

So we would be prepared to do a high-level assessment of what that impact would be, if they were implemented.

MS. DeMARCO:  Can I get an undertaking number for that, please?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You can.  That will be JT1.7, Lisa.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  TO PROVIDE A HIGH-LEVEL ASSESSMENT OF THE IMPACT OF CHANGES TO REGULATION 429.04, IF THEY WERE IMPLEMENTED

MS. DeMARCO:  And part A and part B is the working capital assessment and the regulation change itself.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you very much.  Sorry to interrupt, Michael.

MR. BROPHY:  No problem.  So Mike Brophy again.  So we're still on Pollution Probe 1, and you've indicated that there was no modelling done for any amounts of O&M, other than what was filed.

So what we're trying to get at in that question as well is you have committed to the 13.1 million cost reduction, and we would assume that would come from some sort of scenario analysis or modelling that would have been done.  But it sounds like that that wasn't the case.

So can you just explain then how that was -- how that number came about and how do you know that you can achieve that if there wasn't any scenario analysis?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So with respect to the $13.1 million, as I indicated earlier, that is a stretch target for Hydro Ottawa to achieve over the 5-year period.

So we need to achieve a $13.1 million productivity savings versus what we had initially put together internally to be able to meet what we have put in the submission.

This is consistent with the OEB's custom rate application approach.  There has to be stretch targets, continuous improvement in productivity built in.

So what we did we developed our custom productivity escalation factor on the basis, including those elements that were talked about earlier with Mr. Frank, the three elements and the resulting factor was 2.51 that we applied to our 2021 base OM&A.

Our initial plan had a growth factor of around approximately 3.6 percent over the period 2021-2025, and the $13 million was a result of applying the 2.5 escalation factor and not the 3.6, and that resulted over that period of a $13.1 million savings.

Now, the second part of your question was how is Hydro Ottawa going to achieve those savings.  We're going to achieve those savings through further productivity and continuous improvement initiatives.  We feel we have put forward a fair bit of evidence about our success in the past and the items that we're carrying forward into this application, and we are committing, as I said through continuous improvement and other productivity initiatives yet to be identified, to achieve a $13.1 million savings over this period.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.  That is a perfect segue into my next question, which is Pollution Probe IR No. 2.

So in that response, you pointed to Exhibit 1-1-13, productivity and continuous improvement initiatives.

I noticed when going through that a large, a significantly large portion of your 13.1 of savings would come from IT-related initiatives, and specifically the digital strategy which outlined a bunch of elements.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So just to be absolutely clear, we have not specifically identified exactly where the $13.1 million savings will come.

However, you do correctly point to the digital strategy as one of the elements where we're hoping to achieve some additional savings.  We feel that the implementation of our digital strategy and the aspects therein will help us achieve other savings and other benefits on an ongoing basis.  So that is one area, in terms of where we hope to find savings.  It would be on the IT side across many aspects the company associated with implementing a digital strategy.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Just to follow up on that, I was trying to understand, when I went through all of the IT initiatives and the digital strategy, you know, what they include in its broader descriptions.  So a lot of IT improvements are done to systems.

Are those -- does that also include things like process improvement, employee innovation, partnerships?  Or is that a separate bucket outside of IT and digital strategy?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Some of those aspects will be within the digital strategy.  But obviously, all parts of the company will cooperate and contribute to the productivity savings.

There will undoubtedly be initiatives in the human resource front and across other aspects of the company that will include process improvements, looking at partnerships, looking at outsourcing where it makes sense, looking at better ways of doing work, reducing wrench time.  There are a whole host of areas where Hydro Ottawa hopes to achieve additional savings, and certainly the 13.1 that we have committed to.

MR. BROPHY:  I think that gave me the clarity I was looking for.  So the process improvements, employee innovation, partnerships and other opportunities to save O&M, you know, there could be some embedded in the IT and digital strategy, but there would be some that are outside and separate from that.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  So if we can go to the digital strategy, it is Exhibit 1-1-13, and I am looking at page 13 of the digital strategy.

If you want, I can wait a minute while you pull that up.  I have lost the visual connection, so let me know when that is up.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Page 13 of 31, sir?

MR. BROPHY:  That's correct, yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have it.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  So if you look at -- there's a listing of the metrics that will be used to judge the success of IT and digital strategy projects, at the bottom.  Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry.  We're having some technical difficulties.  I have incorrectly directed my assistant to the wrong place.  Just give us a second here.

MR. BROPHY:  I thought I was the only one having technical problems today.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, very good.  I have that.  Sorry, my apologies for taking so long.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, no problem.  So, yeah, if you look at the bottom of that page 13, there's metrics that are used to judge the success of the IT projects and digital strategy.

And my question is that I notice that O&M and/or capital cost reductions is not included in any of those metrics.

And the question is that if this is such a large part of where those savings are meant to come from, why are metrics not included there for O&M and capital cost savings?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So I certainly agree with you, sir, that we're hoping to achieve OM&A and capital cost savings as a result of the digital strategy.

OM&A and capital cost savings are captured on other scorecards and other metrics that Hydro Ottawa uses, but I agree it is an important metric in terms of achieving savings.

MR. BROPHY:  So if they haven't -- if IT and digital strategy projects don't have a goal or a target on the savings that you need to find, is there an estimated savings per project in the IT and digital strategy portfolio, or you just have no savings estimates per project?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  At this point in time, we do not have savings estimates per project.  But you do correctly point out that improvements in digital strategy and some of the aspects that are articulated here should go across the company and result in savings both on the OM&A and the capital side.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So then it is fair to say they should contribute, but there is no way right now to -- so I guess the challenge is, there is a lot of different things you can do for IT and digital strategy, and if you are going to prioritize projects, because each one is going to cost money, and you are going to try and focus on the ones that gave you the most benefit, you don't have any way to really rank them by the cost savings benefit they will bring.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Not entirely.  If I could bring you to the same digital strategy that we're talking about, page 5 of 14.  We talk about four important themes there for the digital strategy.

One is around customer-centric offerings and is indicated in our distribution system plan and more importantly in some of the details of the material investment plans.

We have several enhancements to the customer -- to customer-related technologies that we feel will help bring productivity improvements and, more importantly, bring benefits to the customer and the customer experience.

Then there is the evolution of the grid.  So we'll be supporting emerging technologies to improve reliability and reduce outages, so once again there would be many projects undertaken within the DSP which will involve some digital strategy.

Price is obviously -- an increasing cost of electricity ranks as still the most important concern for customers.  And obviously we will be looking where we can implement digital strategies that the benefits outweigh the cost.

And then we also want to make sure that we don't lose focus of energy innovation projects.  Some of these are pilots, like our MiGen project we have put forward.  But energy innovation will help us look towards the future and take advantage of the changes that are obviously happening in the industry with respect to distributed energy resources, microgrids, and EVs.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you for that.

So just to kind of finish up on the digital strategy and IT questions.  So then would it be fair to say that you -- Hydro Ottawa doesn't have a list of IT or projects related to digital strategy, where you would have savings identified or potential savings identified either for O&M or capital?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think the best way I could answer that at this point in time is to say that I think we have, in certain places identified some very specific savings associated with digitization and digital strategy.  Obviously we have not articulated what is going to make up the $13.1 million.  It will be a host of initiatives, one of them being the digital strategy.

And I think if you could give me some time, I think when we come to panel -- when we come to panel 3, talking about benchmarking and some of the productivity savings, I will make sure that I am prepared to answer that very specific question in terms of what we may have specifically identified.

But once again, we have not holistically identified where all of the $13.1 million savings is coming from at this point in time.  So...

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Would it be fair to, if you are able to come up and find you have that information, would you be agreeable to provide a copy?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  What I am saying, sir, is I think when we get to panel 2 and panel 3, I will make sure that the witnesses that are on that panel -- including myself -- have the information hopefully ready to respond to that question at that time.

MS. DeMARCO:  Can I just jump in there for a second?  It is Lisa DeMarco with Distributed Resource Coalition.

I am not fussed as to whether it is now, Mr. Van Dusen, or on panel 3, but one of the aspects that I think the Board and my clients are struggling with is the time period over which the efficiencies are measured from some of these investments or strategies and very specifically in relation to distributed energy resources and the three that you expressly mentioned, the distributed energy resources, the microgrids, and electric vehicles.

It is the comparator between an investment now, which may look like a cost in the immediate term, and the long-term savings or avoided stranded costs.  If there is anything you could look to provide in relation to helping us assess that, it would be very useful, either now or in relation to panel 3 when you reappear.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  All right.  Very good.  I will make sure that I pass the information on.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, thanks.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  It is Mike Brophy again.

Similarly, we had provided some material that we will be asking in relation to things like the Canbrian and TS projects similarly, where there is benefits forecasted versus costs, so we can deal with that at that time as well.

Okay.  So moving on to Pollution Probe IR 3.  I don't think you have to pull it up, but the question is, in your response we had asked to reconcile some of the numbers, and Hydro Ottawa indicated it received a credit of .8 million in 2019 in part from a rebate due to improvement in claims status year over year.

I am assuming, you know, that if your claim status remains, you know, similar to 2019 and future years, you would then receive the same .8 million credit in 2020 and beyond.  Is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  This is Angela Collier, director of finance.  My understanding, no, that is not correct.  The one-time credit that we received of .8 million referred to in Pollution Probe 3 in 2019 was largely because of the surcharge levied in 2018 just because of the timing of when WSIB does their reporting and the claims.

So my understanding is, if we have same performance, we probably won't be charged an additional surcharge, but we also won't get another rebate.

MR. BROPHY:  So then you believe that they wouldn't be charging you the same amount.  They would adjust the charge down, say, for 2020 or future years.  So therefore you're already lower and you wouldn't get the rebate.  Is that what you said?

MS. COLLIER:  What I said was the rebate that we received in 2019 is because of an additional surcharge that occurred in 2018.  And when they saw that our performance was better than what they predicted in 2018, they refunded some of that surcharge back to us in 2019.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  But your claim premiums would be based on things like, you know, amount of employees and then your claim record, which I guess is equal to risk.

So, you know, if all things were equal year to year, same amount of employees and same average claims and risk profile, then I am assuming that your premiums would be similar and, therefore, they would either reduce the amount so that you wouldn't get your .8 million back or, if they stayed the same and you ended up, you know, having the same good record, then you would get the same credit back.

So I am just having some trouble.  Maybe you could just help me understand that.

MS. COLLIER:  Well, there is two elements to that.  The premiums for sure will remain consistent from year to year.  That's our expectation based on number of employees.  There's some forecasted increases in premium rates.  But the -- this surcharge that occurred in 2018 was a result, I believe, of one individual that just had gone on long-term disability, and so they charged us an additional surcharge in 2018.  But in 2019 when the report was done, he wasn't on LTD for as long.  And so they refunded us.

So that credit in '19 had to do with a charge in 2018, which is why we're not expecting that same credit to occur in 2020.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thanks.  I think that is all I had on that one.  I am moving to Pollution Probe IR 3(b) and there was a table there.

So Hydro Ottawa indicated that 2.1 million in salaries and a portion of the 2 million increase in benefit costs would be due to filling vacancies from 2019.  Is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  That's primarily correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I did notice, though, in the table that actually the vacancy rate is increasing from 2019, so you have more vacancies in 2020 than you did in 2019.

So it looks like the trend is to have more vacancies, not less.  Can you help me understand that?

MS. COLLIER:  Sure.  So the table that you are referring to, table A on Pollution Probe 3, the middle column of 2020 actuals is our FTE as of the pay period ending May 8th, 2020.

So while we forecast a return to normal vacancy rates in 2020 and 2021, we certainly did not forecast the current pandemic situation.  So we have a much higher vacancy rate in 2020, which is what you are seeing reflected in these numbers, largely due to executive decisions taken to preserve cashflow, especially with not knowing kind of impact on revenue and payment of customer bills to halt or to let go some of our part-time staff, or contract staff and to halt any hiring right now.

So vacancies are not currently being filled.  So the 2020 numbers are a COVID-19 situation, which we're not expecting to impact the 2021 FTE numbers.

MR. BROPHY:  And I did hear earlier, you know, a bit of discussion around COVID-19 as well.  So it sounds like, you know, for 2020, certainly be impacted, including on FTE numbers and then, you know, you are hoping or, you know, you believe that hopefully, you know, past 2020, you know, things will start to recover.

So what I was looking at is, you know, pre COVID which it is a bit hard to forecast during the COVID period on things like FTEs just because of what you just explained.

But if we looked at 2019, which would be pre-COVID, that is probably the best pre-COVID estimate of what vacancies would be like.

So would it be fair to say, like, you know, no utility -- including Hydro Ottawa -- would ever have zero vacancies.  You would always have some.  Would the 2019 numbers be better than 2020 in that table to use as an estimate on what your vacancies would be if COVID started to decrease its impacts?

MS. COLLIER:  No, we don't believe so.  So yes, of course Hydro Ottawa would not have zero vacancies and we factor about a 4 percent vacancy rate in our 2021 forecast, and that is in line with historical trending.

In 2018 and 2019, we did experience higher vacancy rates, largely attributable to, one, the labour market in Ottawa, as well as difficulty with staffing certain positions, certain professional positions, certain technical positions, which we don't -- which obviously we've put in strategies and recruiting strategies and have been out in the market now and have those plans in place.  This is why we're not forecasting this higher vacancy rate to continue.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So if the 2019 numbers did hold or something in that range, you would be saving part of the -- well, you would be saving the 2.1 million in increased costs due to filling all of those vacancies.  And then I understand you would be saving a portion of the 2 million which relates to the increase in benefit costs due to filling those vacancies, so somewhere between 2.1 and 4.1 million.

Can you undertake to provide what your estimate would be if you retained the same vacancy rate in -- for 2019 from the table?

MS. COLLIER:  We could do that.  However, I would like to add that the 2019 -- the 2019 vacancy rate is not a sustainable position for us.  Having that level of vacancy puts a lot of pressure on the other staff, trying to cover-off those work loads and it's not -- it's not something that we would want to build into a plan.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and I understand that.  So to the extent you have to put a note underneath that calculation and numbers to that effect, I am fine with that.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.  So just so I understand the undertaking then clearly, you want me to reforecast the 2021 compensation and benefit with a vacancy rate equivalent to that of 2019?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and indicate which portion of the 2.1 million from salaries and the 2 million in related benefits would be saved in relation to that, that scenario.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.

MS. COLLIER:  The undertaking number?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO REFORECAST THE 2021 COMPENSATION AND BENEFIT WITH A VACANCY RATE EQUIVALENT TO 2019; TO INDICATE SAVINGS IN SALARIES AND RELATED BENEFITS

MS. COLLIER:  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I am just checking some of these questions.  They were answered.

Okay.  So the next question is in relation to Pollution Probe 8, but I will just give you the reference.  So in Exhibit 4-2-1, page 4, I indicated that the pricing methodology for financial services provided by Hydro Ottawa to its affiliates changed in 2018 from being based on the proportionate share of costs factored by time spent being based on the number and/or value transactions process.

Can you explain the difference and, you know, what that means?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  This is Angela Collier, director of finance.  So previously we had staff, like our accounts payable staff as an example, estimate how much time they thought they were spending on Hydro Ottawa Limited pay runs and cheque runs and electronic funds transfers and whatnot, verses the other affiliates.

And what we decided to do was move that to a more -- I am looking for the right word -- a more measurable target instead of going to time sheets for all administrative work, so that if we had a thousand cheques run in a year and 800 of them were Hydro Ottawa Limited and the other 200 were affiliates, then that is how we would split that unit's cost, because those are that are easy to obtain, and verify, and audit from our financial system.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And have you found that those are roughly equivalent methods as far as the cost impact?

MS. COLLIER:  I would have to -- I don't remember exactly the number or the changes.  I think in some cases some of them, you know, went in different directions.

MR. BROPHY:  Just generally speaking.  Like, in my mind when I looked at those, they should be somewhat the same and I understand the difference you are applying.  I am just trying to understand if they actually end up being relatively the same.

MS. COLLIER:  Again, I don't think there are huge differences.  I think we, you know, we take out the human element sometimes of how long people think they spend on certain tasks and put it to a more concrete, measurable item.  But I don't think there were dramatic changes. Some went up.  Some went down.  But overall I don't think it changed it dramatically.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And then so the new methodology you are using, is that the same methodology you used for pricing services that Hydro Ottawa receives from its affiliates as well?

MS. COLLIER:  No.  For the most part the service that Hydro Ottawa receives from its affiliate is corporate allocation from the holding company, and the majority of that is based on time study and interviews conducted with those individuals.  We don't have that measurable accounting system data for that type of service.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So the pricing that Hydro Ottawa receives from its affiliates, it sounds like you are using the original methodology of proportional share of costs?  Is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  And I will bring you to Exhibit 4-2-1, page 3, Table 1.  I just want to make sure that it's clear.  There's a number of services that Hydro Ottawa is providing to its affiliates that are still based on time, right?  Regulatory services, legal services, communications, you know, as shown in that table.

So that table indicates all of the functional services that are provided and the pricing methodology.  So in some cases -- in a number of cases it's the same methodology that Hydro Ottawa is charging to our affiliates as they are receiving from holdco, but there were a number of changes in the finance section where we based it on measurable data that was available through our accounting system.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So then it sounds like you used the number and/or value of transactions processed for some, but you actually used that other methodology for some as well. You didn't move everything over to the new method.  Right?

MS. COLLIER:  We simply can't, right?

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MS. COLLIER:  There is a number of things that can't be just based on a volumetric data point that's not available.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  My next question was in relation to SEC IR 1, and it linked to some COVID impacts.  And I can read the point that I am referencing.

So Hydro Ottawa indicated that small commercial accounts and arrears increased by a factor of five.  For all other commercial accounts the increase had a factor of four.

Can you provide what that means in percentage terms?  Like, you know, what did that bring it from and to in percentage terms of arrear?

MS. COLLIER:  I don't have that table in front of me.  But what I can say is we've seen significant improvements since we filed this IR, and certainly since the April trajectory that we were seeing there.

So as Greg -- Mr. Van Dusen mentioned earlier, May and June have shown much -- an improvement in the collection of those items.  There's still -- in all classes, there is still a growth in kind of the outstanding accounts receivable debt, but not to the -- these factors mentioned here.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I am certainly happy to hear that.

MS. COLLIER:  As are we.

MR. BROPHY:  I am trying to understand just like in a dollar term, you know, increases by a factor of four to five, you know, what that meant.  Is that something -- I know that it has changed since then.  But just as a reference point, is that something that you can provide a calculation on and the number?

MS. COLLIER:  We could, yes.  And I could potentially pull up the graph and speak to it after lunch if that works.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So why don't --


MS. COLLIER:  Or do you prefer an undertaking?

MR. BROPHY:  I think an undertaking would be fine.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  WITH REFERENCE TO SEC #1, COVID IMPACTS, TO UPDATE DATA ON THE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE DEBT.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, while I am here, Mr. Brophy, do you have a sense of timing for the rest of your questions?

MR. BROPHY:  I am only hoping to be about five more minutes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  Okay.  So for those amounts that are incremental arrears amounts, is it your intent to put those into the COVID accounts that were created?

MS. COLLIER:  We are waiting for additional guidance on those three deferral accounts issued by the Ontario Energy Board and specifics on calculations as to how we estimate COVID-19 impacts versus, you know, other regular kind of bad debt issues, but, yes, our intent would be to put some of this in those accounts.

MR. BROPHY:  So then if your intent is to put it into those accounts, it's fair to say you are not forecasting that you would have to absorb those incremental costs as part of your custom IR application; is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  And we haven't.  We haven't -- I mean, obviously our custom application was put in long before the pandemic arose.  So we're definitely not forecasting that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  My final questions were on Environmental Defence IR 11(d), which related to the City of Ottawa's Energy Evolution Plan.

You can pull it up, or you don't need to.  In there Hydro -- it's indicated:

"Hydro Ottawa has been actively engaged in the development and implementation of the City of Ottawa's Energy Evolution initiative since its inception in 2015."

Can you confirm which person is responsible at Hydro Ottawa for the day-to-day coordination with Energy Evolution?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  My apologies, I was muted.  It is Greg Van Dusen.  So a couple of things.  One is there will be a person on a future panel, Patrick Brown, who will be able to talk to the details of the Energy Evolution.  He is one of the people heavily involved in the discussions with the City on energy evolution.

There are people in the customer area who are taking the lead in terms of Hydro Ottawa's representation and work with the City of Ottawa, and I think it would be best if you put the questions when Patrick Brown was present.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I can do that.  Just to clarify, you know, my remaining questions right now were on Energy Evolution and related to, you know, the timing allocation, links to asset plan, links to strategic plan.  Is it fair to say that Patrick Brown would be the right person for all of those questions?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  To the extent that Patrick Brown was not the right person, then Laurie Heuff would be, and they're both on panel 2.  So I am going to suggest that panel 2 is probably the best place to pose those questions.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Mr. Brophy.  It is 12:50 right now.  So I would like to reconvene at 1:35.  That will give us a 45-minute lunch break, and we will continue with Julie Girvan for CCC.

Thanks, everybody.  We will see you then.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:50 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We're back and we will be going ahead with Julie Girvan for CCC.

MS. GIRVAN:  Are the witnesses ready?  Where are they?

MR. CASS:  Sorry.  We're just waiting for the witnesses to completely assemble.  We are almost ready.  Sorry about that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Mr. Cass.

[Off-the-record discussion]


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We're back after the lunch break.  We are going to go ahead with Julie Girvan for CCC. I understand the panel is ready.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we are.
Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could I just briefly just go to SEC No. 2, and that is attachment A, page 31.  Sorry I didn't give you this before.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  What page again, Ms. Girvan?

MS. GIRVAN:  Page 31 of 125.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Thank you.

MR. VAN DUSEN: Yes, we're there.

MS. GIRVAN:  This is a presentation made to the board of directors, I just wanted to determine whether these are the numbers that they approved in approving the rate application.  So it's basically the rate changes, the CAPEX, the O&M, et cetera.  Is this what the board of directors approved?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The board of directors actually received a summary of the application, as well as the Hydro Ottawa Limited business plan.

In addition, they received a presentation from myself and the chief financial officer.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So that was the information that was presented.

MS. GIRVAN:  So this is what was presented to them right in front of me?  Are those numbers consistent with all of what you just said?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am just trying to look for the exact date on this.  September 23rd.   Just one second, I am just checking.

There was a presentation made to the board of directors as part of the final application on November 28th.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN: If you go to page 44 of 125, there was an update on the rate application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  And if you go to page 47, which is in that presentation, it shows you the initial numbers that we provided to the Board on October 30th and then the updated residential bill impacts on November 28th.

There were some small changes between November 28th and the filing of the application on February 12th.  They were verbally communicated to the chair of the board of directors by their president and CEO.

MS. GIRVAN:  So what changed between October 30th and November 28th that led to an increase of, on average, 5 percent versus 4.5 percent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Those changes -- actually, if I can ask Ms. Barrie.  Do you recall the exact details of what the changes were then?  As you know, Ms. Girvan, the final changes, including the impact of the actual results, has brought that average down once again to 4.5 in total.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So our final numbers which were provided in the response to OEB 38, summarized after the -- after all of the interrogatory responses, the average residential rate increase over the period is 4.5.

I believe the changes we're seeing here between October 30th and November 28th were refinements in load forecast cost allocation and rate design, as noted at the bottom of that overhead.  We were still doing some finalized details there.

So this was kind of the next best snapshot and when we submitted it, it was -- I think 4.45 percent was the average increase when we submitted initially on February 10th, and that was updated to 4.95 or something like that.  I could easily find that.

MS. GIRVAN:  If you could quickly go back to 31 again,  I just -- again, these numbers sort of the various elements of your application.

Were there any concerns expresses by the Board about the fact that your capital in-service additions were $65 million above what the boar5d approved in that period?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There was considerable discussion on all of these points, with both the senior management team and at the board meeting.

We did alert them that we had overspent on our capital program and consequently on our in-service additions versus the OEB-approved.

We felt confident that the choices we made and the Trade-offs we made in the period 2016-2020 were valid and could be defended, and notwithstanding the fact it was above the OEB approved level, that it was legitimate expenditures made to the system to ensure safety, reliability dealing with aging demographics.

MS. GIRVAN:  So your board explicitly approved that overrun?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.

If you could now turn to OEB No. 47, please?  And I am just struggling -- we had a discussion this morning.  If you could turn to page 2, please.

So I am just struggling again with this issue of the productivity and the 17.5 million because I don't See -- going forward in 2021, your O&M levels are, I think,$94 million, where we see -- I realize there is a bit of capital in this, but where we see the 17.5 reflected in the 94 million.

I am just having trouble making that connection.

MS. COLLIER:  Certainly.  This is Angela Collier.  First of all, the 17.5 is a 5-year cumulative total.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MS. COLLIER:  And I've taken an interrogatory this morning  -- not an interrogatory, an undertaking this morning to update OEB 47 with a 2021 column that will show all of the items.

Many of them will be similar to the 2020 column and some additional ones added, that will show you all of the reductions that are in the 2021 OM&A forecast.

MS. GIRVAN:  Because I guess what I would expect to see -- and maybe we will see this -- but you say it is cumulative.  But I would expect that in the base for 2020-2021, we would have an explicit $17.5 million reduction.

MS. COLLIER:  No, because they these are annual amounts, right.

So online billing, if I will take that first one, we don't -- we're not going to save $8.5 million each year.  We're saving in the ballpark of 2 per year.

So what you will see for 2021 will be similar to the total for 2020, although there will be some new items added, and the dark fibre one is a million dollars, so the number will likely be higher than the 2020 number, but you won't see the five-year total.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Then I am again confused about the 13 million.  So just bear with me, because I want to make sure I fully understand this.

So when you were developing the budget for 2021, the $94 million, how did you go about that?  I mean, I know -- I have seen the evidence in terms of your budgeting, but how did you develop the 94 million?

MS. COLLIER:  Similar to how we developed our budgets in any given year.  We follow kind of both a top-down and bottom-up approach.  So each program and department and division lays out their plans for the following year and dollars are put against that.

There's constraints we put on that to ensure that the budget is -- aligns with those items.  So, you know, things like the e-billing one on the top of this list, when the 2021 is put together we will put together a billing target and make sure that the amount that we have for paper billing is reflective of that e-billing target that we have for 2021.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So then my understanding is initially you had a 3.5 percent escalator.  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So over the period '21 to '25, the submitted plans from the business units represented an average annual CAGR of 3.6 percent.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So that would have been '21 over '25.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's when you did each year?  I don't know what --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  So it was like putting together a cost of service estimate for each --


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, five-year --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  -- of -- the five-year -- that is how we started it.  Then to conform to the Board's policies with respect to a custom application and to build in additional stretch targets, we applied a factor of 2.51, the 2021 base, and that results in the $13.1 million stretch target versus what we otherwise would have submitted versus a cost of service.

MS. GIRVAN:  That was the 3.5 versus the 2.5?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you call this a productivity escalator.  But there is no productivity in it, because there is zero percent productivity.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am not quite sure I understand.  I mean, the productivity is embedded.  I mean, that is what we call the factor.  It is an escalation factor.  This is an escalation factor which is lower than it would have been under a cost of service regime.

MS. GIRVAN:  But the --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The productivity is the difference between the two, which is the $13.1 million.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But there's no productivity in the formula.  That's something we can argue about later.  That's okay.  It's just --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  There is a stretch factor.  I mean, you know, how we came up with the specific factor and all of the aspects of it, yes, it is for another panel.  But there is productivity embedded on it.  We embedded a stretch factor to come up with that escalating factor.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I was going -- I had a question on the scorecard measures.  Is that for --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Ms. Girvan --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- if I can just follow up on this chart.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.

THE REPORTER:  Who is speaking, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am somewhat confused --


THE REPORTER:  Who is speaking, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry?

THE REPORTER:  Who is --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm Mark Rubenstein.  I apologize.

I'm a little just -- based on some of the discussion you had with Ms. Girvan and some discussion this morning with staff, I am just a bit confused on what this table is showing.  There is a question you had earlier this morning -- it is showing annual incremental productivity savings versus total savings -- versus total savings?  And as I understood what you were saying on the annual numbers -- not the total numbers -- it is not showing the incremental savings in the year.

So for example, in 2017 the total 2.2 million is not showing that over 2016 we achieved an additional 2.2 million.  Do I have that right?

MS. COLLIER:  I mean, some of the -- so these are annual numbers.  Some of these productivity initiatives have an annual -- have an annual factor, right?  And I hate to kind of go back to the e-billing one, but it is one of the maybe -- well, it is one of the larger ones.  We send out bills every month.  So every year we are saving that amount of postage, that amount of print bill costs, each year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me just give you an example if we take the 2017 number.  If not for the productivity initiative, 2017, your costs would be $1.4 million.

MS. COLLIER:  Higher, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so let me give you an example.  If we go to 2019 reduction in overtime usage, in 2019 it is 1.8 million.  Then I see zero in 2020.  So do I read it that whatever you did in 2019, it disappeared in 2020?

MS. COLLIER:  So the overtime -- so I guess, essentially, yes.  In 2019 our overtime was at an all-time low.  It was a combination of a number of factors.  It had to do with the fact that we were extremely lucky with respect to emergency response work and storms and whatnot, which, you know, we didn't have in the other years.

And so we are not necessarily forecasting to have that overtime at that level in 2020.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So how is that -- that adds -- actually raises another issue.  How is then less storms, how is that in a productivity initiative?  You didn't do anything about that.  That is just, that's the weather that year.  Like, to me a productivity initiative is something you are doing to reduce overtime.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  And I think, you know, I see where you are going with that, and I am not sure it fully belongs in this table.

Having said that, certainly over the course of '21 to 2025 some of the plans to achieve the $13 million stretch will have to do with overtime, and we are putting in place some additional overtime measures, of which some were likely achieved in the 2019 figure, which is what led to probably putting this number in this table, and those have to do with -- and Ms. Heuff could speak more clearly to it in panel 2 tomorrow.

But it has to do with looking more judiciously, I guess, at overtime, especially for planned work, and while sometimes it may be customer-friendly to take out a customer's power at night to do a repair, it might not be the most cost-efficient way to do it, so we're
looking at --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand what you mean --


MS. COLLIER:  -- you know, other ways.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't mean to cut you off, but I am just looking at the table with historic numbers, just trying to understand what the 17.5 million is.

So I guess, are you able to provide an undertaking that explains for each of the initiatives how they're calculated?  Because if there are other things on this list that are likely a reduction of [audio dropout] we talked about now  where it is a reduction in costs, but it is actually not a productivity initiative, it is just...

MS. COLLIER:  I am just looking at the list to see if I can answer that right now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Because I see a number of things on this list that are really one year, and they don't repeat.  So it seems to me then either they are not initiatives or they're productivity initiatives that obviously didn't succeed the next year, because you have zero built in for them.

So I am looking at outbound calling, planned work and vegetation management practices, cable chamber inspections, data centre intelligent migration.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes, the data centre intelligent migration, as we indicated on page 1, is capital.  I don't know the answer to the cable chamber and the vegetation management project.  That would be Ms. Heuff that could speak to those.

There are -- so we could take an undertaking.  Sure.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, because I agree with Mark.  I think the 17.5 is misleading, and I was just, I think -- I think it would be helpful to have a presentation that would better reflect your productivity initiatives.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.  So Mr. Rubenstein, can you clarify the undertaking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I am looking for, if you take Table A on this page -- sorry, I don't recall what the actual page is.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you could explain how you calculated for each of the initiatives.  And then if there are things you feel are actually not productivity initiatives when you do that analysis, if you could let us know and are truly just reflective of change of costs from year to year based on nothing that Hydro Ottawa has done.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that undertaking JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10: WITH RESPECT TO TABLE A IN OEB STAFF 47 UPDATED IN JT1.1, TO PLEASE EXPLAIN HOW HYDRO OTTAWA CALCULATED SAVINGS FOR EACH OF THE LISTED INITIATIVES

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  This is Mark Garner.  Can I also jump in?   I don't want to jump all over this, but I think we're all probably struggling through the same point.

Just as you are doing that undertaking, I think at least for me the confusion for instance is you -- your on-billing enhancements.  At the end of your table, you have savings of $8.5 million.  But that's hard to sort of understand if your whole billing and collection budget is 12.5 million dollars.

In a sense, it would say to me now you're billing, billing stuff, you know, in the OM&A category should be $4 million, and obviously it isn't.  So I am scratching my head going how does that work, how does the 1.4, 1.4, 1.7 all work.  Yet you have a total budget of $12.7 million for billing and collecting in total.  You know what I mean?

MS. COLLIER:  So again --


MR. GARNER:  That is what I am confused by.

MS. COLLIER:  Sorry.  Angela Collier.  This is a 5-year total and what it is saying is had we not undertaken our e-billing productivity initiative, our costs for customer billing would be, in 2020, $2 million higher than what you are seeing on that other schedule.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.

MS. COLLIER:  Because we would be mailing out all paper bills, and that cost is way higher.

MR. GARNER:  Thanks, Ms. Collier.  The way I should read it is I should take the total 8.5 million and say, therefore, but for those initiatives, instead of the 2021 billing and collecting total being 12.7 million this year, it would have been -- what's 12 and eight -- $20 million sort of thing, in that sort of range.

Is that what you're saying?

MS. COLLIER:  You wouldn't add the 5-year total, but you would add the annual total.

MR. GARNER:  You would add the one year annual.

MS. COLLIER:  You can take the 2020 number and get to what you are looking for.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, that's helpful.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, Ms. Collier, just as a clarification to my undertaking.  You provided an undertaking in JT1.1 to do the 2021 initiatives.  So I would ask that actually your explanation actually be reflective of what you put in that answer.  So if there are additional 2021 initiatives, you are providing the basis of that information.

MS. COLLIER:  Certainly.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just so that I am clear on this -- sorry to interrupt, Julie, it is Lisa DeMarco.

In relation to this table A, these are effectively already accounted for.  Is that fair?

MS. COLLIER:  So these are the savings that occurred in the 2016-2020 period, and yes, in the 2021 numbers, those that are continuing are already reduced in those OM&A numbers.

MS. GIRVAN:  For example at 2021, you are not going to see a benefit related to the outbound calling for planned work and vegetation management projects?

MS. COLLIER:  That one I personally can't speak to.  I don't have the answer as to why it's only showing up in 2018.  I will verify with Ms. Heuff on panel 2 tomorrow.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could you --


MS. DeMARCO:  Actually, Julie, can we get an undertaking in relation to all of the columns that have no numbers for 2020?

MS. COLLIER:  So that I believe is part of the SEC undertaking, because I think it will be captured in that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just so we clarify that, I wonder if we want to make that expressly clear in the SEC undertaking.

MS. GIRVAN:  I think she understands.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you please turn to Staff 51, please?  So if you look at -- keep scrolling down, okay.  The one that I was interested in was OM&A costs per customer.  It's on here, right?  Yes, there, at the top of that page.

So I just wondered -- when you deal with OM&A costs per customer, is it a target every year?  And if so, I am wondering why we see the OM&A cost per customer going up each year.  Is this something that you strive to reduce?  Is it a metric that you try to reduce?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's Greg Van Dusen.  So this is a measure that we monitor; as it says, we monitor our results.

So we take a look at how we've done year over year and to the extent that we see increasing trends, then we analyze why are the trends increasing and what can we do about it.

But it is more of a looking backwards than it is looking forward measure, taking a look at how we've done.  We usually use the OEB's yearbook to compile the information.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can you explain why O&M is increasing significantly from 2019 to 2020?  Is that something you have analyzed?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  If you actually go to Exhibit 4-1-4 is it, Ms. Collier?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes, I spoke to this briefly this morning.  There are a number of reasons why 2019 is lower than 2021.

Compensation, as we talked about this morning, largely because of the reduced overtime that we just mentioned.  Also a high vacancy rate that we talked about this morning.  We had that WSIB rebate in 2019 numbers.  Our vegetation management, which -- this is all in Exhibit 4-1-4.  Our vegetation management contract -- actually, there was a delay in the contract renewal, so we actually didn't trim as many trees as we normally would in an annual year.

There is just -- there is a number of factors that kind of contributed to 2019 being unusually low.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So just going back to this chart just quickly.  I want to move on.  But so you don't have a target for 2021?  You are not trying to say, hey, let's get our O&M per customer down?  Is that something you do internally?

MS. COLLIER:  We look at OM&A in total, and this is part of our productivity initiative across the company to ensure that our OM&A levels are as low as they can be.

But in terms of OM&A per customer, this is -- as Mr. Van Dusen just said, it is something we monitor and we don't set a specific target for 2021.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  Thank you.  Can you please turn to Staff 115, please?  So I just wanted to understand.  You had a discussion this morning with Board Staff regarding the facilities costs.

I thought I heard you say the 66 that was approved by the Board wasn't, in your view, the actual -- going to be the actual cost of the project.  You just saw that as a cap of what you were allowed to spend.  And I just wanted to understand the difference between the 66 and the 99, just at a high level.

Can you better explain what the 66, how you perceived that?

MS. COLLIER:  Sure.  How we perceived the 66 is this was the Ontario Energy Board approving what I would call provisional funding of up to $66 million, to enable Hydro Ottawa to proceed with our plan and proceed with a request for proposal, and that we would come back with the final cost of this project and it would be subject to a prudence review at a later date, which happens to be in this application.

The 66 million -- and Ms. Barrie could speak to this -- you know, they granted that provisional funding in a deferral account.

MS. GIRVAN:  So they used those words?  I haven't gone back to look at it, but those were the words they used, provisional funding?

MS. COLLIER:  We have some quotes in the original --


MS. GIRVAN:  I can look that up.  I can look that up.  But I just -- it wasn't clear to me that that is what the Board actually said, but I can go back and look at it.  Are you looking it up, or do you want...

MS. COLLIER:  I am just looking to see if I can find the actual quote from the OEB.

MS. GIRVAN:  You know what?  I can actually look that up, Angela.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  And I just wanted to better understand just for my benefit --


MS. COLLIER:  I think I just found the quote, actually.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Just give me the reference, and I can look that up.

MS. COLLIER:  Sure.  So in the evidence -- I don't know if I have the OEB reference -- but in our evidence it is on Exhibit 2, tab 1, Schedule 1, Attachment A, page 13, kind of midway down that page --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I'll have a look.

MS. COLLIER:  -- and it says:

"The OEB is prepared to approve Y-factor treatment based on the recovery of up to 66 million combined for the purpose of the new buildings.  The 66 million was determined by the OEB as a reasonable amount to enable Hydro Ottawa to proceed with the request for proposal process."

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Okay.  And then briefly just remind me again the difference between the 73 and the 99.

MS. COLLIER:  Sorry, where are you seeing the 73?

MS. GIRVAN:  73 was your original forecast.

MS. COLLIER:  So the original forecast was 92 --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MS. COLLIER:  -- 73 is the construction amount.  The land is the delta.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And the difference between this 92 and 99?

MS. COLLIER:  The 92, when we filed the application in April of 2015, as I mentioned this morning, was a high-level parametric estimate, and actually, I will respond to one of the OEB Staff questions now.

There were no drawings of the building at that time.  So it was high-level program cost.  And then the estimate actually came in much higher.  But we did a number of cuts to the program, and the final cost is 99.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Can you please turn to OEB 126.  And this is about the shared services cost allocation.  And you have made some changes.  And I just wanted to know sort of directionally, have the changes that you made increased or reduced Hydro Ottawa's costs?  The allocation to Hydro Ottawa.

MS. COLLIER:  So the changes that we made are not costs coming into Hydro Ottawa, but services that Hydro Ottawa's providing to other affiliates.  So it is revenue.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, has it increased or decreased the revenue?

MS. COLLIER:  I don't have -- I don't have that comparison.  From my recollection of that, there were a number of pluses and minuses, and I think materially it was not a significant change.  But if you need that, I would have to --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I would like to see that analysis.  Jamie?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  I'm here.  We will make that JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO PROVIDE THE UPDATED ANALYSIS FOR OEB 126.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

Okay.  If you could turn to Staff 140, please.  So -- and if you scroll down, again, I am just trying to understand the first round of reductions.

So you developed your budget under a five-year cost of service basis and then you made reductions of 21.6?  Is that -- I am still struggling with this process.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  So my apologies.  The response to this question is -- certainly could be clearer.

First of all, the largest component of the $21.6 million reduction, as we talked about this morning, has to do with a change in the service level agreement allocation of costs, subject to OEB guidelines.  So those are now removed from OM&A and presented as a reduction of other revenue.  So that change was --


MS. GIRVAN:  So that's --


MS. COLLIER:  So it is a reclass, it's a reclass, absolutely.

MS. GIRVAN:  So the 21 isn't really important in the sense it's just -- it's not you found $21 million to save.  That's -- okay.  You are right.  It was a little misleading --


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  Yes, I agree.

MS. GIRVAN:  If you could turn to turn to Staff 142, please.  And if you scroll down.  It talks about -- I think a little further.  Can you go down further?  Is there another -- yeah.  It talks about these, what I call -- what we call merit increases for executive and management.

So for the purposes of developing your 2021 budget, do you embed this -- the amounts of the 3 and potentially 3 to 4 percent merit increases in your budget?

MS. COLLIER:  No.

MS. GIRVAN:  You don't?  So what do you assume?

MS. COLLIER:  We assume a number that aligns with historical trending on what merit increases have been.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  What did you assume for 2021?

MS. COLLIER:  I am just going to see if I have that.  And your question is particular to executives?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  So I don't have that exact percentage.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you undertake to provide that?

MS. COLLIER:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. GIRVAN:  So just to clarify as well, are these merit increases over and above inflationary increases?

MS. COLLIER:  No.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So they're just the overall increases?

MS. COLLIER:  Exactly.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If you could provide that number, what is embedded in 2021, that would be helpful.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will give that number JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER FOR 2021 WITH PARTICULAR TO EXECUTIVES.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

And if you could turn to Staff 148.  There was a discussion this morning with Mr. Ritchie.  And if you turn to page 2, please.  It says -- it says:

"If directed by the OEB panel, Hydro Ottawa will update its short-term debt rate at the time of the 2021 draft rate order."

Why isn't that something you would just agree to, in light of the current circumstances?

MR. TEJWANI:  It is Neal Tejwani.  The forecast submitted for cost of capital are for the period '21 through '25.  Currently interest rates have fallen precipitously due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the efforts of the central bank and the government to stimulate the economy.

It is our view that rates may return to a more neutral level during our rate term.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you are not agreeing to it at this point?

MR. TEJWANI:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If you could turn now to CCC number 8, please.  So there are four bench -- and if you would scroll down, please.  There are four benchmarking studies that you did.  And three of them weren't subject to an RFP process, and you have given a rationale, but I guess from our perspective is, how can we really ensure that these studies were independent, given you haven't done an RFP and, in fact, the rationale for not doing so is because you had a pre-existing relationship with them?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So Ms. Girvan, these are very large firms with large reputations to keep intact for their work that they do, ensuring that the work is independent, ensuring that the work can be brought forward to regulatory tribunals and tested in front of regulatory tribunals.  So the firms themself have a lot at stake in terms of ensuring that their work is independent.

We had looked at the existing sort of roster of companies that were available and made the decision that this was the best, in terms of getting an independent study and getting it done on a time line that would be useful for a corporation into the rate application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can you explain how the pricing for these studies was derived?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We would have asked each of these companies for an estimate of the work and reviewed that estimate and had discussions with them, to the extent we thought the estimate was too much.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  Thank you.  If you could turn to CCC No. 12, please?  So I am just -- I may have missed this.  So this lists the management team and then below, there is also the positions in the holding company and there is overlap.

So what I wanted to better understand is the senior executive -- well, the executive level, which are all of these different -- the executive management team.

What is the allocation between the holding company and the distribution company, with respect to the compensation for these individuals?  Like, and if you could even just give me ballpark?  Is it 90-10, is it 50-50, and is that anywhere in the evidence?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  So I will direct you to OEB 49, page 5 of 7.  The executive compensation that is allocated to Hydro Ottawa Limited from Hydro Ottawa Holding Inc. is at the bottom in that table -- sorry.  OEB 49, page 5, the updated version, yes.  Sorry.  We're just pulling it up.

Anyway, if you have it, Ms. Girvan, it's table B at the bottom of page 5.  It indicates that there's approximately 1.4 million allocated out of a total of three million.

MS. GIRVAN:  1.4 allocated to?

MS. COLLIER:  Hydro Ottawa Limited from the holding company.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So it is about 50-50?

MS. COLLIER:  Not quite.  But, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  Thank you.  CCC No. 13, please.  This is about the quarterly reports.  But again down below, it says that there were board meetings scheduled in May and June 2020.

I just wondered if we had any of the presentations that were made to the board in May and June of 2020 resulting from those board meetings.

MS. COLLIER:  So at the time we filed this interrogatory, those meetings had not occurred.  So that's indicated in the last line of that interrogatory response.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MS. COLLIER:  We have not yet filed those meetings.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could we get that information, please?

MS. COLLIER:  Absolutely.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that will be JT1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  TO FILE ANY PRESENTATIONS GIVEN AT BOARD MEETINGS IN MAY AND JUNE 2020


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  CCC No. 15.  I am getting close to the end.

MS. COLLIER:  You are very fast.

MS. GIRVAN:  CCC No. 15, please.  Is it coming?

MS. COLLIER:  Natasha?  CCC 15.

MS. GIRVAN:  I may be too fast.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I finally caught up to the last, to the third-last interrogatory you asked.

[Laughter]

MS. COLLIER:  I am trying to keep pace, but it is very fast.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just with respect to the Innovative Research, which the total cost of that is $304,000, my question is really does any of the information that you have gathered from that customer engagement, is that used by the holding company or any of the other affiliates?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  I would say no.

MS. GIRVAN:  You would say no?  Okay.  If you could turn to CCC No. 67, please?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  So if you scroll down and just looking at table A, I just had a few questions about this table.  Again, these are specific kinds of areas of O&M.

I just wondered if you could explain how the numbers for each of these, how they were derived for 2021.  So I guess what I am really asking is this is part of your budgeting process, and then where you made your reductions, is that what happened in 2021?

MS. COLLIER:  Sorry.  Can you go to -- after the table, Natasha.

So all of our assumptions with respect to each item in this response is detailed in the page following the table.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Okay, go ahead.

MS. COLLIER:  I am wondering do you have a specific question.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  If you can scroll up to the table again, I have a couple of questions.

When you look at corporate costs, what's the inflationary assumption?  Why do you have an inflationary assumption there, but you don't have it in any of the other areas?

MS. COLLIER:  I mean, some of the other areas, right, so compensation.  There's a merit which is, you know, equivalent to an inflationary assumption built in as we just discussed.

Other areas, it may be built into the contract.  So if I look kind of midway down the page, external contact centre, there is an inflation kind of built into that, to the price of that contract.  So there is inflation in some of those numbers.

In something like corporate cost, there's the inflationary assumption is kind of shown separately you know, for some legal and consulting and audit fees.

So it's kind of how the budget is working.  We don't necessarily have just a line item in every single BU that is --


MS. GIRVAN:  Do you have an adder, inflationary adjustment for corporate costs?

MS. COLLIER:  In corporate costs, we do.  And it's because it is not built into some of the other lines.

But insurance, there is an inflationary assumption built into the insurance.

MS. GIRVAN:  It looks to me like all of the items under the corporate costs are sort of being advanced by inflation each year.  It looks like that's what's happening.  So I just wondered if it is redundant.

MS. COLLIER:  No, it's not redundant.  I think -- well, maybe I should read the note.  Oh, I see.  It is a good idea to read your evidence.

So what we've done is, we've put -- so compensation, as I said, has inflation built into the merit and then any specific contracts have their inflation built in.

And then all other inflationary increases for all OM&A categories is actually budgeted as a lump sum in corporate costs.

So it doesn't mean it is applicable to -- just applicable to the corporate costs, but it's that amount that is in there for all of the other categories.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it's an adder for categories that haven't included an inflationary adjustment?

MS. COLLIER:  Exactly.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's interesting.  If you could please turn to CCC No. 78, please?

So I'm just -- I just would like to better understand why there were what I would call significant overearnings in '17 versus not in '18, not in '19.  What happened in 2017 to -- that led to an increase in your return?

MS. COLLIER:  Ms. Barrie, are you taking that question?

MS. BARRIE:  So I can speak to the calculation itself.  However, in terms of the factors that are behind the increase in the overall net income, I could not speak to.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you undertake to find out for me?  Please?

MS. BARRIE:  Yes, we can undertake to find out.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, great.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  TO ADVISE THE FACTORS BEHIND THE INCREASE IN OVERALL NET EARNINGS.

MS. GIRVAN:  And I just -- just to be clear -- this is one final question.  In terms of the increase of 2021 versus the previous period, is it the biggest factor is the increase in capital, 65 million over your budget?  Is that the biggest driver?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In terms of rates?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There are several factors influencing the rates.  One of them is the $65 million.  The other is the capital expenditures that are happening through that period as well, and also in addition, it's the impact of the Cambrian station, which is being constructed and put into service in that period.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  According to the schedule, we would be moving on to Energy Probe with an afternoon break at 2:15.  Maybe, Mr. Ladanyi, could you tell me if you would prefer to split your questions or you would rather do the whole 30 minutes at once?

MR. LADANYI:  It doesn't really matter to me.  It really depends on the witnesses.  Maybe they will need a rest.  I am happy doing it either way.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Why don't we take a ten-minute break now and then we can move right into you.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So I've got 2:30 right now.  So 2:40 we will resume with Energy Probe.
--- Recess taken at 2:30 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:40 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think we are ready now.  Fred tells me that the Hydro Ottawa panel is ready.  So I think we can go on the air now, and Mr. Ladanyi you can go ahead.
Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Good afternoon, panel my name is Tom Ladanyi, and I am a consultant representing Energy Probe.  I will start off with a number of questions and then my associate, Dr. Higgin, will follow up with a few more questions in his area.

We divided up the case so he does some of the issues, and I do some of the other ones.

If we can first turn to an interrogatory response EP.RF55.  I understand that is not an interrogatory response that this panel is responsible for and I am not going to ask you about a specific program that is discussed there.  I just wanted to learn more about how capitalized overheads are calculated.  So it's kind of an example that we could use for discussion.

There is a table that you see -- do you have it up -- of capitalized overheads.

First, can you tell me how you calculate, how you estimate capital overheads?  Are they 10 percent of labour?  Are they -- or 8 and a half percent of labour plus capital?  I did some calculations.  I am trying to understand how you calculated, how you estimated these numbers.

MS. COLLIER:  It's Angela Collier here.  Sorry, I am just pulling it up.  I hadn't looked at this question previously.

MR. LADANYI:  It is just an example.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  So our overhead here in this line, as shown in the note, is our supervisory and engineering burdens, which are calculated based on the hours.  But our trucking cost is a factor of how many hours of trucking time is included for this project.

MR. LADANYI:  So that would be in the actuals.  This is a forecast looking out to 2025.  I can't imagine you would have actually calculated trucking time.  You must be using some kind of a percentage here.

It seems to me that you are either using 10 percent of labour, overhead is ten persons of the labour line, or it could be 8 and a half percent of labour plus capital.  It is one or the other, because that is how they work out.

MS. COLLIER:  So we will calculate trucking costs for forecast.  It will largely be dependent on the kind of vehicles presumed for this type of work, and it will be dependent on the manhours of this project.  And then we also calculate a percentage of supervisory and engineering burdens as a percentage.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I will follow that detail since you tell me there is that kind of detail available when the panel comes up that deals with this, so we will actually ask them about the trucking hours and so on.  This is quite fascinating.

But if you could turn to the next page of the interrogatory, it shows here overheads are kind of defined what they are.  It says overheads captures indirect project costs including supervisory and engineering burdens and trucking costs.

Since you have mentioned trucking costs a couple of times -- I go to a lot of hearings, and this is the first and only utility that ever mentions capitalizing trucking costs in its overhead.  Everybody else treats trucking costs as a direct cost of the project.

Could you explain to me why are you treating trucking costs as an overhead?

MS. COLLIER:  We don't normally treat trucking costs as an overhead.  I am not sure why they decided to group trucking costs in the overhead line here.  But I think there are a number of questions along this line in a number of interrogatories, and I wonder if in one of them, it was requested that way.

MR. LADANYI:  No, it was not.

MS. COLLIER:  I really can't speak to this.  This is a panel 2 question.

MR. LADANYI:  There's about twenty of them that lists trucking costs as being capitalized as overhead. Anyway, I will bring it up with them.

MS. COLLIER:  Trucking costs are capitalized to every project.  We do basically a trucking time sheet.

So whatever lever person is working on this job, they're doing basically a time sheet for themselves and a time sheet for the truck that they're driving, and then we have a trucking rate that gets charged to the capital.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So before leaving overheads, I have another question on overheads.  Can you turn to Exhibit 4 -- I need glasses for this one -- Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 3, attachment D, original.

And then also open up Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 3, attachment D updated.  I want to compare the updated and the original, and particularly I want to compare what has happened to the capitalized overheads in 2019.

MS. COLLIER:  Sorry, can you repeat the reference again?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, yes.  It is Exhibit 4, tab 1.  schedule 3, attachment D.

MS. COLLIER:  Attachment D.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, there.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

MR. LADANYI:  There is the original and you'll see the original -- look at 2019 capitalized overheads.  Okay?

And for a start, I notice that the capitalized overheads lists fleet and labour and engineering and supervision and supply chains.

So is fleet the trucking that is mentioned in the other exhibit?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  And then I also notice when looking at the original, the capitalized overheads were 30 million roughly -- sorry, it was 32 million and in the updated, they are 30 million.  So they have dropped by 2 million.

So why would capitalized overheads be different?  Can you explain to me what has changed from the -- I guess I presume the 2019 original was a forecast and 2019 actual must be the actual costs.

MS. COLLIER:  That's exactly it.

MR. LADANYI:  So there's been a lower capitalization?

MS. COLLIER:  (Nods head)

MR. LADANYI:  What has happened to those costs that were not capitalized.  You originally thought they would be capitalized and now they're not.  Where are they?

MS. COLLIER:  They remain in.

MR. LADANYI:  Is OM&A greater now than was originally forecasted?

MS. COLLIER:  No, OM&A for 2019 is lower.

MR. LADANYI:  So these costs were just -- disappeared?  I mean, you wouldn't have got rid of some fleet was there?  Some fleet was incurred and vehicles were still there.  Everything was still there.

What would have been different?

MS. COLLIER:  I mean, there's a number of factors that drive capitalization.  One, we mentioned this morning that our compensation for 2019 was lower.  Our overtime was lower.  Our vacancy rate was higher.

So all of that would contribute to lower capitalization.

MR. LADANYI:  I will ask one more question about overheads before I leave it.

So some utilities capitalize the cost of their finance department and their regulatory affairs department, and so on.

So I see the supervision line here.  Am I to assume that there is some kind of capitalization of -- perhaps maybe it is in the labour line, of finance, regulatory affairs and the law department?  No, you're not capitalizing those?

MS. COLLIER:  No.  We're not capitalizing those.  Those were changed back in 2012 when the implementation to IFRS kind of commenced and MIFRZ from rulings from the Ontario Energy Board.

The supervision line here is the distribution operation, so actually the supervision of the linemen, and nothing to do with any of the administrative folks.

MR. LADANYI:  So you are following IFRS?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  We will leave that, and now we can go to another one.  Can you go to OEB interrogatory 117?

Okay.  Do you have it up there?  117, yes.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  You are referring to estimates as being class B, class C and class D.  And apparently these classifications are from Canadian Institute of Quantity Surveyors, is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Is there an exhibit that actually defines these classes?  I need that for a possible issue later in this hearing, or for cross-examination and possibly argument.  I know what they are, but I would like you to file an exhibit if you don't have it in evidence.

MS. COLLIER:  We don't have the Canadian Institute of Quantity Surveyor document that describes these different classes in the evidence, but I can file it.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Could you file it, please?  I will have an undertaking for that.  Mr. Sidlofsky?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  We will make that JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO FILE THE CANADIAN INSTITUTE OF QUANTITY SURVEYOR DOCUMENT THAT DESCRIBES THE DIFFERENT CLASSES.

MR. LADANYI:  JT1.15.  Thank you.

MS. COLLIER:  And just to add one point, though, on that.  We actually did not do a true class D estimate.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Since you did mention that, I was going to ask you, can you tell me -- can you explain to me what is class D estimate and why you didn't do it.

MS. COLLIER:  So --


MR. LADANYI:  I know what it is, but I need you to explain for the record, please.

MS. COLLIER:  Sure.  So a class D estimate is basically a functional program, a pre-design estimate, and it is usually carried out by a quantity surveyor that is qualified to do that.

When we filed our application in 2015, we did not have that pre-design -- those pre-design drawings at that time.  So instead we did a parametric-type estimate for our program cost at the time.

So the attachments that are provided to OEB 117 are the two quantity surveyor estimates that we have, which is the Class C and the class B.

The class A that will be described in this attachment that I will file with JT1.15 is really kind of the pre -- the pre-bid estimate, but in our case we did a design-bid build estimate.  So the class A is really the RFP, which we have described already --


MR. LADANYI:  Maybe there is a misunderstanding.  On JT1.15 I am expecting you just to file the document which describes what different kinds of estimates there are.  So I am expecting some kind of official document from Canadian Institute of Quantity Surveyors.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  I don't want to see your class A estimate.  That's --


MS. COLLIER:  No, I understood the undertaking, and I will file the document from the Canadian Institute of Quantity Surveyors.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Can you turn in the same interrogatory, could you turn to the next page?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Sorry.  It is OEB 117, page 2.  You're on page 3.  Turn the other way.  Sorry.  Okay.

Here on page 2 at the bottom you are discussing the two types of contracts, the design build model and a design bid build model, okay, and you were talking about that under the design build model, there is greater risk transfer to the contractor.  The contractor would assume then a greater risk for the project.  Is that right?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So -- by the way, we have heard about some of these discussions in other proceedings, so we roughly know what this is about.  But wouldn't design build contracts generally then have a higher contract price because the contractor is assuming greater risk than the design bid build?  I mean, the contractor wouldn't take on a greater risk for no compensation.

MS. COLLIER:  I think there's pros and cons to both approaches.  I don't think you can just solely say that it will be a higher price, but I don't think I am qualified to really kind of speak to the two different approaches and the pluses or minuses here.

MR. LADANYI:  Will somebody -- will Hydro Ottawa have a witness that can discuss the contracting approach that was used for the facilities project?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  Our external project manager would be the best person to talk about this.  But that person is not appearing at the technical conference.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So it is only if we go to the hearing, okay.

So I was going to ask you whether under the design build model the contractor takes the risk for weather and for unknown soil conditions.  Do you know that or not?

MS. COLLIER:  Certainly weather for sure.  Unknown conditions, I think it depends on the condition.

MR. LADANYI:  I just want to digress to a slightly different area.  We will come back to this in a minute --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, sorry.  Can I jump in for a second?  Sorry.

Was your answer general, generally speaking?  Or with respect to this project?

MS. COLLIER:  With respect to the weather?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  With respect to the second part.

MS. COLLIER:  The unknown conditions?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah.

MS. COLLIER:  Well, I know of certain unknown conditions that came up that became kind of a change order, which is why I am saying certainly my knowledge would be specific to this contract.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And so there were certain conditions in this project that were not covered within the contract?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  I will just go on to a slightly different area and come right back to this.

So can you turn to Energy Probe Research Foundation number 30.  So in number 30, there is a discussion of the three substation projects, and of the variance, which I believe was 60.6 million, but I was corrected.  Apparently it is $66.6 million variance.

You said that this particular proceeding, this is where the prudence review of the $66.6 million variance will be conducted.  Is that right?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Now, can you tell me -- and I won't go through all of the reasons, because it will take too much time -- what should the Board rely on in the evidence?  Do you have specific exhibits that deal with the variance of the substation project?

I see on page 2 there is a short explanation, but is there anything more that we should be relying on?  Page 2 and then 3.  Is there any other place that we should be looking for, for the prudence review that the Board can rely on?

MS. COLLIER:  So I think with respect to these three specific substation projects -- and again, probably more appropriate for panel 2 -- this interrogatory certainly is probably the most detailed in terms of a variance explanation.

But as you can see, the variances for these three projects are not -- well, the Overbrook one is larger, but the other two aren't as -- aren't significant.  In fact, they were under.  But the timing of capitalization of those projects impacted the capital additions.

MR. LADANYI:  So can you turn to page 3 of this interrogatory?  And here is the variance explanation in the right column.  So if I look at the first in Merivale -- by the way, is this panel the right panel to ask these questions?  Or is there -- should another panel that is more knowledgeable about these three projects --


MS. COLLIER:  This is absolutely a panel 2 question, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  This is a panel 2 question?  So you don't know the details of Merivale or Richmond or Overbrook, do you?

MS. COLLIER:  I do not.  Ms. Heuff would be able to speak to those.

MR. LADANYI:  Ms. Heuff.  Okay.  So my questions might be longer for her.

Now, I had a series of questions on the progress reports that were filed in response to EP.RF.112.  You would not know about that, would you?

MS. COLLIER:  No.  I --


MR. LADANYI:  [Speaking over each other]

MS. COLLIER:  -- yeah, I think EP.RF.112 is me.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So first to discuss the -- in general the prudence review.  First, does the prudence review consist of review of any amount of up to 66 million?  You agreed with my question there.  Isn't that right?  So the difference is 33,544,582.  So that amount is at risk in the prudence review?

MS. COLLIER:  That amount is subject to the prudence review, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, okay.  You actually don't have a specific analysis of what $33 million and change is made up of?  So you actually don't have any spreadsheet or anything else that you can point to at all?

As I understand it -- before you answer, as I understand it your main explanation from the evidence appears to be that the original estimate of 66 million was a class A estimate or something, and this is a -- you actually management decided to proceed they proceeded on the basis of a class C estimate.

MS. COLLIER:  No.  That is incorrect.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.

MS. COLLIER:  The $66 million is what the Ontario Energy Board approved as provisional funding for our facility project, to ensure that Hydro Ottawa could proceed with the request for proposal.

Our initial high-level parametric estimate was actually 92, 92.35 -- 92.3, sorry.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I know.  Before you go too far, what I mean to say is the Ontario Energy Board didn't pick the 66 million out of the sky.  What did they rely on?

MS. COLLIER:  They --


MR. LADANYI:  They got the number from you.  Wasn't that an estimate they got from you?

MS. COLLIER:  It was -- I think it was made up of two components.  It was made up of a component for land with a certain amount disallowed for land, subject to come back and look at how the land was utilized, and then a certain amount for construction.

However, the amount that they included in the provisional funding for the construction was actually taken from a presentation filed in response to one of the interrogatories in the last proceeding, and was actually not what we had on the evidence as the updated estimate.

We didn't, we didn't -- I guess we didn't kind of push the point at the last proceeding, since it was provisional funding and we knew we would be coming back with actual costs at any point.

MR. LADANYI:  Your position is -- I couldn't understand.  Is it that you did not explain what 66 million was to the Board, or that the Board misunderstood you?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If I can jump in here, the 66 million was given to us by the Ontario Energy Board.  It was made up of two parts.  It was made up of land with a disallowance that they had talked about in their final decision, and it was made up of 70 percent of the construction cost.  And they said that that 70 percent of the construction cost was just a notional amount that they had made up at the time to give us this provisional funding for us to come back at a later date.

Subsequent to the decision, when we went through the detailed calculation, we realized they had taken 70 persons of the wrong number and come up with that portion of the 66 million.

In discussions with OEB Staff, it was decided that, because we were coming back for a prudence review of an amount that was not in insubstantial, it was above the 66 or what we thought should have been the 73 had the calculation have been done correctly, we decided there was no purpose to push the issue, as Ms. Collier had characterized it.

But we know that what the 66 was supposed to be.  It was the percentage of lapped that they approved.  They disallowed a certain amount.  And it was 70 percent of what they thought were the construction costs at the time.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So if I summarize it correctly, you're saying that the Board misunderstood the evidence and made a wrong decision.  And in this case, you are going to come around and explain to the Board they made a mistake and they will hopefully correct it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  That is not the case.  We did bring it to Board Staff's attention that we thought the 66 million, using the Board methodology, would actually have been $73 million.

But we, in discussions with Board Staff, agreed that the substantive part of the discussion at the next proceeding would be the prudence review for not insubstantial amount of costs.

So we accepted that whether it was $66 million approved or $73 million, which is what we thought it would be, it really was immaterial.  We needed to come back in front of the Board and have a prudence review of what we finally spent on the project.

So we're here to defend the amount that we spent on the project.  We have been provisionally given 66 million.

MR. LADANYI:  But you had these discussions with Board Staff.  You didn't actually have it on the record with the Board?  Is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, we didn't.  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is Mark Rubenstein.  If I can jump in?

Is there somewhere that shows me what you think they were supposed to take 70 percent of?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe we did file an interrogatory response.  We're looking for -- yes, we think we did put that on the record.  So just give us a minute, or we will come back.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I will let you look for it.  If you don't at some other point, we don't need to take the time right now.

MS. COLLIER:  It should be in OEB 115.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think that was background noise.  Can I continue now?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly.

MS. COLLIER:  Just to answer Mr. Rubenstein's question, though.  OEB -- OEB interrogatory 115, section F, deals with the issue that Mr. Van Dusen just mentioned.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  The same interrogatory we are at now, I asked in the part D for each of the new facilities please file a table that shows the approved estimate and actual expenditures for each showing amounts for land, materials labour overheads and interest during construction with various explanations for each amount.

In response, you are directing me to your answer to SEC 30.  I looked at SEC 30 and I couldn't find exactly that.  I found other things of interest in SEC 30, but I did not find what I was looking for.

So do you want to review your answer to SEC 30 and see if it is responsive to what I was asking?  Maybe you can take an undertaking.  It might take you longer.

MS. COLLIER:  Just give me a second, first.  So in your question, what are you considering to be the approved estimate?  The 66 million?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, this is interesting because I don't know.  Because you can decide if you feel that $66 million is not the approved estimate, you can argue that it's not, that a different amount was approved.  That the amount that your management approved was the approved estimate.

But for OEB purposes, I would think the only number that is approved is $66 million.  But you can argue otherwise.

MS. COLLIER:  So I don't have a detail for the 66 that is broken down between materials and labour and overheads, because this was a provisional amount that was set by the OEB.

In the evidence, we have filed a variance explanation against what we submitted in our last application, which was 92.3 compared to the actual amount of 99.5.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, all of the components they list there, specifically in D, I can't actually find them in SEC 30.  There is other, like I said, things in there, but not everything.

MS. COLLIER:  So maybe I will take you back to the original evidence, then.  Sorry.  So in the original evidence which is Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment A, page 9 of 73, table 3, this provides the difference between what we filed in the 2016 application in April of 2015 and the file costs in the categories of land, construction and interest and overhead.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I will study that because I don't want to take up too much time on it.

Can you turn to the same interrogatory response, to page 8 of 10?  This is SEC 30, and it's table E.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes. 

MR. LADANYI:  We're at Table E.  And there is variance explanations between quantity surveyor and final actual costs for east campus.

And I see the explanations.  I would just like to know whether any of these items that are on the right-hand column in the explanations, are these items whereby the contractor is assuming the risk?  Or is it something that Hydro Ottawa is assuming the risk?  For example, market conditions.  Improved trade pricing.

So this is actually an advantage.  It is a cost saving.  Is that something that accrues?  So it is a risk that Ottawa would have taken?  Suppose it was higher.  Would that have been a risk to Hydro Ottawa or would have been a risk to the contractor?  It looks like it must be Hydro Ottawa, since you are taking the saving.  Is that right?

MS. COLLIER:  Well, the first column of that Table E, the quantity surveyor column, was an estimate that was done in May of 2016, which is prior to -- prior to the RFP process to -- with the design build contractor.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MS. COLLIER:  So it is comparing kind of that point in time.  So the improved trade pricing just indicates that when we went out to RFP we got better pricing than what the quantity surveyor estimated in his estimate prior to the RFP.

MR. LADANYI:  Go down to the next one.  Services, mechanical and electrical.  Here the actual costs are higher than the survey.  I would call that a scope risk.  Isn't that right?  It says scope interpretation and so on, systems highest risk.

So who assumes scope risk?  Is it Hydro Ottawa or the contractor?

MS. COLLIER:  I believe with respect to mechanical and electrical, we would have assumed the scope risk.

The other part to this explanation is, again, market conditions.  So again, in this example the market conditions went in the opposite way from the time the estimate was done to when we did the design build contract.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Now we go to the next one, which is site preparation and ancillary work.  There in the column you talk about changes to the work, contaminated soils, modifications to stormwater drainage.

So that would be unknown soil conditions risk.  Who actually takes the risk for unknown soil conditions?  Is it the contractor or is it the Hydro Ottawa?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  This is what I was -- this is one I was thinking of and referring to earlier when we talked about weather and unknown conditions.

I believe we took the risk of the contaminated soil.

MR. LADANYI:  You took the risk on that.  And was there actually -- did Hydro Ottawa actually do bore holes on the site to test the soil and have a chemical analysis done prior to actually going out for bid?  And then also prior to start of construction?

MS. COLLIER:  I have no idea.

MR. LADANYI:  You have no idea?  Could you take an undertaking for that, please?

MS. COLLIER:  Can you just repeat the undertaking then?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  What happens when large construction -- civil construction projects are done, there is bore holes that are taken and there is soil analysis done.  And there is probably a geotechnical report by an engineer to essentially ascertain whether the site is appropriate for foundations they're applying to be built there --


MS. COLLIER:  Yes, I believe we did receive a geotechnical report, now that you've kind of explained it a little more.

MR. LADANYI:  Yeah.  So actually, could you also, if you did receive a geotechnical report for the east campus, could you please file it?

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.  We can undertake to do that, I guess.  I don't know if there will have to be redactions or...

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I think -- I don't know if there should be redactions, really.  That is one of the
reasons -- I mean, it is mentioned here that the soil might have been contaminated, and I was wondering whether there was -- actually had a report at some point in time from a geotechnical consultant that would have told you, you know, whether the soil was contaminated or not, whether the soil was suitable for construction.  You don't know?  But you will look it up and maybe on a best-efforts basis you can file a geotechnical report.  And if there is something that is troubling you in there you can ask for it to have confidential treatment.

Can you give me an undertaking, please.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.  It is JT1.16. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO FILE A GEOTECHNICAL REPORT FOR THE EAST CAMPUS.  ALSO TO ADVISE WHAT TESTING OF THE SITE WAS DONE PRIOR TO THE ACQUISITION OF THE PROPERTY, OR WHAT WAS DONE ON THE SITE PRIOR TO THE ACQUISITION OF THE PROPERTY.

MR. GARNER:  It is Mark Garner.  Can I just jump in on that undertaking?

I would be interested in, if there was testing of the site when it was bought.  I believe the sites were bought around 2013.  I can't remember offhand.  But I think the two sites were bought in 2014 and 2013.  Does that sound right to you, Ms. Collier?

MS. COLLIER:  2012 and 2013, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And maybe you could just undertake to tell us what testing of the site was done prior to the acquisition of the property, or what was done on the site prior to the acquisition of the property.

MR. LADANYI:  There would be due diligence.  I would assume there was some due diligence -- Hydro Ottawa did some due diligence prior to acquisition to find out what they were buying.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes, for sure.

MR. LADANYI:  So could you include it in the same undertaking, please?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you want to make that part of the same undertaking, Tom, or --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I think we're discussing essentially the soil conditions on the site, for which a geotechnical report -- when was it done and at the time of purchase was there due diligence done.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So that will all be covered under JT1.16.

MR. LADANYI:  How is my time?  I have a bunch of questions on the progress reports, but I don't know if I should take up any more time.  Maybe I should let my associate, Dr. Higgin, have some time to ask questions too.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, you started at 2:40.  You had estimated 30 minutes.  So that would be 3:10.  So I am not sure how long Roger was going to be, but, I mean, if you can finish off quickly, Tom, that's great --


MR. LADANYI:  One more -- yeah, I just have a couple of questions on the progress reports.

So if you can turn to the Energy Probe number 112, attachment A, and page 2.  And at page -- actually, it tells you at page 1 -- this is the progress report.  So if you look at page 1 first of January 12, 2017.  So it appears to be the first progress report.  Okay.

If you would turn to page 2, there is a discussion of risks, significant risks and challenges.  And I won't go through all of these, but would these risks be risks to Hydro Ottawa or would they be risks in general?  Are these risks that -- and when they are risks to Hydro Ottawa they're really risks to ratepayers.

So can you tell me, like, when you look at this, are these all -- just look at them for a minute.  Are these all risks that the ratepayers would be assuming?  It is under risks and challenges.

MS. COLLIER:  Yeah, so I am just reading the list.  So I would say, yes, Hydro Ottawa owns the facilities.  So I would say, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So site conditions, both campuses is a risk at the beginning here.  And then in subsequent reports -- and you don't have time to go through all of them -- unknown site conditions are mentioned in the report after report.  They seem to be unknown for quite a while.  And then they appear to be kind of finally off the unknown, somewhere around September 17th, 2018, there is no more site conditions in that report, which is on page 50 of 72.

So that's -- and there is redactions in there, and I am not going to ask to go into the confidential material.  I am just looking at page 51, where I noticed that the -- there's no more mention of unknown site conditions.

So I presume by that time the site conditions were discovered and they were known?  Would that be right?

MS. COLLIER:  I think they were dealt with by that time, which is why it was removed from the risk.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  So then let's go to -- so go to attachment C, page 31.

MS. COLLIER:  Sorry, page 31?

MR. LADANYI:  31.  It is a spreadsheet that's embedded in the report.  So in the Hydro Ottawa report.  And it really shows -- this is the last progress report.  And it shows how the money was used up.  Okay.  There we are.

So can you see the contingency there?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  You started off with a 5,300,000 contingency.  And it was revised to a higher contingency, six-million-686.  And then six-million-481 was used up.  And so 204,000 remains.

Could you provide me an explanation, and I think this will have to be an undertaking, how the contingency was used up.  It was used up to pay for what?  To pay for example soil remediation, or trucking away of soil or whatever.  Would you know?

MS. COLLIER:  I believe we included that in our evidence, but I know it is 73 pages so...


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MS. COLLIER:  Just let me see if I can find it quickly.

MR. LADANYI:  If not, we will take an undertaking.  I just want a rough explanation out of 6.4 million, 2 million was used to pay for soil, you know, three million was used up for change of scope.  Just so we know how you used up the contingency.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.  We can take an undertaking.  I mean, part of it is the development fees.  Part of it is higher trades' costs.  There is the soil condition, but I think we've -- sorry.

MR. LADANYI:  Go ahead.  Yes.  If there was contaminated soil on the site, because I don't know that for a fact, did you actually inform the Ministry of the Environment about contaminated soil?  And if you did, could you file for us your communication with the Ministry of Environment?

MS. COLLIER:  I believe we did do all of the required notifications to the ministry.

MR. LADANYI:  Can we have that filed as an undertaking?  If you feel it is confidential, again you can ask for confidential treatment.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

MR. LADANYI:  These are all of my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Tom.  So I think I am looking at two undertakings here.  JT1.17 would be an explanation of how the contingency money was used.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, absolutely.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And JT1.18 will be was the ministry informed of contaminated soil, and you wanted a copy of the notification?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Perhaps they responded something?  It might be interesting.  Who knows when we get to the hearing, we might be puzzled about what kind of directive you got from them.

If you feel that would help your case, file it.  If you don't want to file it, fine.  We might ask for it in the hearing.  I don't want to press Hydro Ottawa too much; maybe it is a sensitive area.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO EXPLAIN HOW THE CONTINGENCY MONEY WAS USED

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.18:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE MINISTRY WAS INFORMED OF CONTAMINATED SOIL, AND IF SO TO FILE A COPY OF THE NOTIFICATION


MR. LADANYI:  These are all of my questions and I hope I have left enough time for Dr. Higgin.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Dr. Higgin?
Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.  I do have two questions and depending how the response goes, we may try to put some time frames.

So the first topic is some clarifications on capital structure.  And to do that, we would like to pull up the response to EP.RF.6.

MR. TEJWANI:  It is Neal Tejwani.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So the question had three parts.  I am not going to dwell on part (a) because it deals with the response to go and look at VECC 91, and we are going to spend too much time looking at VECC 91.

I would ask people who are interested to have a look at the response, and particularly the response about the ROE for the holding company which is in VECC 91.  It is very interesting.

So going to EP-6, part (b).  This is responding to in table A.  It shows the historic debt/equity ratios.

In order to help people take a look at this, I would ask if you can turn up a graphical representation, which is Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 12, attachment D.

Can we start looking at figure 2 and figure 3?  Can we get them up?  Yes, good.

There you see a graphical representation in figure 3 of the debt-to-equity ratio as shown in those figures, except this does not have 2019.  Correct?

MR. TEJWANI:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So what I would like to do is to have that updated, the graph updated for 2019, and I will be asking to do that for some of the other financial ratio charts.

Starting with that one, figure 3, I would like to see that updated.  I would also like to see the coverage ratio and the current ratio updated.  And if you have it for each, to include the year-to-date estimate for 2020.

So that would be to update your charts and the data as well to cover the charts, the relevant figures for, just to repeat, the debt/equity ratio, coverage ratio and current ratio.  Could you do that by undertaking?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes, sir.  When you say coverage ratio, more specifically...


DR. HIGGIN:  Which chart are we looking at then?  Interest coverage, sorry.

MR. TEJWANI:  Figure 5, yes.  Will do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT1.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  TO UPDATE CHARTS AND DATA FOR THE DEBT/EQUITY RATIO, INTEREST COVERAGE RATIO, AND CURRENT RATIO


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So my next question is that you would agree that the OEB deemed cost of capital, capital structure approximates a VE ratio of 60 percent long-term and short-term debt and 40 percent equity.  Would you agree with that?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  That's the deemed capital structure.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  And then if we eliminate the short-term debt, the ratio would be 5640 or 1.4.  So anywhere, take it subject to check that the OEB 2018 yearbook at page 7 shows the debt-to-equity range as being from 1.25 to 1.33 for the Ontario electricity distribution industry, and that in fact coincides with the fact of figure 3 that we just looked at.  Would you agree with that?

MR. TEJWANI:  Subject to check, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the big question then, and you know it is coming, is now Hydro Ottawa is at a debt-to-equity ratio in 2019 of 1.9 maybe increasing subject to 2019 -- 2018, I'm sorry, and going up to 2019-2020 updates made higher.

So the point is, are you comfortable with this actual debt equity ratio?

MR. TEJWANI:  The increase in the debt to capital ratio is primarily driven by higher CAPEX, which necessitates the borrowing of funds to fund these capital projects.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So that's the main driver.  But it is still a very high -- 1.9 is still a high debt-to-equity ratio.  Would you agree?

MR. TEJWANI:  Hydro Ottawa targets the deemed capital structure in the management of the business.

DR. HIGGIN:  I'm very sorry, but you faded out on me there, sorry.

MR. TEJWANI:  Sorry.  Hydro Ottawa targets the deemed capital structure of 60 percent debt, 40 percent equity.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  But you are nowhere near that.  Correct?

MR. TEJWANI:  At the end of 2019 we're approximately 65.5 percent debt to 34 and a half percent equity.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Now, can you look at Table B that was provided in response to part C to the interrogatory.

MR. TEJWANI:  Which interrogatory reference number, Mr. Higgin?

DR. HIGGIN:  This is the third reference, that is number 6, part C.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  And you see Table B.  Right.  Now, this delineates the dividends that Hydro Ottawa is paying to the holding company and then the amounts paid by the holding company to the City of Ottawa.

So could you tell me by undertaking the percentage of these dividends as a percentage of the actual ROE, the earned ROE?

MR. TEJWANI:  For Hydro Ottawa?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  For Hydro Ottawa.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So -- then the other thing I would like to get a copy of or reference for is the actual Hydro Ottawa Limited and/or, if it is relevant, the holding company, the dividend policy for the utility.

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  Will do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  JT1.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  TO ADVISE OF THE PERCENTAGE OF DIVIDENDS AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE ACTUAL ROE, THE EARNED ROE.  ALSO TO PROVIDE A COPY OF OR REFERENCE FOR THE ACTUAL HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED AND/OR, IF IT IS RELEVANT, THE HOLDING COMPANY, THE DIVIDEND POLICY FOR THE UTILITY.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  That will be an undertaking then.  It's not in evidence.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Right.  I just gave that undertaking number JT1.20, Roger.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you very much.

So I would like to move on to a different area now and talk a little bit about employee costs and benefits.  And to do that, can we look up EP.RF.101, 101, and particularly the attachment that was just filed a couple of days ago, which is a spreadsheet.

So you have to look up in the attachment as a spreadsheet.  We need the spreadsheet, please.

It is Appendix 2K, updated, which also has an attachment for overtime.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  Angela Collier.

DR. HIGGIN:  So when we have that, that would be helpful.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  So I would like to start not with the overtime but with the 2K part of the spreadsheet.  That would be helpful.  That is the other tab in the spreadsheet.  Okay.

So I just have a couple of questions.  A significant increase in benefits over the historic period.  So for example, if we look at the union, under the benefits, total benefits, and the union, there is an average increase of 5.8 percent over the period shown here, including the test year.

So do you agree that's the case, first of all, and that I am not misinterpreting that it is 5.8 percent for the union?

MS. COLLIER:  I agree with that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, do you agree that one of the drivers in the benefits is of course pensions and pension contributions and so on?

So do you agree that is one of the benefits and it is one of the drivers causing the increase in pensions, first of all?

MS. COLLIER:  Pension is one of the -- one of the benefits, yes.  The OMERS contribution rate has not changed in that period, but the increasing salary costs are a contribution to that rising benefit.

DR. HIGGIN:  So could we just then look at the pension and pull up Exhibit 4, tab 1, Schedule 5, attachment A updated.  But please keep the spreadsheet ready to look back at.

So that is Exhibit 4, tab 1, Schedule 5, attachment A, updated.  Okay, thank you.  And I would like to look at Table 2, please, which is the OMERS portion of the benefits.  Thank you.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  That's good.  Thank you very much.

So take it subject to check that, as you've just said, the yearly maximum pension amount has gone up by, along with the salaries, of course, that is what drives it, by $6,000 average per employee or 10.9 percent, coming in at 2.2 percent a year.  Just take those numbers subject to check.

MS. COLLIER:  Subject to check, I take that, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So what I would like to get from you is to understand what the changes are in the pension contribution ratios for the historical up to the test year for these three categories, management, non-union, and union.

So this is to have the ratio for the employer versus employee contribution ratios.  Could you provide that by an undertaking, please?

MS. COLLIER:  So you want the employer versus the employee pension contribution ratio for the four categories, executive management, non-union, union?

DR. HIGGIN:  I didn't call for management -- but, yes, all four categories would be helpful, thank you.

MS. COLLIER:  And all years in this table?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  All of those years, including the projection for bridge and test, yes, please.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  I have the undertaking?  I am sort of fading out.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  That will be JT1.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  TO PROVIDE THE EMPLOYER VERSUS THE EMPLOYEE PENSION CONTRIBUTION RATIO FOR THE FOUR CATEGORIES, EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT, NON-UNION, UNION, FOR ALL OF THE YEARS IN THE TABLE, INCLUDING THE PROJECTION FOR BRIDGE AND TEST.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  But Dr. Higgin, I apologize.  Sorry, I apologize, but I am going to take you back to JT1.20, which I have as the actual Hydro One Limited or holdco dividend policy.  You had asked for an undertaking just before that as well, and I believe it related to the percentage of net income, the dividend payout represented, something like that?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  The request was to provide the payments, dividend payments, as a percentage of the actual in millions.  Okay?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Sorry, I missed that one a few minutes ago, so I am going to give that number JT1.22.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  TO PROVIDE THE DIVIDEND PAYMENTS AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE ACTUAL IN MILLIONS


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am also going to ask you, Dr. Higgin, about how much time you think you have left.  Energy Probe had estimated a half hour and we are at an hour now.

DR. HIGGIN:  I know it.  I understand that.  I have got one question and then I am gone.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  I have a quick question.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  So can we turn to the second tab of the spreadsheet, which shows employee overtime costs?  Thank you.  So it is the second tab I am looking for, which is the overtime cost.  That's the one.  Thank you very much.

So now there's been some discussion on overtime.  I would like to just get a couple of points to confirm.

The overtime cost increase in 2018 is obviously high.  It was due to storm weather repairs.  I saw a number of 1.4 million as the amount.  Am I correct about that, or is the number relevant to 2018, looking at the column for 2018?

MS. COLLIER:  Our storm-related OM&A costs for 2018 were 1.3 million, which related to three storms, an April ice storm, a May wind storm, and then the six tornados that we had in September of that year.  So the 1.4 -- or the 1.3 total OM&A would have included the overtime.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Just to clarify, you are now talking about the overtime costs specifically?

MS. COLLIER:  No.  It would have been the total OM&A.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So then can you explain how the overtime, which is even higher than that increase relative to prior years, is nearly a million dollars over, for example, 2017.

So would there not have been a big increase in overtime as shown here?

MS. COLLIER:  So those three storms that I just mentioned, the total cost of those three storms were 5.3 million.  Four million of it was capital-related cost and 1.3 million was OM&A related cost.  There would have been overtime for both capital and OM&A for all three storms.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  One of the basic things is looking at 2019 numbers at the bottom there, you had a discussion that that included an overtime reduction of 1.8 million in productivity.  Am I correct?

MS. COLLIER:  That was included in that table A in OEB 47, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So now I come to the test year.  Why is overtime still forecast to be high in 2020 and 2021?

Shouldn't they not be lower, based on the historic average, for example, even if you leave out the increase in 2018?  I did the math.

So I would like you to give an undertaking to do the math, showing the historic, and forecast overtime cost average was from 2016 to 2021 projected.

And if you wish to have an adjustment for 2018 included because of the storm, I think that would be reasonable.  So I would like an undertaking to do that, please.

MS. COLLIER:  Just to clarify the undertaking, are you interested in hours of overtime?  Because obviously there is an escalation of base salary that is involved in that number as well, if you are comparing 2016 and 2017 to 2021.

DR. HIGGIN:  No.  I think we're just looking at the actual numbers and how that drives towards your forecasts for the test year.  So it is the costs.

MS. COLLIER:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  JT1.23.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.23:  TO PROVIDE ACTUAL OVERTIME COST DATA AND HOW IT DRIVES TOWARDS FORECASTS FOR THE TEST YEAR


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Jamie, and the tolerance of everybody.  I am sorry Energy Probe missed out on its time estimate.  I did my best.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Today we're scheduled to go to 4:30.  And as we all know, we're a bit behind today.  I would like to propose going to five so we can at least try to get a half hour back.  And given that, I would like to -- even though now would be the time for our second afternoon break, I would like to have Mark Rubenstein go ahead and start with his questions.  Does anyone have any violent objection to either going to five or listening to Mark?

MS. DeMARCO:  No violent objections but just a sense, based on my calculations on the schedule, do you see us as last up even if we go to five?  I don't think we will get up.  Is that a fair assessment?  And in which case my considerations can become irrelevant.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It would be gruelling to finish panel one today.  But given where we are, I am not sure that will happen.  So do you have a conflict, Lisa, with coming back tomorrow morning?

MS. DeMARCO:  I just had a client call scheduled at 4:30 I have no troubles coming back tomorrow morning.  Just based on today's schedule, I think I've got 4:40 p.m. call.  But if I am not going to get up, it is irrelevant.  I will just pop off.

If I will get up, I will see if I can get the forces that be in the office to try to move things around.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perhaps Fred I could ask, or Mr. Van Dusen, will panel 1 still be able to sit tomorrow morning as well, if we put Ms. DeMarco over to tomorrow morning?

MR. CASS:  Yes, Jamie, we can do that.

MS. DeMARCO:  I don't want to inconvenience anybody.  If you think that we'll get through the next 75, eighty five, 90 five, 105 minutes...


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  In seventy?  Probably not.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Why don't we say you will be on first thing tomorrow morning then, Lisa.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So I will just adjust accordingly.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Mark, are okay to go ahead, Mark Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.
Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to quickly follow up on a question.  We had some discussion about the -- I think there was a presentation $65 million in additional in-service additions than what was approved in the last application.

I actually think the actual updated number is actually about seventy, seventy one million.

Am I correct that that includes the differential from the facility project which includes the actuals versus the --however we want to call it, the amount that the Board embedded in rates in the last application, the $66 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We are just checking that.  Ms. Barrie, do you know the answer to that question?  Does that include the differential?

MS. BARRIE:  My understanding is it does not include the differential of the new facilities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  The first thing I would like to ask you, and you don't need to pull it up, I would like you to provide a revised version by way of undertaking of appendix 2JC.  That is the OM&A program table that has the following additional columns in it.

The first would show year to date 2020 actuals.  So I would assume that would be Q2 actuals.

The second column would show based on the exact same point in time the 2019 actuals.  So if you could provide  say end of Q2, 2020 actuals, the second column would show the same amount in 2019.

Then the third column would show a revised 2020 forecast as appropriate.  Are you able to do that? 

MS. COLLIER:  Sorry, I was on mute.  Angela Collier here.  The only issue I have with that, the Q2 2020 actuals will not go in front of our Board until the September meeting.  They meet quarterly to approve the actuals.

So we would have Q1 information right now, but by the time these undertakings are due, I would not have the approval of the Board for Q2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I would ask that you still provide it. I don't know what type of -- I mean, it is important information.  I mean, I'm not sure what your internal procedures are or, to be frank, the relevance, necessarily, of that procedure, but I would ask that you provide that information.  And to provide that on an unaudited basis, if that helps you get...

MS. COLLIER:  The numbers are unaudited anyway.  It is not the audit that I am worried about.  It is just having information out there publicly before our Board sees the results.  It's not normally our practice.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Mr. Rubenstein, we are just going to take two minutes in the room here, so we're just going to shut off our mics and just caucus for two minutes, and it's all within the room.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, why don't I just leave that with you as an undertaking, and if you want to object to it later on based on something you can't provide it or you can't provide it on a confidential basis -- I just don't want to waste -- I just don't want to take up time.  If you guys want to have a conversation about it I don't...

MR. CASS:  Mark, I am just not sure we can call it an undertaking.  We can call it an undertaking from quarter 1. The rest of it I think is in issue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I would call it an undertaking to see if you can agree -- I am not -- by way of undertaking I am not saying -- I accept that you are not undertaking to provide the information.

I would be very happy if you did, and it seems to me that you should in some way be able to do it.  But I recognize that it is -- if you need to have a discussion you can have a discussion offline.  I just don't want to waste time right now, considering where we are in the day and how behind we are.

MR. CASS:  Well, we can certainly give an undertaking to respond with what we feel we can appropriately provide and an explanation for anything that we cannot appropriately provide.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will call that --


MS. COLLIER:  And just to -- sorry to belabour this undertaking.  But the third column that you requested, Mr. Rubenstein, was a revised 2020 forecast?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  As appropriate.  If you have revised your own forecast for the end of year for 2020.

MS. COLLIER:  So in the Q1 reports that went to the Board, we did do -- we don't normally revise our budget for -- at Q1, but given the pandemic situation we did present a Q1 forecast to our Board.  We did, however, do two scenarios.

So I guess anyway we will take that under advisement with this undertaking, but I just wanted to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I believe SEC asked for an undertaking with some Board material.  Would that be included in there?

MS. COLLIER:  That would be, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will give that Undertaking -- sorry, we will gat that Undertaking No. JT1.24.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.24:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED VERSION OF APPENDIX 2JC, OM&A, TO INCLUDE, COLUMN 1, 2020 YEAR-TO-DATE ACTUALS; COLUMN 2, 2019 ACTUALS AT THE SAME PERIOD; COLUMN 3, REVISED 2020 FORECASE AS APPROPRIATE


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second question is you've had a discussion with -- you had mentioned with respect to COVID there's been an increased receivables.

When do you consider receivables bad debt?  When is that?

MS. COLLIER:  We tend to book an allowance for bad debt once a receivable passes the 60-day mark.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that the same -- are you currently doing that with the Board's moratorium?

MS. COLLIER:  We are.  This has been a challenge since 2017, with the introduction of the moratorium.  And assessing what truly ends up as bad debt versus what appears to be bad debt, because people are just delaying the payment until the end of the moratorium.

So we have been adjusting our allowance calculation in consultation with our auditors, you know, at the end of 2017 and at the end of 2018, in conjunction with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my understanding is with respect currently the Board has created that generic account and there is a separate account for bad debt with respect to COVID.  How are you booking amounts in that right now?

MS. COLLIER:  We have not yet booked anything to that account -- to any of those three accounts as of yet.  Partially, one, we are focussed on this proceeding right now, but the second reason as well is just, we are awaiting for additional guidance and clarification and discussion amongst the other utilities on how all of those amounts are being calculated for all three of those deferral accounts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.

Now, in 1 SEC 1 -- you don't need to pull it up, but we had asked you about the impacts of COVID, and you provide some narrative around what are the impacts.  I am just trying to understand, trying to get some numbers behind it so we have a sense of what the actual impacts are.

Are you able to provide year-to-date incremental costs incurred as a result of COVID-19?  I understand from a -- you just said you weren't booking it to an account.  But you must have some sense of what internally --


MR. COLLIER:  We do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- what are the incremental costs?

MS. COLLIER:  We do --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  [Speaking over each other]

MS. COLLIER:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And are you able to provide those amounts or a breakdown of it?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I would ask that in doing so you classify those costs in the following three categories.  The first would be one-time costs.  So costs that you don't expect to continue for whatever they are.  Two would be ongoing costs.  So costs that you expect in the -- at least to the end of the year and into next year you are still going to have to incur, maybe not that amount, obviously, but that type of cost.  So that is additional PPE materials or so on.  And the third is, you may or may not be including it based on our previous discussion, but if bad debt costs are a part of it, that that is sort of its own category.  Does that make sense?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  It is Julie Girvan here.  I just had a question.  Have you -- I know the OEB was requiring some --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Sorry, Julie, before you -- I just wanted to finish this undertaking if I could.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry.  Oh, sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Jamie, do we have a number for that?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  So that is JT1.25.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.25:  TO PROVIDE YEAR-TO-DATE INCREMENTAL COSTS INCURRED AS A RESULT OF COVID-19 SEPARATED INTO CATEGORIES.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, Consumers Council.  I just wondered, I know the OEB was requiring LDCs to file some data regarding those accounts.

Has Ottawa been required to do that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have been.  We have been filing information consistent with the OEB's direction.

I think, though, we haven't -- we have not yet shown anything because we haven't booked anything, we haven't shown anything, that it's been booked.  That is what the specific information that the OEB requests from us.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just to clarify.  I think you filed some RRRs in June.  You just filed zero for that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now, the second thing is there was some discussion about lost revenue as well.  And I think there is an undertaking where you were going to provide some quantification of that.  Do I have that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That wasn't exactly what I interpreted to be the question.  I believe the question from Ms. DeMarco, as I understand it, was to take a look at the change in regulations around the ICI program and to try to give some high-level impact assessment of what we thought that may mean for us in '20 and '21, so I would take that as being different than the lost revenue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's why I'm asking, to make it entirely clear.  Do you have a quantification of what your expectation or forecast would be for lost revenue as a result of the COVID pandemic for the year?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The best thing we have, Mr. Rubenstein, will be filed with the response to the undertaking, I believe to Ms. Girvan with respect to some of the Board material.

As Ms. Collier just said, we did provide them, which is a bit unusual, a Q1 forecast, which did take into account the COVID-19 pandemic impact, and that will be the best analysis and information that we have available.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So in the interim there is nothing -- nothing -- I think you said things are actually getting back to normal a bit quicker than you expected.  Did I understand the inference from some of the discussion?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Things are improving.  I would hate to hazard a back to normal, but certainly things are improving.  It is not deteriorating like it was before, and there is some improvement, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MS. DeMARCO:  Mark, can I just jump in for one sec?  It's Lisa DeMarco --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

MS. DeMARCO:  -- on behalf of DRC.

It just struck me in your answer, Mr. Van Dusen, and Angela, just the causation element, when Mark was speaking, as a function of COVID, if you could define how you are using as a function of COVID; i.e., is it a direct impact of COVID?  Or indirect impact?

For example the regulatory change is notionally a response to COVID.  The specific regulation change in 429.04 is, I would say, a secondary impact.  But how you are using that function and that terminology as a function of COVID would be helpful for us to understand.

MS. COLLIER:  I don't understand the question.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, I am not quite sure I understand the question, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, let me try to be more eloquent.

In relation to what Mark has just asked, specifically assessing the loss pertaining to or resulting from COVID, there are direct losses that you can quantify.  There are also secondary changes, like the question I had asked about Reg 429.04 change which is attributed to a COVID response.

So just let us know how you are using that in your response to the SEC IR, which was elaborated upon by me.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.  So I can tell you that when we do our Q1 forecast, we do it taking a look at all of the factors that are influencing our forecast for the end of the year.

Obviously, the biggest impact this time around is the impact of the pandemic.  To the extent we were aware of other changes that we would needed to build into the Q1 forecast, they were built in.

So it wasn't just a forecast looking at nothing other than just the impact of COVID.  It was taking a look at all elements, although obviously the majority of the major impacts were COVID-related.

MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, Mark, I think I interrupted, but you know where I am going.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  I am not sure if this is the right panel, but this is rate base on this panel.  But you may need to push me to the next panel if it is incorrect.

Have you -- has Hydro Ottawa, does it have a revised 2019 end of year in-service addition forecasts, a more updated version, that has taken into account impacts from Covid or whatnot?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  You said 2019.  Did you mean 2020?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, 2020, time does fly.  Yes, 2020.

MS. COLLIER:  That, I believe, is a question for panel 2, but we believe the majority of our capital will be able to be completed by 2020, with the exception of a few of the general capital projects -- the general plant projects, sorry, not general capital.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, how about I ask for this undertaking and then, because I am actually not -- we don't need to have a discussion amongst ourselves about that.

I am asking for you to provide a revised update of what your expectation is with respect to 2020 year-end in-service additions and provide an explanation.  Then the key thing is also to provide the revised 2020 opening rate base and the revenue requirement impact that would flow from that change.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second.

MR. CASS:  I was just going to say this is the same sort of concern I had before, where there was a question for the next panel and then an undertaking followed from that.

We can certainly make the next panel aware that this is a request and have them ready to either provide the undertaking or explain otherwise.  I am just a little concerned about committing to it now before we have spoken with them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn to 1 SEC 2, attachment 2, page 101?  Sorry, I think I said attachment 2...


MS. COLLIER:  You mean attachment A?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, my apologies.

MS. COLLIER:  Are you referring to the budget memorandum?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, yes.

MS. COLLIER:  I think you are in the right attachment, Natasha.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we're there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You see under productivity, continuous improvement and cost control, it says:

"Productivity, continuous improvement and cost control remain a key corporate priority.  Each program area should consider a focus on cost-effective delivery of outcomes that matter to customers with appropriate pacing and prioritization to control costs and manage risk.  All divisions must show productivity savings in a quantitative and/or qualitative manner and identify continuous initiatives."


So with respect to the productivity savings in a quantitative manner, where would I find this in the evidence?  Is the only place I would see that the table A in response to OEB Staff 47?

MS. COLLIER:  Panel 2 could probably speak to this as well, but I believe there was some quantification in the original productivity exhibit as well.  But I think OEB 47 is the best place to see it all together.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there is no other quantitative information?  It's not in that table?  There is no other quantitative information on the productivity improvements?

MS. COLLIER:  I don't want to say whether that is an absolute, because in some of the material investment programs there may be some quantitative information or in the productivity exhibit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, would you like to take an undertaking to --


MS. COLLIER:  No.  I would like to defer that to Mr. Brown in panel 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Could I ask you to turn to 1 SEC 24, and ask you to go to the response to part -- this is with respect to the Mercer study.

If I could ask you to turn to part C, it provides a table to show what elements of the cash compensation are included and not included in the study.  Do you see that?

MS. COLLIER:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if you could provide, based on the more detailed categories of compensation from the information you provided in OEB Staff 142, that is breaking down executive from management, if you are able to for each of those categories provide for each of the total salary and wages including overtime and incentive pay category which, as I understand the total cash compensation portion of that, of the 2K table, to provide what percentage of that, of each of that amount for each of the categories is included and would be represented in the study and what is not represented in the study.

MS. COLLIER:  So I am not sure I understand the request, but table B, the only two items included in the study are base salary and incentive and that is shown in the third column of table B.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  The issue I am having is I don't actually know what percentage -- so in the 2k table, you have -- as you know, there is a category called total salary wages including overtime and incentive pay, which as I understand is essentially cash compensation.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am trying to understand what percentage of those amounts are base salary and incentives versus all of these other categories.  Sorry, so I know what when we talk about 2K what is in the study, what actual dollars are representative of the study and what are not.

MS. COLLIER:  So the overtime component, which is the only other significant component, we did pull out separately in EP.RF.101.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then I guess I am aware of that.  Does shift differential, on call, responsibility pay and acting pay, is that just an immaterial amount? 

MS. COLLIER:  I would think in relation to -- subject to check, I would think in relation to the total 2K it is immaterial.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can I -- it depends what we say is material.  I am just trying to get a sense of what is in and what is out.


MS. COLLIER:  OEB does define materiality, but...


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So would you provide an undertaking as I set out?  Or...


MS. COLLIER:  I can.  But maybe just explain -- or just dictate your undertaking one more time, please.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  If we take -- if we use OEB Staff 142, which is in a revised version of 2K, which provides sort of a breakout into executive and management, which, I will use this one, because obviously this study does not look at executive pay.  It looks at management. So if we use that.  And for each of the -- for each of the union, management, non-union, if you could provide for the total salary and wage, including overtime and incentive pay totals, what percentage of those amounts in each year are reflective of categories of costs that are included in the Mercer study.


MS. COLLIER:  Okay.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  JT1.26.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.26:  USING OEB STAFF 142, THE BREAKOUT INTO EXECUTIVE AND MANAGEMENT, AND FOR EACH OF THE UNION, MANAGEMENT, NON-UNION, TO PROVIDE FOR THE TOTAL SALARY AND WAGE, INCLUDING OVERTIME AND INCENTIVE PAY TOTALS, WHAT PERCENTAGE OF THOSE AMOUNTS IN EACH YEAR ARE REFLECTIVE OF CATEGORIES OF COSTS THAT ARE INCLUDED IN THE MERCER STUDY.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My next question -- I am not sure if it is for this panel, if you could provide me guidance -- I sent around an Excel spreadsheet earlier on.  Have you had a chance to look at that?


MS. COLLIER:  We did review that.  That is panel 2.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  If I could ask you to turn to BOMA 2.  You were asked in the interrogatory, if you could just scroll up a sec:

"Is the proposal to rate base from conservation and demand management for all class of customers with a focus on commercial customers consistent with the OEB's policy document for electricity CDM?"


In your response, if you go down, is -- go to the response, please -- is essentially, yes.  But can you point to somewhere in those guidelines to support that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you would like to do this by way of undertaking, that's fine.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just to save time I will take an undertaking, and we will provide that by means of an undertaking.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  JT1.27.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.27:  TO PROVIDE A CITATION IN THE GUIDELINES THAT SUPPORTS THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT OR QUESTION IN BOMA 2:  "IS THE PROPOSAL TO RATE BASE FROM CONSERVATION AND DEMAND MANAGEMENT FOR ALL CLASS OF CUSTOMERS WITH A FOCUS ON COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS CONSISTENT WITH THE OEB'S POLICY DOCUMENT FOR ELECTRICITY CDM?"


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And are you aware of any other utilities that include in rates conservation, the funding of conservation measures?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, we are not.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And just to be clear, while the question says rate base, am I understanding that all you have included is actually OM&A costs?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.  There is a small amount of OM&A as described in Exhibit 4-1-6, which describes the program, the program objectives, what we hope to achieve for our customers, why we think it is appropriate to rate base, or include an OM&A amount.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Those are all of my questions that have not been -- that I haven't asked already or haven't been asked or have been deferred to the next panel.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  That leaves us with BOMA and VECC for today.  I would like to take our second ten-minute break just to give people a chance to stand up, and we will be back at 4:26.

--- Recess taken at 4:16 p.m. 
--- On resuming at 4:26 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We are back and we're back with BOMA.
Examination by Mr. Engel:


MR. ENGEL:  Hello, can you hear me?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, we can.  Yes, we can.

MR. ENGEL:  I can't see myself.  Okay, that's fine.  I have five questions.  Firstly, a term that was discussed this morning, dark fibre.  I was just wondering, for just an explanation of what that refers to, dark fibre.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That would best be directed to panel 2, but I mean generically in terms of what dark fibre is, it is telecommunications fibre put in the ground as part of our -- well, we put in a fair bit of it as part of our telecommunications plan that was part of the approval from the 2016-2020 period.  It was put in mainly to service, provide additional service and conductivity between our many distribution stations and the operating centre, as well as it gave us an opportunity to unload some contracts we had with other fibre suppliers.

So it is a communication line.

MR. ENGEL:  Okay, thank you.  Secondly, it's been discussed a few times today; just what is a parametric-type estimate?

MS. COLLIER:  Angela Collier. A parametric type estimate is a high-level estimate, just based on industry standards on cost per square foot for similar types of buildings to what we were planning to build.

MR. ENGEL:  Okay.  BOMA 1-B, if we could turn that up?  That's great.  Right there.

So if you could explain the very last line there that says:  "Therefore, the total bill will not reflect any changes to the electricity rates."

I am just wondering if you can explain what you mean by that.

MS. BARRIE:  April Barrie.  So what we meant there is that we use the OEB model.  And as the OEB model did not update the electricity rates for that period of time and as a result, the changes reflected in table A does not include any change related to the electricity cost to customers.

MR. ENGEL:  Okay, thank you.  If we could turn up VECC 92, part B, page 3 of 3, and that's an answer to BOMA 4A, but...


MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  It is Neal Tejwani.

MR. ENGEL:  Thank you.  Keep scrolling down -- that's good.  Scroll back up.  There.

You state in B at the first paragraph, last sentence.
"Through consultation with the holding companies investment bankers, the impact on credit spread as a result of a potential credit rating downgrade by DBRS from A to A (low) has been estimated to be less than 5 basis points."


Can you undertake to provide any data or studies that you may have to substantiate that estimate?

MR. TEJWANI:  It was through a verbal discussion with the investment bankers in question.  This discussion happened after DBRS published their report at the end of August 2019, where our rating was changed from A with stable trends to A with negative trends.

Therefore, any increase in credit spreads is expected to be priced in to a large extent.

MR. ENGEL:  Sorry.  To be priced into what right now?

MR. TEJWANI:  To the company-specific credit spreads.

MR. ENGEL:  Okay.  My final question, if we could turn up Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 1, pages 5 and 6 of 8.  If you could scroll down a little bit.  Okay, if you could stop there.

Scroll up a little bit.  In the note it says:
"Finally, it should be noted that beginning in 2019, costs associated with providing shared corporate services to affiliates are no longer included in Hydro Ottawa's OM&A."

Can you explain the reason for that?

MS. COLLIER:  Ms. Barrie, do you want to talk about the OEB guidance?

MS. BARRIE:  So this is the reclassification that's been referenced a number of times today, where the OEB provided clarification that not only the revenue side but the expense side of allocations that was going through other revenue should be put in other revenue.

As a result, Hydro Ottawa has reclassified the expense related to the SLAs into other revenue.

MR. ENGEL:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  We are on to VECC, Mr. Garner.

Examination by Mr. Garner (VECC).

MR. GARNER:  Hi, it is Mark Garner.  Sorry, that was so fast I was taken offguard -- okay.

I will try and get through mine quickly, too, because I don't think there are that many.

Could you bring up OEB 86?  This was just, I believe it is there.  It was a table there I would just like to ask you about.

I think it is in 86.  It is table 4-1-1 is what my notes say, yes.  Is there a 2019 number for that table now that it could be updated to?  Table 4.11, or is this the right place?

MS. COLLIER:  What number are we...


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we can probably update this table for 2019, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Maybe I could get an undertaking for that, Mr. Van Dusen.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  JT1.28.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.28:  TO UPDATE THE TABLE IN OEB 86 WITH 2019 FIGURES 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I shouldn't dwell on this, but it is really an item for panel 2, but I mean...


MR. GARNER:  I thought it might be.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's straightforward enough to update.

MR. GARNER:  It is on my notes from things I picked up today.  Well, actually the best place to go to this is probably Pollution Probe 14.  It is really VECC 12, but it is really about the ESM calculation, but I think Pollution Probe 14 gives a nice little table where they asked you to show the difference between the two ESM calculations in there.

And the difference being the cumulative nature of this ESM as opposed to the one you had in your last rate plan.  We asked you some questions at VECC 12 about it, but I was still unclear when I read this.  Here is the best way I think for me to put the question.

If I recall correctly, in the last rate plan period, you had 2 years in which you over-earned and you made ESM shares, is that right?

MS. COLLIER:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So let's say that happened again exactly the same way in this new plan, with this new ESM.  Would the results be exactly the same for the payments to customers, or would there be a difference, if all the data were the same for the same period?

MS. COLLIER:  The resulting payment to the customers is likely to be different.

MR. GARNER:  And when I say that, I mean it will be at a different time because it would be cumulative.  But you're saying it would be a different amount.

Could you explain why?  How is it calculated differently under the cumulative methodology versus the old annual methodology?

And again Ms. Barrie, just pretend we're using the last 5-year period data and you were just, you know, doing the same thing.  How would it be different?

MS. BARRIE:  It would be different because of years where Hydro Ottawa under-earned.  It would result in those amounts being on a cumulative basis.  Therefore, they would net, and any sharings would occur, taking into consideration years of under-earning.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's what I thought, but I wasn't quite clear about that.

So in essence, the way it works is under-earnings are also booked in, and they're netted out against overearnings, and at the end of the period, whatever those -- however those two net out together is what happens.  If it's more than, there's a payment out.  If there is less, then there is nothing to be paid, right?

MS. BARRIE:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

Now, the next thing I want to talk about is the -- well, I think it is the debt rates that I might want to go to.  I am not sure I have the IRs out here, but maybe just the easiest way while I am looking for them is to ask this, is, the way I understand it is that the holding company is issuing corporate bonds, and then it allocates a certain amount of that, what it gets in corporate bonds, it allocates that to the three -- is it three companies, Energy Ottawa, Envari and then the distribution company?  Is that the way it works?

MR. TEJWANI:  Neal Tejwani here.  In the case of project-specific financing, which has been undertaken for the hydroelectric projects which are under Energy Ottawa, the financing is secured by the project assets and is non-recourse to the holding company.

With respect to Hydro Ottawa, if an external bond issuance is executed, the last one having been done in 2015, the debt is mirrored down to Hydro Ottawa at the same cost and terms, with the issuance cost being amortized over a five-year basis.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So are there -- is any of the debt that is issued by the holding company also being allocated to Envari -- just so we're clear, Energy Ottawa is the affiliate that does distribution -- sorry, generation; is that correct?

MR. TEJWANI:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  And Envari is the affiliate that does things like streetlighting and some ancillary, I call it quasi-distribution-related type of activities?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  Energy services.  Currently there is no long-term debt associated with Envari.  The operations are still growing.

MR. GARNER:  So the debt being raised is either being raised for the power generation arm or the distribution arm of the utility -- of the holding company?

MR. TEJWANI:  I would agree with that statement.

MR. GARNER:  And we asked the question -- I'm sorry, I don't have the reference, but I'm sure you'll know this.  We asked a question about the debts being callable.

And I think the answer -- and why wouldn't you call them if the rates were lower.  And I think the answer you gave was, well, if we did call them we would be on the hook basically for paying out the difference in the interest -- in interest rates, so to speak, to retire that debt and issue new debt.  Do you recall that?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  I believe the interrogatory response is VECC 97.

MR. GARNER:  It could be.  And can you point to me where in the agreements it has that where there is a penalty -- just so I am clear, the penalty is you have to pay the remaining interest in full for the debt period?  Or just 'til you basically do the cash-out of what you have?  Do you know what I mean?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  I think I understand.  So first I will refer you to the section in the promissory notes.

MR. GARNER:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. TEJWANI:  So for example, if you look at Exhibit 5, tab 1, Schedule 1, attachment E, section 4(b), it says:

"If Hydro Ottawa chooses to repay or is required to repay in whole or in part the principal amount, they would need to repay subject to the redemption price as defined in the series 2015-1 supplemental indenture."

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And help me in layman's terms what that means?

MR. TEJWANI:  So in the supplemental indenture there is what they call a make-whole provision or in Canada a Canada call provision, and it is to indemnify the bond holders, should the issuer choose to call debt before maturity for the lost interest rate spread.  So it is to discourage the issuer from calling the bonds.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. TEJWANI:  And essentially compensates the holder of the bond for the early call, such that they can reinvest those proceeds in another like investment.

MR. GARNER:  And then therefore leaving yourself indifferent to doing it because in essence you would have to pay out the -- or not indifferent, but of no benefit to you to try and retire that debt and get lower cost debt, because you would in essence have to pay out the difference in any event?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  We would have a loss on redemption.

MR. GARNER:  Do you have any debt -- I can't recall.  I was just trying to look while we were doing the last thing.  Do you have any -- is there any debt being issued during the forecast or to be issued during this rate plan?

MR. TEJWANI:  Yes.  There are two tranches of borrowing.  One, $80 million in the year 2021 and a second tranche of approximately $60 million in 2023.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Okay, thank you.

Okay, thank you.  I am going to change gears completely and I think go to VECC 39.  And VECC 39 begins with, I think -- I want to talk about the facilities.  And you have them here, but just if you can scroll down VECC 39.  We are going to look at some pictures.  Maybe as we look at them, you could just take a look and tell me.

I am looking in this picture at what facility?  Do you recall this one?  Is this Albion or --


MS. COLLIER:  This is attachment A.  This is Bank Street.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So this is the one you are retaining.  Is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  This is the one we are retaining, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So if we just look at the picture for a minute.  Is the entire -- the red part marked out there, that is all being retained?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  So there is no partial sale?  And I can't recall where I asked in this IR, but I think this picture illustrates it quite well.  This building looks quite large compared to what appears to be the number of people in it.

And I think you gave an IR response where there is like 27 people in this building.  Do you recall that?

MS. COLLIER:  I do.

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  So it looks to me like this building was built at one time to -- based on the parking lot, to have a lot more than 27 people.  Is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  All of our former facilities, including the Bank Street facilities, were a result of the previous utility's prior two amalgamations.

So, yes, it would have been designed and built in an era to accommodate more people.

MR. GARNER:  Sure, fair enough.  So this is a building you inherited from one of the -- like, Nepean or other acquisitions that happened; is that correct?

MS. COLLIER:  It would have been the Gloucester utility.

MR. GARNER:  Gloucester?  Okay.

So do you know -- and I remember in your interrogatory response you said there were 27 people and that before this 27 people in it now, after.  Do you know the capacity of that building when it was at full capacity?

MS. COLLIER:  In the Gloucester utility days?

MR. GARNER:  Well, maybe I should put it this way.  Have you, ever since Hydro Ottawa has acquired that building, have you always only had 27 people in that building?

MS. COLLIER:  So since amalgamation, there -- I mean, it fluctuates from time to time.  That building is used for training.  It is used for projects and whatnot.

So at any given point there is a different number of people in that building.  There might be a corporate training event and there is 100 people in the building.

We also have an Algonquin -- a joint training program, which is why you see the back kind of yard area which is where we teach apprentices how to climb poles and do all sorts of things, and that is what that backyard is used for.

I don't know, in terms of upon amalgamation, how many employees from Gloucester Hydro would have been hosted in that facility.

MR. GARNER:  Well, maybe I will put it this way.  Ms. Collier, I don't know how long you have been with the utility, but in your experience it's always had basically 27 people roughly permanently...


MS. COLLIER:  In terms of permanent, yes, it's been in this range.

MR. GARNER:  Do you have any idea of what the building's capacity was actually made for?  It's not this building, I take it?  If I look at it, at least part of it is an office building?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.  It is an office building and our fleet -- our fleet repair garage.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And do you have any idea of the capacity of the building for the office space in that bulling?

MS. COLLIER:  So I'll -- so there's two IRs that talks about facility space at Bank Street.  Just give me a second.

MR. GARNER:  I think it might give square footage.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  I just want to give you an idea.  So the total -- sorry.  So the total square footage of our Bank Street facility which is responded to in interrogatory SEC 30, part D, is approximately 56,000 square feet.

Then in response to your interrogatory, VECC 39b, the office square footage is almost 13,000 square feet.

The other components include the fleet repair garage at approximately 20,000 square feet.

And then we have some corporate training space and the Algonquin training space, Algonquin.

MR. GARNER:  I was actually trying to get a handle on how many people basically that office building fits.  I mean, it was originally designed to fit -- I guess you could determine that from square footage into something.  I was hoping you could be able to tell me at one time that building had and had offices for sixty people or eighty people, whatever it was.

MS. COLLIER:  I don't have that off the top of my head.  That may be in the 2012 application.

MR. GARNER:  Well, before we go there, because I don't want you to do work if it's not necessary, let me go back to why this building is still in your possession because it wasn't supposed to be under your first plan, right.

Your original plan was to sell off this building and move it to -- move all of your facilities to the two campuses, correct?

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.  In the original plan, that was the plan.

What happened was that when we submitted our application in April of 2015, we had included that high level parametric estimate that we talked about earlier today of 92.3 million.

When we received our class C estimate from the quantity surveyor, the number based on the pre-designed plans at the time was in excess of 120 million.

So our executive and board team was not comfortable with those -- that number, and had requested that we go back and revisit the design and the size, and what could we do to bring the total cost of the project down.

So one of the items that was heavily discussed was the fleet repair garage.  One, it was costly to build just because of the height needed to do the dielectric testing of the large bucket trucks and the height you would need in a fleet garage and the pre-fab buildings, you know, would not be possible because of that.

The second factor was really that this fleet repair garage at Bank Street that we're looking at was really not end of life.  It was in still very good condition on the garage side.

So that was the main reason for the change in the decision to retain that.

When we made that decision, then because we already had our training program largely run out of this facility, it was decided then to also cut the training from the new east campus plans.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And that would have cut just -- so I understand, the first thing was that you wanted to keep the garage.  And is this a repair garage?  Or just is this a parking place?  Are the 27 people at Bank Street people who service vehicles?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  These are mechanics at the garage.

MR. GARNER:  Mechanics and other people who service it.

You wanted to keep your garage mechanic operation out of Bank Street.

And the second thing is, the extra room in the one of the two campuses got prohibitive for training, so you just moved the training space over to this place?

MS. COLLIER:  So first of all, I just want to clarify.  The 27 people are not all mechanics.

The 27 people are both our fleet mechanics and fleet staff, but also anyone involved in our training program, both our apprentices training program as well as our corporate training program.

And as I said, when the decision was decided we weren't going to build a new fleet repair garage and we were going to keep the existing garage at Bank Street, that's when we looked at the training side since it was already being run out of this same facility, and decided to also cut that to reduce the overall budget envelope.

MR. GARNER:  Is there somewhere in your evidence that has a cost that was given to you when you were doing the two new facilities as to what the garage was going to cost?  Did you have that in evidence someplace?

I mean, if you do you can refer me to it tomorrow and if not, then we can talk about an undertaking.  I don't want to take up time.

MS. COLLIER:  I can hopefully get to it pretty quickly.  So it is interrogatory response BOMA 5, where we talk about bringing that estimate from $124.7 million back down to the 9.5.

Then there is a table on page 2 of that interrogatory, table A, and then the second part of that table indicates retained current functionality at Bank Street of 9.5 million.  So that is a combination of both not building the fleet repair garage and not doing the training.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  Now just going down one photo, just to the next photo, which I think -- that's the same facility.

MS. COLLIER:  That's the same.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, it is the one after that.  The one after that photo is, we're on the same place.  There should be -- I think it is VECC 40.  Are you at VECC 40?  Go to VECC 40 instead.  Sorry.  I guess they're in two separate things.

And now below that one.  Just go below there.  Now, this one, stop here.

This is Albion, is this the Albion site?

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  So I got confused a little bit and maybe just quickly you can clarify.  There is Albion A, B and C.

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  What am I looking at here?  Albion A and B, or how do I do this?

MS. COLLIER:  The part in red is A and at the back end of the picture, you can start to see part B.  But I think we have separate -- maybe we just have photos of parcel A and parcel C, I think was the request.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So this is parcel A, and it includes the parking lots and buildings.

MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  And it was sold.

MS. COLLIER:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Then the C, which is the one that is two down, that has got the station on it.  It's called Albion.  It must be close, but it's not -- it is the street across from it or something.  Am I right the way it works?

MS. COLLIER:  So Albion B has the station on it.  So that's the part to the bottom left of the picture.

Albion C is almost where the word "subject" is written --


MR. GARNER:  I got it.

MS. COLLIER:  -- which is basically a pole yard and it is all one property, one kind of rectangular property.  But there is a separate access off of Heatherington, like a different road to Albion.

MR. GARNER:  Now, I want to talk about the two campuses, the new campuses.

And again rather than give an IR, I will just ask that because it will be faster.

One of the cost -- one of the things you wanted to do was, you talk about doing this leads gold standard for the new building.

At some point there is a question about why do you have the solar farm sitting on -- I can't remember which of the two it is, but one of the two new sites.  Why do you have the solar farm.

You say, well, the solar farm is part of achieving the leads gold standard.  Do you recall that?

MS. COLLIER:  I do.  We have solar -- we have solar facilities behind the meter, solar facilities at both sites.

MR. GARNER:  Was there -- and it may be in the evidence, and just tell me if it is.  I can find it -- was there a business case done for these solar farms that were done on the two campuses?

MS. COLLIER:  There's not a business case document that I can produce.  Obviously, there was some analysis done on the cost of the solar equipment and the resulting utility savings and payback period-type analysis that was done.

So -- and this was partially -- because of the decision to retain Bank Street and not build the fleet repair garage or the training centre, there was land on which we could put solar facilities.

MR. GARNER:  And did the affiliates, Envari, did they have anything to do with building those two solar facilities?

MS. COLLIER:  So our affiliate Envari does not have anything to do with building the solar facilities.  However, our generation affiliate, which is Energy Ottawa or Portage Power, does have a number of solar facilities.

These are Hydro Ottawa-owned.  We did use the expertise of Energy Ottawa in helping us build these facilities.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And is there a place in here -- and again, I apologize if there is -- where you outline the incremental costs that you incurred in order to meet the LEED gold standard, including the solar farms that were built?  Did you separate that out as a, you know, here's the cost to meet that, those requirements?

MS. COLLIER:  So there are many attributes to our building that contribute to the LEED gold standard.  We have bike storage.  We have a rainwater system.  We have lighting and no offices on the exterior of the building so that light hits the interior.

There are -- you know, there's a point system with respect to getting any sort of LEED accreditation rating, and it looks at manY-factors.  Solar is not just one of them.

So what we found in going to RFP, you know, this is becoming common -- more common practice and is very much kind of built into the price.

So I don't have a number from the RFP that, this is how much it costs for the LEED premium.

In terms of moving the two operation centre, which I think is what you're remembering in the evidence, originally we had designed the administrative building to a LEED gold standard, but the thought was that we would have our two operation -- operational facilities -- meaning EC2 and south campus -- at a LEED silver, but it was determined that we could get those also at a LEED gold standard for no additional cost with our contractor.

MR. GARNER:  Certainly as you said, the solar farm -- you guys have said the solar farm was part of that.

I am just curious then, when you did your customer engagement -- I am not sure if this is the right panel -- when you did your customer engagement, did you ask your customers whether they would like to pay for a gold LEED standard and what that would incur?  Did you get customer feedback on that in your customer engagement before you went and did it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So this is Greg Van Dusen.  That is a matter for panel 2, but we did not specifically ask that question, in terms of the customer engagement.

MR. GARNER:  It is five o'clock, and you guys are probably way more tired than I am.  So I am going to leave it there.  And thank you, panel.  Thank you, Greg.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks very much.  Sorry, thanks very much, everyone who participated today.  We are going to close the session for the day.  Just --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Jamie, before we sign off --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- sorry, just raise an issue.  I had a question for Hydro Ottawa.  As I am preparing for tomorrow, the attachment to interrogatory 34A, which is an Excel spreadsheet, does not appear to have been filed.  So I was wondering if Hydro Ottawa could at least circulate it to the parties this evening.

MS. BARRIE:  Which interrogatory are you referring to, Mr. --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  34A.  It's for the --


MS. BARRIE:  34?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- next panel.  Yeah, SEC 34A.

MS. BARRIE:  Oh, the attachment is not on our system, so, yes.  We will file it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  I don't think we will need an undertaking for that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So just two -- well, three notes, actually.  First thing is we will be starting again at nine o'clock tomorrow morning.  Second, carrying over on panel 1 will be Lisa DeMarco for DRC.

Just before -- just before Lisa starts, though, I understand that Mr. Engel just has one follow-up question for panel 1, just flowing from his earlier questions, one that he missed, so I am going to let him go ahead before you start, Lisa, if that is okay.

MS. DeMARCO:  That is not an issue at all.  There were a couple of things that came out in the back-and-forth, so I'm going to go through tonight and hopefully try and get down to about ten or 15 minutes max.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's great.  And then we will move right into panel 2.

So thanks, everybody, and we will see you at nine o'clock tomorrow.  And the room will be open -- I am not quite sure, I expect around 8:30 tomorrow for people to start signing in.  Yeah, have a good night --


MS. DeMARCO:  Jamie, I am just --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Oh, yeah?

MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, can we just do a quick check in on format in terms of the two small breaks and the shorter lunch?  Is that working for the panel?  Or should we shift it up?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Greg?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We will need a short period of time to do some cleaning in the room before panel 2.  So otherwise, we like the breaks, the two morning breaks, the two afternoon breaks.  We like the lunch hour.  We just will need a very short period of time to have cleaners come in while the panellists change.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure, that will be fine.  You will have the time you need for that.

And Lillian Ing advises me that the doors will be open at eight o'clock tomorrow morning, so we will be happy to see you then.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  All right.  Have a good night, everyone.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Good night.

MR. ENGEL:  Good night.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:06 p.m.
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